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About Rayonier

|
|
'
|
|

Founded in 1926, Rayonier is a leading international forest products company with three core
bus’linesses: Timber, Real Estate and Performance Fibers. '

|
We\own, lease or manage nearly 2.7 million acres of timber and land in the U.S., New Zealand and -
|

Australia. The company's holdings include 200,000 acres of real estate with residential and commercial
development, potential in the rapidly growing coastal counties along the Interstate 95 corridor between
Savlannah, G'eorgia, and Daytona Beach, Florida. Our PerformancejFibers business is the world’s
Iead‘ing produzcer of high-value specialty cellulose fibers. Approximately 40 percent of Rayonier's sales
are outside the U.S. to customers in 50 countries. The company is Structured as a Real Estate

Investment Trust (REIT). As a timber REIT, the taxable pdr’[ion of ourjdividend is treated as a long-
term| capital gain.




To Our Shareholders

Once again, we had a very good
year with strong earnings and
cash flow as well as improved
results from each of our three core
businesses. We expect 2007 to

be ancther strong year.
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From the Chairman:

On March 1, 2007, Lee Thomas succeeded me as President
and CEC, and will also assume the Chairman's role when

| retire from the Board June 30, 2007. As the President

and COO of Georgia-Pacific until its acquisition by Koch
Industries in December 2005, and as the former
Administrator of the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency,
Lee has a wealth of high-level management experience.

We ware delighted when he joined our Board in June 2006
and even more pleased when he agreed to lead Rayonier.

Since 2006 was on my watch, let me review highlights of
the year and the strategies we implemented to help position
the company for the future. Lee Thomas will follow with a
few thoughts.

Rayonier prides itself on producing consistently strong
earnings and cash flow, ana 2006 was no exception. Once
again, we had a very good year, with improved results

from each of our three core businesses — Timber, Real Estate
and Performance Fibers, We also tock steps to further
strengthen our company:

* In Timber, we increased our geographic footprint with the
purchase of 230,000 acres in six states and are now the 5th
largest private timberland holder in the U.S.

* In Real Estate, as part of our strategy to continue moving
up the value chain, we entered into our first “participa-
tion” arrangsments with two premier regional developers in
Northeast Florida.
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. In1 Performance Fibers, capitalizing on continued very
strc;ng markets for our technically superior, high-value
specialty cellulose fibers, we secured contracts into 2011 for
app'rbximately 2 million tons worth more than $2 billion.

Operations Overview

Net income was $1.99 per share compared to $1.57 in
2005 (excluding special items). Cash provided by operating
activities of $307 million was $53 million above that of
2005 due to higher operating income and reduced working
capital. Cash Available for Distribution (CAD) increased $9
million to $178 million, easity covering our 2006 dividend
payout of $144 million, or 81 percent of CAD. Our timber-
land acquisitions increased debt $100 million to $659 million
andiour debt-ic-capital ratio to 41.8 percent from 38.5
percent.

The lone negative in our operating results was Wood Prod-
ucts which, after several strong vears, suffered a small loss
due to extremely poor markets.

)
Strength and Balance

Qur consistently strong earnings and cash flow are driven
by the mix of our core businesses. Each profit center

has unique features which provide strength, economic
stability and balance to our financial performance.

As examples, with 2.7 milion acres owned or under
managemenit in the U.S. South, Northwast, New York, New
Zealand and Australia, our Timber business operates in
geographically and economically diverse markets. Despite a
national slowdown in housing, our Real Estate business
continues to benefit from the sheer volume, quality and

location of Eour properties in markets that are more stable
than most.'And, our Performance Fibers business has
always benleﬁted from its position as the world's leading
supplier to the stable high-margin niche market for specialty
cellulose fibers.

Timber

By adding high-quality properties in 2006 to our tax-efficient
REIT structlure, we expanded our geographic diversity and
harvest flexibility and increased cash flow. All of our timber
holdings are carefully managed to ensure sustainability and
improve pe:’-acre vields. Last year, our Georgia nursery cel-
ebrated its 50th anniversary and the production of nearly 1
billion tree seedlings. Fifty years ago, our forests yielded 2.5
tons of fiber per acre/year. Thanks to advances in forestry
and genetics, seedlings planted today will produce 6 tons
per acre/year.

In New Zealand, we partially monetized our timber
investment by reducing our ownership in a 351,000-acre
joint venture',: from 49.7 percent to 40 percent, realizing
$22 millicn in net cash proceeds. However, we continue to
be the principal owner and manage the timberland.

While we w'ill continue to opportunistically pursue timber-
land, our nf?ar-term focus is on assimilating the: acreage we
acquired in 2006.

Real Estate

Cur timber purchases last year also provided significant
“Iike-kind-egcchange" benefits that enabled us to tax-
efficiently build our real estate subsidiary with properties
that have blecome more vatuable for development than for

|
|
|
i
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Operating

Earnings per Share from Adjusted
Income* Continuing Operations EBITDA
]
| T2z s268 353 3370
. $183° $2.19 $307 830 A |
73 $2.09
. : s $265
$106

i $0B85 s082

i
2002 2003 2004 2005I 2006

|
{dollars En millions}

2002 2003 2004 2005 2006

H {dodlars per share)
i
Continued strong dernznd and EPS decreasad 18 percent due primarily
higher prices in all our core | to the absenca of the gain on sale of

husinesses transtated into sh;[x]g

aperating resutts.

New Zealand timberiands and income
tax benefits realized in 2005.

il
* Excludes gains on sale of New Zealand
umwmtsinzoosmzqoa

i

2002 2003 2004 2005 2006
{dollars in milfions)

Adjusted EBITDA has risen steadily
since 2003. This non-GAAP measure
is defined and reconciled on pages
18and 19.




growing timber. With approximately 200,000 acres in the
high-growth coastal counties between Savannah, Georgia,
and Daytona Beach, Florida, we do not believe any other
private landowner in the region has our quantity and quality
of higher-value properties.

As noted earlier, in 2006 we entered into our first “participa-
tion" agreements with premier regional devélopers on two
projecis in Northeast Florida. These transactions not only
provided immediate revenues, bui enable us to participate in
future proceeds from sales of building lots and homes.

Cur strategy is to increase our participation in these types of
arrangements o further improve shareholder value and the
predictability of our earnings.

Performance Fibers

Markets in 2006 continued to be robust, particularty for
our high-value, technically demanding Celiulose Special-
ties grades, providing strong earnings and cash flow. This
demand, along with our highly regarded customer support
services, enabled us to obtain unprecedented long-term
contracts into 2011 with the world’s largest producers

of acetate-based products and other key customers for 80
percent of that production. These agreements represent
approximately 2 milion metric tons and more than $2
billion in revenues.

In 2008, Cellulose Specialties accounted for 74 percent of
Performance Fibers revenues, while sales volume rose to 64
percent, up from 55 percent in 2000. Our focus is on
further enhancing product mix through innovative process
improvements and aggressively driving down costs. Since

2004, for example, employees at our twe mills have
identified and completed 59 separate projects with annual
savings exceeding $50 million.

Looking Ahead

We expect 2007 10 be another strong year. While the
housing slowdown has put near-term pressure on real
estate markets and to some extent on timber, the impact
should be offset by the strength of our Performance Fibers
business - once again demonstrating the balance our core
businesses provide.

On a personal note, after 40 years with Rayonier, it is hard
for me to realize that the company soon will no longer be
part of my daily routine — although | will remain a very inter-
ested shareholder. It has been my privilege to have served
as Prasident since 1996 and as Chairman, President and
CEG since 1999. Whife | am very proud of Rayonier's
performance during my leadershio years, | know that our
success is due to a culture of quality and excellence that
dates to our founding in 1926 and to a team of creative
and committed employees who embrace that culture. | am
confident this combination of company culture and talented
employees will ensure a searmless transition to Lee
Thomas and that under his guidance Rayonier will continue
to consistently deliver superior returns to shareholders.

O

W. L. Nutter
Chairman
March 15, 2007

Gash Available for Relurn Regular
Distribution per Share on Equity Dividend
$265 a7 24.5% $144
i 82 $2m 2.1% [ si9 ]
M M 189% $111
$1.46 [ | [ |
7.6% 7.5% o [

2002 2003 2004 2005 2006

(doltars per share) (percent)
Cash avaitable for distribution remained
robust, reflecting strong operating resutts.
This non-GAAP measure is defined and
reconciled on pages 18 and 19.

2002 2003 2004 2005 2006

Return on equity continues to be
we!l above the industry average.

2002 2003 2004 2005 2006
{doltars in millions)
Dividends increased $15 milfion due to a

10 perzent rise in the annual per share
dividend to $1.88, up from $1.71 in 2005.

2004 was our first year as a REIT.




From the President and CEO:

Wheln | was invit?d to join Rayonier's Board of Directors in
Junc? 20086, | enthusiastically accepted because | was
familiar with Rayonier's long-held reputation as one

of the top-perfor:ming companies in the forest products ‘
industry. .

Since joining the! Board, my admiration for Rayenier has only
grov?m. | have had the opportunity to review the company's
strategic plans, \:/isit operations, and interact with many

. of our highly projessional and dedicated employees. | am
impressed with i;—?ayonier's resulis-driven culiure developed
over its 80-year r\istory. its innovative timber REIT structure
andstrategic focus on three strong core businesses. The
company's record of success is a real tribute to Lee Nutter

and ;the entire Rayonier team.
|
i
What | have learned about Rayonier in my short time

withs the compar:wy gives me great confidence in the future.
I am truly honored and excited to have been given the
opportunity to 1elad a company so highly regarded by its
investors and peers in the forest products and REIT
industries and w?hich has so rmuch potential.

|
I
ﬁ\ m\ﬁ'\u—w
Lee M. Thomas

Prelsident and Chief Executive Officer
March 15, 2007’;

| am truly honored and excited

to have been given the opportunity
to lead a company so highly
regarded by its investors and
peers in the forest products and
REIT industries and which has

s0 much potential.
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After acquiring 230,000 acres in 2006, Rayonier is now the 5th largest
timberiand owner in the U.S with approximately 2.2 million acres

in nine states.

Timber

The foundation of Rayonier is our exiensive 2.2 million acres in nine states. In addition to

timber holdings. To maximize returns, we increasing our geographic footprint and market
manage our timberlands as a standalone profit diversity, these acquisitions provided significant
center, selling harvestable timber at auction. like-kind-exchange tax benefits allowing us to
This business model, supported by an intensive tax-efficiently stock our real estate subsidiary

' research and forest management program to with properties that have become rnore valuable
continually increase per-acre yields, results in for development than for growing timber.

consistently strong cash flow and earnings. As

a REIT, the income from timber sales is not taxed
at the corporate level, enabling us to distribute
larger dividends to shareholders.

We will continue to pursue growth opportunities
prugently. Qur near-term focus is on integrating
intc our operations the high-quality timberlands
we purchased last year.

In 2006, to grow this business, we purchased
230,000 acres in six staies and are now the 5th
largest U.S. timberland owner with approximately
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Rayonier owns 200,000 acres of high-value properties in the rapidly

developing coastal counties along the Interstate 95 corridor between

Savannah, Georgia, and Daytona Beach, Florida.

Real Estate

Changing demographics, particularly in the
Southeast U.S., continue to make thousands of
acres of Rayonier’s extensive timberlang far

more valuable for residential and commercial
development, recreation, conservation or for public
infrastructure than for growing timber. In fact, we
have a remarkable 200,000 acres in the rapidly
growing coastal counties along the Interstate 95
corridor between Savannzh, Gecrgia, and
Daytona Beach, Florida. These high-value
properties are increasingly in demand by develop-
ers, conservation groups and public agencies.

Our real estate subsidiary, TerraPointe, is focused
on'acquiring these well-located parcels and

) S Y e
T T
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adding further value through property entitlements
or partnaring with premier developers. In

2006, as part of our strategy to move up the
real estate value chain, we entered into our first
partnerships with two highly regarded regional
developers. In addition to receiving partial
payment for our property at ¢losing, we also
have the opportunity to share in future revenues
from home and lot sales. Going forward, we
expect to aggressively pursue similar
arrangements, as they not only unlock value
and enhance shareholder returns, but also
provide greater earnings stability.




As part of our strategy to
move up the real estate
valug chain and maximize
shareholder returns, we
intend to enter into additional
partnerships with premier
regional developers,
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In 2006, we secured long-term contracts into 2011 for 80 percent of

our most valuable production, specialty cellulose fibers, representing

approximately 2 million tons and more than $2 billion in revenue.

Performance Fibers

As the world’s leading supplier of high-value,
technically demanding specialty cellulose fibers,
our Performance Fibers segment provides strong
cash flow and stability of earnings enjoyed by
few others in our industry. Due to very strong
demand, last year we secured long-term
contracts into 2011 for approximately 80 percent
of our premium Celiulose Specialties production,
representing nearly 2 million metric tons and
more than $2 hillion in revenues.

We continue to focus on process efficiencies to
expand prodguction of our highest value products.
Since 2000, we have creatively and cost-

effectively increased Cellulose Specialties produc-

tion by 85,000 tons, or 22 percent, and these
products now account for 64 percent of
Performance Fibers volume and 74 percent of
sales. We alsc continue to target our capitél
expenditures on high-return cost-reduction
opportunities, At year-end our Fernandina (FL)
mill brought online a $29 million environmentally
friendly boiler that uses biomass instead of fossil
fuels, This project eliminates the use of
approximately 200,000 barrels of oil per year and
reduces overall costs by $13 million annually.
Since 2004, teams of employees at our two mills
have implemented 59 separate projects that
provide annual savings of $50 milion.

12




UUT sPEAILY CENUIOSE NDErS

are used by customers in

ately 50 countries

- 0 make LCD screens for

$ and compuiers,

aceuticals, paints,

- oS! tjcs. tektiles, cigarette




e




|

Timber

Rayonier owns, leases or manages nearly 2.7 million
acres in the U.S., New Zealand and Australia.

We grow and sell timber for use in a wide variety of
markets, including pulp, paper, fumber and other
wood products. Included in the total are long-term
agreements to provide forest management and
marketing services to timber cwners of 114,000 acres
in Australia and New Zealand.

]
Location
Southern U.S.

Holdings

1,693,000 acres of
Southern pine and
hardwood

370,000 acres of Western
hemtock and Douglas fir
75,000 acres of hardwood
351,000 acres of primarily
radiata pine

Northwest U.S.

Il\lew York
New Zealand”

i Fllayonier has a 40 percent equity interest in this
chJint venture and manages the timberlands.

|
Real Estate '
I

Some of our timberlands in the Southeast U.S.

have become much mare valuable for development,
recreation or conservation than for timber production,
especially along the rapidly growing coastal corridor
between Savannah, Georgia, and Daytona Beach,
Florida, where we own 200,000 acres. Qur real estate

sllubsidiary, TerraPoinie LLC, is focused on acquiting
a|dditional blocks of Rayonier timberland ang
rrlmaximizing tha value of these properties through
entitlements, infrastructure additions and joint
development opportunities.
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Performance ' We manufacture high-value Performance Fibers for Milis Capacity
Fibers I customers around the waorld. Rayonier is the Jes|up. GA 590,000 Metric Tons
. leading manufacturer of cellulose specialty fibers used Fernandina 150,000 Metric Tons
\ in progducts such as textiles, digital display screens, Beach, FL
l cigarette filters, paints, impact-resistant plastics, film,
! pharmaceuticals, cosmetics and food products.
l Our absorbent material fibers are used in a wide
variety of disposables such as diapers, feminine care
I ! and incontinence products.
i
| 1 i -
Other, Wood We produce and sell lumber products Lumber Mills Capacity
Businesses ‘Products 10 domestic and export markets. Bax!ey, GA 180 Million Board Feet
| i Swainsboro, GA 120 Million Board Feet
1 Eatonton, GA 90 Million Board Feet
|
Trading

Rayonier is a trader of softwood logs, with particular
expertise in Pacific Rim markets,

Areqs of sourcing are North America, New Zealand,
Aust‘ralia and Chile.

42% U.5./Canada
53% 64% 25% Europe
Northwast U.S. Development
4% 33% 12% Japen
Southeast 11.S. Rural 10% China
4% I% 5% Other Asia
New Zealand Other 4% Latin America
1% Other
! . Timber Real Estate Performance
Revenues Revenues Fibers Sales
| by Destination
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Board of Directors

C. David Brm:wn, 1,59, is
Chairman of the Florida law firm
Broad and Cassel. He joined
Broad and Cassel in 1980 and
has been Chairman since 2000.
Mr. Brown is on the Board of
Directors of Caremark Rx, Inc.
and is also a member of the
University of Florida Board of
Trustees. Heis a graduate of
the University of Florida and the
University of Florida College

of Law,

Ronald M. Gross, 73, is
Chairman Emeritus and former
Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer. He joined Rayonier in
1978 as President and Chief
Operating Cfficer and a director
and was elected Chief Executive
Officer in 1981 and Chairman in
1984, Upon his retirement, he
wasg named Chairman Emeritus.
Mr. Gross is a graduate of Ohio
State University and the Harvard
University Graduate School of
Business Administration.

James H. Hance, Jr., 62, is
the retired Vice Chairman and
director of Bank of America
Corporation, where he served as
the Chief Financial Officer until
2004. He is a member of the
Boards of Directors of Cousins
Properties Incorporated,

Sprint Nextel Corporation and
Duke Energy Corporation.

He is a graduate of Westminster
College and the Washington
University Graduate School of
Business.

Richard D. Kincaid, 45, is
the former President, Chief
Executive Officer and a trustee
of Equity Office Properties Trust,
the nation’s largest real estate
investment trust. Previously,

Mr. Kincaid was Senior Vice
President cf Finance for Equity
Group Investments, tnc. and
alsc held positions with Barclays
Bank PLC and The First National
Bank of Chicago. Mr. Kincaid
serves as a director of vail
Resorts, Inc. He is a graduate

of Wichita State University and
the University of Texas Graduate
School of Business.

Paul G. Kirk, Jr., 69, is
affiliated with the law firm of
Sullivan & Worcester. Mr. Kirk

is Chairman, President and a
director of Kirk & Associates,
Inc. and Chairman of the Board
of Directors of the John F.
Kennedy Library Foundation.

He served as Chairman of the
Dernocratic National Committee
from 1985 to 1888. Mr. Kirk aiso
serves as Co-Chairman of the
Commission cn Presidential
Debates and is a director

of The Hartford Financial
Services Group, Inc., and Cedar
Shopping Canters, c. Heis a
graduate of Harvard College and
Harvard Law School.

Thomas I. Morgan, 53, is
the retired President and Chief
Executive Officer of Hughes
Supply, Inc., a diversified
wholesale distributor of
construction and industrial
materials. He joined Mughes
in 2001 as President and
Chief Operating Officer and
was appointed Prasident

and Chief Executive Officer

in 2003. Previously, Mr.
Morgan was Chief Executive
Officer of EnfoTrust Network,
Value America and US Office
Products. He serves as a
director of (TT Educational
Services, Inc., Waste
Management, Inc. and Tech
Data Corporation. Mr. Morgan
is a graduate of the University of
Tennessee.

Corporate Officers

W. Lee Nutter, 63
Chairman {39)

Lee M. Thomas, 62
President and Chief
Executive Officer {*)

Paul G. Boynton, 42
Senior Vice President,
Perfermance Fibers (8)

16

Timothy H. Brannon, 59
Senior Vice President,
Forest Resources and
Wood Products (34}

W. Edwin Frazier, Il 49
Senior Vice President,
Administration and Corporate
Secretary (8)

Carl E. Kraus, 59

Senior Vice President, Finance,
Rayonier;

Chief tnvestment Officer,
TerraPeinte (1)

Charles Margiotta, 54
Senior Vice President,
Business Development,
Rayonier;

President, TerraPointe (30)

Hans E. Vanden Noort, 48
Senior Vice President and
Chief Accounting Officer (5)




w.i Lee Nutte?, 63, wil serve
as Chairman until his retirament
from the Board Juna 30, 2007.
HeI joined Rayonier in 1967 and
was elected Vuce President in
1984 Senior Vlce President in
1986 Executlve Vice President
in 1987 and Presndent and
Chlef Operatmg Officer and a
durector in 1996! He served as
Chairman President and Chief
Execut ive Officer from 1999
'unt|l March 1, 2007, when he
became Cha&rmén Mr. Nutter
serves on the Board of Directors
of Republlc Serwces Inc., the
J M Huber Corporation and is
a member of the North Florida
Regtonal Board of SunTrust
Bank. He s a graduate of

the Uruversny of Washington
and the Harvard University
Graduate School of Business
Admllnlstratlon Advanced
Management Program.

Katherine D. Ortega, 72,

is the former Treasurer of the
United States. Ms. Ortega
currently serves on the Boards
of Directors of The Kroger

Co., the Washington Mutual
Investors Fund and JP Morgan
Value Opportunities Fund and
as a trustee of The American
Funds Tax-Exempt Series |. She
is a graduate of Eastern New
Mexico University.

Carl S. Sloane, 70, served as
Co-Chairman of AlixPartners
Holdings and Questor Partners
Holdings. He is Professor
Emeritus, Harvard University
Graduate School of Business
Administration and a trusiee of
Beth Israel Deaccness Medical
Center. He is a directer of

The Brinks Company. Heis a
graduate of Harvard College
and the Harvard University
Graduate Schoal of Business
Administration.

Lee M. Thornalis. 62, was
elected President and Chief
Executive Ofﬂce‘r effective March
1, 2007. He was President

and Chief Operating Officer of
Georgia-Pacific {rom 2002 until
his retirement in 2005, Prior to
joining Georgia-Pacific in 1993,
Mr. Thomas wasIChairman
and Chief Executive Officer of
Law Companies Enwronmental
Group Inc. from 1989 1893
and Admmlstratolr of the U.S.
Envircnmental Prptecuon
Agency from 19815 1989. He
serves on the boards of Airgas
Inc., the Regal Entertalrlment
Group, the Federal Reserve
Bank of Atlanta, the National
Merit Scholarship‘Corporation
and the World Resource
Institute. Mr. Thomas is a
graduate of the Ur'wiversity of
the South and the University of
South Carolina Graduate School
of Education.

Ronald 'I'ownserlld. 65,isa
communications c|onsultant
and retired Presidqnt of Gannett
Television Group. I\I.nr Townsend
currenily serves asa director

of ALLTEL Corporatlon He
attended The City llJnlverSIty of
New York, Bernard Baruch.

Board Committees

Audit Committee
Katherine D. Ortega, Chair
C. David Brown, If

James H, Hance, Jr.
Thomas I. Morgan

Carl S. Sloane

Ronald Townsend

Finance Committee
James H. Hance, Jr., Chair
Ronald M. Gross

Richard D, Kincaid

W, Lee Nutter

Lee M. Thomas

Compensation and
Management Development
Committee

Thornas |. Morgan, Chair
Richard D. Kincaid

Paul G. Kirk, Jr.

Katherine D. Ortega

Nominating and Corporate
Governance Committee
Carl S. Sloane, Chair

C. David Brown, Il

Ronald M. Gross

Paul G. Kirk, Jr.

Ronald Townsend

Parag Bhansali, 45
Vice P{esident, :
Investor Relations (;(')

Willia]rn M. Burch, 46

Vice President and

Gener:lf.l Manager,

Jesup Performance Fibers Mill
(15 | |

Jay A. Fredericksen, 61
Vice President,
Corporate Relations (30)

Michael R. Herman, 44
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Rayonier Inc. and Subsidiaries

Eleven-Year Summary
Doliar amounts in millions 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998 1997 1996
Profitability .
Sales $1,230 $1,181 $1,163 $1,060 $1,080 $1,088 $1,496 $1.080 $1.051 $1,196 $1.274
Operating income before gain

on sale of New Zealand

timber assets 222 183 173 106 130 149 189 137 125 168 34
Operating income 230 220 173 106 130 149 189 137 125 168 34
Provision for dispositions - (3} — — 3) — {15) — — - {125)
Income from continuing

operationse 17 208 160 53 54 55 Ig=] 69 683 87 —
Discontinued cperations 5 25) 3) (3) — 3 — — 1 — 98¢
Net income {loss)® -176 183 157 50 54 58 78 69 684 87 {98)
Common shares cutstanding

in thousands 76,880 76093 74966 73528 62364 61527 60088 61667 62477 63638 655886
Diluted net income {loss)

per share® 2.26 2.36 2.05 0.77 0.86 0.93 1.25 1.09 0.99 1.32 {1.49)
Financial Condition
Total assets $1,963 $1,839 $1,944 $1,840 $1,889 $2040 $2,181 $2,8302 $1.625 $1623 $1628
Total debt 659 559 659 818 653 865 991 1,158 514 453 464
Book value 916 892 803 711 710 709 680 656 641 633 623
Working capital 105 184 123 169 135 165 71 74 108 101 126
Current ratio 1.54 2.08 1.50 212 177 2.04 1.35 1.38 1.60 1.48 1.56
Cash Flow
Cash provided by operating

activities $ 307 $ 254 $ 202 $ 201 $ 246 $ 222 $ 287 $ 218 %143 & 241 % 236
Total capital expenditures 105 85 88 84 77 74 87 92 92 137 218
Depreciation, deplation -

and amortization 136 147 146 151 158 166 174 103 100 102 g7
Cash dividends paid 144 129 111 108 40 39 39 36 35 35 34
Non-GAAP Financial Measures
Adjusied EBTDA® $ 370 $ 353 $ 330 %265 $ 307 $ 320 $ 38 $249 $ 232 $ 251 $ 111
Cash available for distribution® 178 169 185 107 165 154 196 — — — —
Performance Ratios
Operating income to sales 19% 19% 15% 10% 12% 14% 16% 13% 12% 14% 3%
Return on equity® 19% 26% - 21% 7% 8% 8% 12% 11% 10% 14% —
Return on assets® 9% 11% 8% 3% 3% 3% 3% 3% 4% 5% —
Debt to capital 42% 39% 45% 47% 48% 55% 59% 64% 45% 42% 43%
Other
Number of employees 2,000 2000 2,100 2,200 2,200 2,300 2,300 2.300 2,300 2,500 2,700
Timberlands and real estate,

in thousands of acres

{owned, leased or managed) 2,681 2,473 2,155 2107 2,151 2,267 2,33 2,422 1,447 1,452 1,462

&) Includes a charge of 8125 million ($79 million after tax) related to the closura of the Port Angeles pulp mill and write-off of other non-strategic assets.

b) Includes special itarms, See Form 10-K, item 8, note (9) on page 20.

¢) Adjusted EBITDA is defined as eamings from continuing operations before interest, taxes, depreciation, depietion, amortization, and the non-cash cost of real estate sold.
See page 19 for reconciliation of this non-GAAP measure.

d)Cash Available for Distribution (CAD) is defined as cash provided by operating activities less capital spending, adjusted for equity based compensation amourts, the tax benefit
associated with certain strategic acquisitions, the change in committed cash and the proceeds from matured energy forward contraclts, Soe page 19 for reconciliation of this non-
GAAP measure,

e) Return on equity is calculated by dividing income from continuing operations by the average of the opening (1/1/xx) and ending (12/31/xx) shareholder’s equity for each
period presented. Return on assets is calcuiated by dividing income from continuing operations by the average of the opening {1/1/xx) and ending (12/31/xx} total assets.
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Rayonier Inc. and Subsidiaries

Recondiliation of Non-GAAP Measures

Doltar amounts in mill‘:c'_ms 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000 1999 1968 1997 1996

Adjusted EBITDA"
Cash provided by operating

activities $ 307 $254 292 $201. $246 §222 $287 $218 $143 $241 $236
Income tax !

| (benefit) expénse 19 {17) (33 6 16 26 29 29 26 33 (13)
Interest, net | 39 39 44 46 60 68 84 41 35 26 26
Working capital (decreases)

[increases 2) 16 (37) 20 (10) 3 3 (38) 23 (28) (45}
Other balance sheet

| changes ! 7 61 64 8) {5) 10 23) {1) 5 (21} (23)

Adjusted EBITDA | $ 370 $353  $330 3265 3307  $329] $380  $240 232 $251 $114

Cash Available for Distribution®
Cash provided by operatlng

activities $ 307 $254 $202 3201 %246 $202 $287
Capital spending, net {105) (85) (88) {84) {76) (74) (88)
Purchase of aSSets previously

leased -_ e — 5) — - —
Proceeds from matured forward

energy contracts —_ 4 —_ —_ —_ —_— —_
Change in committed cash (19) 2 {4) — 2) 7 (5}
Equity based compensation

adjusiment/other —_ 3 (4) (5) 2) M —
LKE tax benefits on third

party real estate sales’ {5) (3) (11 — 1) — —

Cash Available for Distribution $ 178 $169 $185 $107 $i65 $154 %196
Quistanding shares

inthousands 76,880 76,093 74,966 73,528 62364 61,527 | 60,986
Cash Available for Distribution

per share | $ 2.31 $2.22 $2.47 $1.46 $2.65 $2.50 $3.21

| Performance I Wood Caorporate and

Adjusted EBITDA by Segment Timber Real Estate Fibers Rroducts Other  Eliminations Total
2002 |
Cash ;]::rowded by operatlng activitios $ 138 § 72 $ 118 $ (4 g u $ (89} $ 246
lncome tax expense — —_ —_ — —_ 16 16
Interest, net I — — — — 80 60
Working capital increases (dacreases) k! — (13 — ()] 8 (16}
Other batance sheet changes 1)) — 13 | 1 ) (13} {5
Adjusted EBITDA | $ 138 $ 72 $ 118 5 @3 $ — $ (18} $ 307
2003 | 1 I
Cash provided by operating activities $ 128 $ 103 $ 73 3 5 $ $ (108) $ 20
Income tax expense’ — — — — — 6 6
Interest, net | — — — — 45 46
Working capital (decreases} increases {16) M 3 2 2 30 20
Other batance sheet changes ) — 1 - 1 {5) {8)
Adjusted EBITDA | & 109 $ 102 $ 77 $ 7 $ 1 $ (@3 $ 265
2004 | < |
Cash provided by operating activities % 126 3 84 $ 126 § 22 $ 18 3 (84 § 292
Income tax benefit — — — - — (33} {33)
Interest, net — —_ —_ — — 44 44
Working capitat (decreases) increases ®) 3 (3) - (10) (21) {37)
Other balance sheet Changes 8 3 — (1) 52 64
Adjusted EBITDA | $ 128 $ 90 $ 125 § 22 $ 7 3 (a2 % 330
2005 | | |
Cash provided by operaling activilies § 165 $ 8t $,132 § 22 $ @ $ {142) $ 254
Income tax benefit — — — — — (a7} (17}
Interest, net — — — — — 39 39
Working capital (decreases}) increases (4) 5 2) 1 5 11 16
Other balance sheet changes (14) (7) — — 2 80 61
Adjusted EBITDA | 3 147 § 79 $ 130 $ 23 8 3 3 (29 $ 353
2006 | ‘
Cash provided by operating activities g 158 g 103 $ 127 $ 6 $ 14 g (101) $ 307
Income tax expense | — — — — — 19 19
Interest,[net — — — — — 39 39
Working capital (decreases) increases {11) — 25 2) {11) 3) {2)
Other balance sheet changes (4) — 1 — 1) 11 7
Adjusted EBITDA { $ 143 $ 103 $ 153 $ | 4 $ 2 g (39 $ 370

Represanrs taxes that wouId have been paid if the company had not completed LKE transactions.

a) Adjusred EBITDA is a non -GAAP measurs of operating cash generating capacity of the company. 2008 and 2003 exclude the gain on sale of New Zealand timber assets.
b} Cash Avarrabfe for Distribution is a non-GAAP measure of cash generated during a period that is avaflable for dividend distribution, repurchase of the company's common shares,
debt reduction and for strategic acquisitions net of associated financing.




Selected Financial Information

Cash Provided by Cash Available for
Operating Actlvittes Distribution Debt to Capital
$185 §178 8% 47y, 5%
$165 $169 %
$246 - - %
| $wo7 e B .
I — — . — B _B. |
2002 204 2005 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006
{dollars in millions) {dotlars in milfions) (percent)
Our core businesses consistently Cash Available for Distribution Debi increased in 2006 due fo
generate strong cash flow. refiected continued strong resutts timberland acquisitions.

in qur core businesses.

Timber Operating Real Estate Operating Performance Fibers
Income and Adjusted Income and Adjusted Operating Income and
EBMDA EBITDA Adjusted EBITDA
138 47 g4z s102 $153
_ L | 537 |
§72 875 $118

L

$76 | s | 17| |52
$52
L SR
| Bia Al iR

$47

2002 2003 2004 2005 2006

{doltars in millions)

$36

1

2002 2003 2004 2005 2006

(dol*ars in millions}

{dollars in millicns)

M Operating Income M Operating Income W Operating Income {loss)
O Adjusted EBITDA 0 Adjusted EBITDA 1 Adjusted EBITDA
Desnand for our imber remained Demand for our development Improved mix and strong demand
strong and U.5. prices improved, properties was very strang. more than offset higher costs.
producing higher pperating income.
However, costs increased resutting
in slightty Yower Adjusted EBTDA.
Performance Fibers
Northwest U.S. Timber Southeast U.S. Timber Performance Fibers Product Mix Sales
Price/Volume Price/Volume Price by Product Line Volume
$18.55 $1.053 70 474
$3n $17s0 o $1789 81743 saos S5 a4

4381 4524 g 4832

ﬁﬂﬁlﬂ B

20

2002 2003 2004 2005 2006

[doltars)

M Price per $housand beard feet
B3 Votume in miflion board feet
Resutts improved due to

higher demand.

2002 2003 2004 2005 2006

{dollars}

W Price per short geeen ton

0 Volume in thousand short
green tons

Volume decreased due to

weak Jumber markets while

prices increased.

271 W 273 [l 265 [ 276 | 272

2002 2000 2004 2005 2006

{per metric fon}

B Cellulose Specialties
B Absorbent Materials

Prices for our high-value cellwose
specialties rose for the fourth
consecutive year, while absorbent
material prices declined due to
the sale of our EAM line.

002 2003 2004 2005 2006

{thousands of meinc tons)

W Celltose Specialties

B Absorbent Materials

Volume remained the same while
mix impraved, increasing our
high-value celiulose specialties
to 64% of total wolume,
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PARTI

A1 “ u

. T : C . .

When we refer to “we”, “us”, , “the Company”, or “Rayonier”, we mean Rayonier Inc. and its consolidated
subsidiaries. References herem to “Notes to Fmancml Statements refer to the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements of
Rayonier Inc. included in Item 8 of this Report.

Except for historical information, the statements made in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are “forward-looking
statements” made pursuant to the safe harbor provisions of the Private Securifies Litigation Reform Act of 1995 and other
SJederal securities laws. These forward-looking statements, which may inciude: statements regarding anticipated earnings,
revenues, volumes, pricing, cosls and other statements relating to Rayonier’sifinancial and operational performance and
business strategies, in some cases are identified by the use of words such as “may”, "will”, “should”, “expect”, “estimate”,

“believe”, “anticipate” and other similar language. The following important factors, among others, could cause actual results
to differ materially from those expressed in the forward-looking statements contained in this release; changes in global market
trends and world events; interest rate and currency movements; changes in key management personnel; fluctuations in demand
for, or supply of, cellulose specialty products, absorbent materials, timber, wood products or real estate and entry of new
competitors into these markets; adverse weather conditions affecting products or performance fibers, particularly for raw
materials such as wood, energy and chemicals; unexpected delays in the entry into or closing of real estate sale transactions;
changes in law, policy or political environment that might condition, limit or restrict the development of real estate; the ability
of the company to identifv and complete timberland and higher-value real estate acquisitions; the company’s ability to continue
to qualify as a REIT: the ability of the company to complete tax-efficient exchanges of real estate; and implementation or
revision of governmental policies, laws and regulations affecting the environment, endangered species, timber harvesting,
import and export controls or taxes, including changes in tax laws that could reduce the benefits associated with REIT status.
For additional factors that could impact future results, please see Item IA-Risk Factors. Rayonier assumes no obligation to
update these statements except as may be required by law. You are advised, however, to review any further disclosures we make
on related subjects in our Form 10-Q and Form 8-K reports to the SEC. ’

Item 1. BUSINESS |

General . ey

We are a leading international forest products company primarily engaged in activities associated with timberland
management, the sale and development of real estate, and the production and sale of high value specialty cellulose fibers. We
own, lease or manage approximately 2.7 million acres of timberland and real estate located in the United States, New Zealand
and Austratia. We believe that Rayonier is the fifth largest private timberland owner in the U.S. Included in this property is over
200,000 acres of high value real estate located primarily along the coastal corridor from Savannah, Georgia to Daytona Beach,
Florida. We often refer to this as the “coastal corridor.” We also own and operate two specialty cellulose mills in the United
States. Our corporate strategy is to pursue strategic growth opportunities in our Timber segment, further develop the Real Estate
segment, and strengthen our position as a premier worldwide supplier of high value specialty cellulose products in the
Performance Fibers segment primarily i through cost reduction investments and product enhancements. In addition, we
manufacture lumber in three sawmills in Georgia and engage in the trading of logs and wood products. For'information on sales,
operating income and identifiable assets by reportable segment, see Item 7 — Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condmon and Results of Operations and Note 3 — Segment and Geographzcal Infonnanon

. We orlgmated as the Rainier Pulp & Paper ‘Company founded in Shelton, WA in 1926. In 1937, we became “Rayomer
Incorporated,” a public company traded on the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE) unti] 1968 when we became a wholly-
owned subsidiary of ITT Corporation (ITT). On February 28, 1994, Rayonier again became an independent public company
after ITT distributed all of Rayonier’s Common Shares to ITT stockholders. Our shares are publicly traded on the NYSE under
the symbol RYN. We are a North Carolina corporation with executive offices located at 50 North Laura Street, Jacksonville, FL
32202. Our telephone number is (904) 357-9100. . '

“+ Effective January 1, 2004, we restructured the Company as a real estate investment trust (REIT). Under this structure, we
are generally not required to pay federal income taxes on our earnings from t;mber harvest operations and other REIT-
qualifying activities contingent upon meeting applicable distribution, income, asset, shareholder and other tests. However, we
are subject to corporate taxes on built-in gains (the excess of fair market value over tax basis at January 1, 2004) on taxable
sales of property by our REIT during the first ten years following our.election to be taxed as a REIT. Our principal businesses
are conducted through two entities. Qur U.S. timber operations are conducted by a wholly-owned REIT subsidiary, Rayonier
Forest Resources, L.P. (RFR). Our non REIT-qualifying operations, which continue to pay corporate-level tax on earnings; are
held under our wholly-owned taxable subsidiary, Rayonier TRS Holdings Inc. (TRS) These operations include our Performance
Fibers, Wood Products and trading businesses, as well as the sale and developmem of h:gh value real estate (referred to as
higher and better use, or “HBU properties™). .




A significant portion of our acreage has become, or is emerging as, more valuable for development, recreational or
conservation purposes than for growing timber. To maximize the value of these properties, we expanded our focus from sales of
medium and large tracts of land to include more value-added activities such as seeking entitlements in pammpanon with other
developers. Our real estate operations are considered a separate operating and reportable business segment.

In 2006, we acquired 228,000 acres of timberland in six states for an aggregate $272 million, which increased our
geographic footprint and species mix. .

In 2005, we entered into a joint venture (JV) with RREEF Infrastructure, the global infrastructure investing arm of
Deutsche Asset Management, under which the JV purchased approximately 354.000 acres of New Zealand timberlands,
including 118,000 acres from Rayonier. Our initial investment of approximately $122 million, representing a 49.7 percent
equity interest, was made primarily by our REIT. In June 2006, AMP Capital Investors Limited, a subsidiary ‘of the Australian
corporation AMP Limited, purchased a total interest in the JV of 35 percent, of which 9.7 percent was from Rayonier and the
remainder from RREEF, thereby reducing our investment in the JV from 49.7 percent to 40 percent. The JV’s timber harvest
operations are subject to New Zealand income taxes; however, they are REIT-qualifying and therefore we will generally not be
required to pay U.S. federal income taxes on our equity earnings. In addition to having an equity investment in the JV, we
manage its timberlands for which we receive a management fee.

Timber

Qur Timber segment owns, leases or manages approximately 2.6 million acres of timberlands, sells standing timber
(primarily at auction to third parties) and delivered logs. See chart in Item 2 — Properties for additional information.

Timberland purchases in 2006 expanded our Southern U.S. timbertand holdings to 1.7 million acres in Georgia, Florida,
Alabama, Oklahoma, Arkansas, Texas and Louisiana. Their proximity to pulp, paper and wood products facilities results in
significant demand for our timber. Approximately 50 percent of the timber harvest represents high-value timber sold primarily
to lumber and plywood mills. The balance is used for making pulp, paper, and oriented strand board. Softwoods are the
predominant species on our Southern U.S. timberlands and include loblolly and slash pine. Hardwoods on our Southern U.S.
timberlands include red oak, sweet gum, black gum, red maple, cypress, green ash, and black cherry.

In 2006, we also acquired approximately 75,000 acres of timberland in New York State, located within the boundaries of
the Adirondack State Park. The timber on this property is predominantly (90 percent) hardwood, including high-value black
cherry, sugar maple sawtimber and a variety of other species. Spruce, fir and hemlock are the predominant softwood species on
the property which are intermingled with the hardwood trees.

Our Northwestern U.S. timberlands are approximately 370,000 acres of primarily softwood second growth timber on the
Olympic Peninsula in Western Washington State with approximately 60 percent hemlock and the remainder Douglas fir,
western red cedar and spruce. Our hardwood timber stands consist principally of red alder and maple.

On June 30, 2006, we reduced the investment in our New Zealand JV from 49.7 percent to 40 percent. In addition to the
New Zealand JV, our New Zealand subsidiary also manages a 114, 000 acre 50/50 softwood joint venture estate in Tasmania,
Australia owned by Forestry Tasmania and GMO, a U.S. based Timber Investment Management Organization (TIMO).

We use advanced forest management practices to maximize the value of our timberlands. The average rotation (harvest)
age for timber from the Southern U.S. (primarily Southern pine), is between 21 to 24 years. Our Southern U.S. timber is
primarily a mix of sawtimber and pulpwood with a higher concentration of sawtimber due to the 2006 timberland acquisitions.
The average harvest age for timber from the Northwestern U.S. (primarily hemlock and Douglas fir) is 50 years with a target
age of 40 years. Timber in the Northwest is primarily sawtimber. The average harvest age for the New York tlmberlands is
estimated to be between 60 to 80 years and is comprised of both pulpwood and sawtimber.

We manage timberlands in conformity with the requirements of the Sustainable Forestry Initiative® (SFI) program. A key
to success is the application of our extensive stand level silvicultural expertise for species selection, soil preparation,
fertilization, herbaceous weed control, pruning of selected species, and careful timing of the harvest, all of which are designed
t0 maximize value while complying with environmental requirements.: Through such practices, we have increased volume per
acre of managed timber available for harvest from our Southern U.S. timberlands which has been a primary factor behind an
increasing pine harvest trend over the past i5 years.




Below is a table that sets forth timberland acres (in thousands) as of December 31, 2006, by region and by timber
classification. Non-Forest acres include those acres unavailable for commercial tlmberland use and are primarily comprised of
roads, regulatory restricted riparian management zones and wetlands

' - Softwood  Hardwood )
Location ' Plantations Lands Non-Forest Total

Southern U.S.* ........... I 1,152 492 49 1,693
NOIhWESt U, ..ottt et e e e e e e e L. 283 — 87 370
New Zealand ** ... ................. [ L 346 5 — 351
ANSALIA * %% e e e e, . 114 — —_ 114
NEW YOI oottt ittt et e e e e et e e —_ ﬁ 7 75

TOMl .ot e .. 1895 . 365 143 2,603

* Excludes approximately 38 thousand leased acres that are held for sale at December 31, 2006.
** IAcres under Rayonier management, owned and leased by the New Zealand JV. .
*** Acres under Rayonier management. ‘

1

Softwood merchantable timber inventory is an estimate of timber volume based on the earliest economically harvestable

age. Hardwood inventory is an estimate of timber volume available for harvest. Estimates are based on an inventory system that
continually involves periodic statistical sampling. Adjustments are made on the basis of growth estimates, harvest information,
environmental restrictions and market conditions. Timber located in swamplands Irestncted or envnronmentally sensitive areas

is not included in the merchantable inventory shown below.
f

Effective January 1, 2007, Rayonier's Northwest timber business unit decreased the age at Wthh it moves timber into its
merchantable timber pool from 41 to 35 years. This change added 338 million board feet’ (36 percent) of timber to the
merchamable pool. The anticipated impact of this change on 2007 depletion expense is an increase of $0.5 million,

The following table sets forth the estimated volumes of merchantable timt‘)er,by location and 1ype, as of December 31,

2006:

i : Equivalent total,
. . in thousands of
f Location ‘ Softwood Hardwood Total*  shortgreentons %
Southern, in thousands of short greentons .................covnen.. 33490 19229 52,719 52,719 80
Northwest, in millions of boardfeet .............. ... ... ... ... ... 1,200 89 1,289 9,281 14
New York, in thousands of short greentons ........................ 369 3,340 3,709 3,709 __E
' ' T 65,709 100

) ' ’ _— =

3

. =
* " Excludes merchantable standing timber on acres held for sale as of December 31, 2006.
i L

b
Real Estate

¥
Our HBU real estate holdings are primarily in the Southern U.S. We segregate these real estate holdings into two groups:
development and rural properties. Development properties are predominantly located in the’eleven coastal countiés between
Savannah, GA and Daytona Beach, FL, while the rural properties essentially include; the balance of our ownership in the South.
QOur real estate holdings in the Northwest comprise the Other category in the following table.

In 2006, TerraPointe LLC (TerraPointe), our real estate development subsidiary closed two “participation” transactions
implementing our.strategy to increase value by partnering with developers and participating in the downstream revenues of
property development. For the first transaction, the Company received $10 million in cash at closing and has the option to
receive $17.5 million when the property is entitled, or at that time, to convert the balance ($17.5 million) to a participation
arrangement where Rayonier would receive a percentage of gross revenue from the sales of home lots. The second transaction
was for $28.3 million, of which $22.6 million was received at closing and the remaining $5.7 million will be earned when the
purchaser builds and sells homes to third parties. Both of these transactions. 1nvolved approximately 2,000 acres in North Florida
and were with southeastern U.S. developers.’




Sales for the three years ended December 31, 2006, are summarized in the following table: ,
) 2006 2005 2004

Acres Average Acres Average Acres Average

Sold PricefAcre Sold Price/Acre Sold Price/Acre
Development . .............. .. ... ... .. 9,377 $7,713 6,036 $6,943 4,786 $5,110
Rural ....... ... 16,099 $2,297 23,587 $1,797 29,282 $2,278
Other .................... e 775 $3,510 403 $3.805 1,838 $2,661".

Total Acres Sold ........................ L 26,251 30,026 35,906

Performance Fibers

We are a leading manufacturer of high value specialty cellulose fibers with production facilities in Jesup, GA and
Femandina Beach, FL, which have a combined annual capacity of approximately 740,000 metric tons. To meet customers’
needs, these facilities are capable of manufacturing more than 25 different grades of performance fibers. The Jesup facility can
produce approximately 590,000 metric tons, or 80 percent of our total capacity and the Fernandina Beach facility can produce
approximately 150,000 metric tons, or 20 percent of our total capacity. Sixty-one percent of Performance Fibers sales are
exported, primarily to customers in Asia, Europe and Latin America. Eighty-nine percent of Performance Fibers sales are made
directly by Rayonier personnel, with the remainder through independent sales agenis. In July 2006, we entered into long-term
contracts with the world’s largest manufacturers of acetate-based products and other key customers that extend into 2011 and
represent nearly 80 percent of our high value cellulose specialties production.

This segment includes two major product lines — Cellulose Specialties and Absorberit Materials.

Cellulose Specialties — We are one of the world’s leading producers of specialty cellulose products, most of which
are used in dissolving chemical applications that require a highly purified form to produce cellulose acetate and ethers that
create high value, technologically demanding products. Our products are used in a wide variety of end uses such as: acetate
textile fibers, cigarette filters, rigid packaging, liquid crystal display (LCD) screens, photographic film, impact-resistant
plastics, high-tenacity rayon yamn for tires and industrial hoses, pharmaceuticals, cosmetics, detergents, food casings, food
products, thickeners for oil well-drilling muds, lacquers, paints, printing inks, and explosives. In addition, cellulose
specialties include high value specialty paper applications used for decorative laminates, automotive air and oil filters, shoe
innersoles, battery separators, circuit boards and filter media for the food industry. :

Absorbent Materials — We are a producer of performance fibers for absorbent hygiene products. These fibers are
typically referred to as fluff fibers and are used as an absorbent medium in products such as disposable baby diapers,
feminine hygiene products, incontinence pads, convalescent bed pads, industrial towels and wipes and non-woven fabrics,

Wood Products

Our Wood Products business segment manufactures and sells dimension lumber We operate three lumber manufacturing
facilities in the U.S. that produce Southern pine lumber, which is generally used for residential and industrial construction.
Located in Baxley, Swainshoro and Eatonton, GA, the mills have a combined annual capacity of approximately 390 million
board feet of lumber and 750,000 tons of wood chips. Lumber sales are primarily made by Rayonier personnel to customers in
the Southeastern U.S. Approximately 75 percent of our lumber mills’ wood chip production is sold at market prices to our
Jesup, GA performance fibers facility. In 2006, these purchases represented approximately 16 percent of that facility’s total
wood consumption.

On August 28, 2005, we completed the sale of our MDF business to Dongwha Hong Kong International Limited for
approximately $40 million. As a result, the Wood Products segment has been restated to cxgludc the operations and assets of
MDF in all periods presented. :

Other

The primary business of our Other segment is trading logs, lumber and wood panel products. We operate domestic and
export log trading businesses in the Northwest U.S., New Zealand and Chile. All of the sales from our Neorthwest U.S. and New
Zealand log trading operations are sourced externally. Our Chilean log trading activity includes domestic purchases and sales.
We also purchase and trade lumber and wood products in both domestic and export markets. The Other segment has historically
included royalty income from coal mining activity on our timberlands in Lewis County, Washington. In 2006, the amount of
royalty income included in this segmem totaled $3.0 million. Effective November 2006, TransAlta, the third party operator of
the mine, ceased their operations in Lewis County; therefore, future periods will not include royalty income.




I
Drscontmued Operations and Dispositions : |
'Discontinued operations include our MDF business sold in 2005. The Consolidated Statements of Income and

Comprehensive Income and the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows and the re]ated Notes have been reclassified to present
the rtesults of these operations as discontinued operations. ’ |

1

.Dispositions and other discontinued operations include our Port Angeles, WA performance fibers mill that was closed in
1997; our wholly-owned subsidiary, Southern Wood Piedmont Company (SWP), which ceased operations other than
environmental remediation activities in 1989; our Eastern Research Division (ERD) which ceased operations in 1981; and other
miscellaneous assets held for disposition. See Note 15 — Reserves for D:sposmons and Discontinued Operations for additional
information, -

Forelgn Sales and Operations

Sales by geographical destination for the three years ended December 31, 2006 were as follows (in mrlllons)

R t Sales by Destination
. 2006 % . 2005 % 2004 %
United STES . oo eee et $ 777 63 '$ 739 63 $ 736 63
BUIOPE -\ voee e e e e e e 167 14 161 14 134 i1
Japan ... 88 7 72 6 80 7
(@11 SO 79 6 . 6l 5 66 6
OtHEr ASIA ... oo e oo eee e eeiae e 37 3 V) 4 54 5
Latin AMerica . .....:...oueeeiuuunneaoenon.s 30 2 {37 3 31 '3
NewZealand .........ooooivahennnaaennn. 21 2 P30 2 30 2
Canada ......ooooiiiiiiiii i S 12 1 I .20 2 20 2
Allother ... A SO AU 19 2 ! 9 1 12 1
$1,230 100 $LI8L 100 §1,163 100

A large majority of sales to foreign countries are denominated in U.S. dollars. Sales from non-U.S. operations comprised

approximalcly 4 percent of total 2006 sales. See Note 3 — Segment and Geographical Information for additional information.
| .

Intellectual Property i

We OWN numerous patents, trade secrets and know-how, pamcularly relatmg to our Performance Fibers business. We
intend to continue to take such steps as'are necessary ‘to protect ouf products and processes, including filing patent applications
for future inventions that are deemed important to our business operations. Our U.S. palenls have a duration of 20 years from
the date of filing.

. — -

Competltmn

Our timberlands are located in three major timber-growing regions {the Northwesl Northeast and Southern U.S.), where
timber markets are fragmented. In the Northwest, The Campbell Group, Hancock -Timber Resource Group, Green Diamond
Resource Company, Weyerhaeuser, Longview Fibre, Port Blakely Tree Farms, and Washington State (Department of Natural
Resources) are significant competitive suppliers. Other competition in the Northwest arises from log imports from Canada. In
the Southem region, we compete with Plum Creek Timber Company, Weyerhaeusiar TIMOs such as Timberstar and Resource
Managemem Services, who purchased large pomons of the timberland sold by Iriternational Paper in 2006, and many small,
non- 1r1dustr1a1 land owners. In all markets, price is the principal method of compeut:on

In Performance Fibers, we market high purity, specialty cellulose fibers \ybrldwide against strong competition from
domestic and foreign producers. Major competitors include Buckeye Technologies Inc., Borregaard, and Sappi Saiccor. Pricing,
product performance, and technical service are principal methods of competition. During 2005, Sappi Saiccor announced a
200,000 ton per year expansion at one of its cellulose specialty pulp mills in South Africa, and Sateri International announced
construction of a 360,000 ton per year cellulose specialty pulp mill in Bahia; Bra.zrl The status of these projects is currently
unclear, although it is possible that one or both of them could be producing product in_2007. In May 2006, Neucel Specialty
Cellulose. Ltd: restarted a 160,000 ton cellulose specialty mill located in-Port Alice, British Columbia. In September 2006,
Weyerhauscr closed its 155,000 metric ton cellulose specialty pulp mill located in Cosmopolis, Washington; however, in
January 2007 they announced a potential sale of the mill to private investors whlch if consummated, could return the mill to
cellulose specialty production. The aggregate impact of facility closures and potential new market capacity is not expected to
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adversely affect the results of our Performance Fibers segment in 2007; however, it is likely that these market dynamics will
impact our business in 2008 and beyond.

Our Wood Products business competes with a number of lumber producers throughout the U.S. and Canada, but
particularly with sawmills throughout Georgia and Florida. Our lumber business represents less than one-half of one percent of
North American capacity.

Customers -, , ' '

In 2006, a group of customers under the common control of Eastman Chemical Company and its affiliates represented
approximately 20 percent of the Performance Fibers segment’s sales and 11 percent of our consolidated sales. Another customer
of the Performance Fibers segment comprised 12 percent of the segment’s sales. In the Wood Products segment, one customer
comprised 11 percent of segment sales and in the Trading segment, 18 percent of its sales were to a single customer. The loss of
any of these customers could have a material adverse effect on these segments’ results of operations.

Backlogged Orders . N _

* We do not consider backlog to be a significant indicator of the level of future Performance Fibers sales. We manufacture
our products based on existing orders as well as projections of future orders. Therefore, we believe that backlog information is
not, material to understanding our overall business and should not be considered an indicator of our ability to achieve any
particular level of revenue.

Seasonality

* Our Timber segment sales are generally lower in the third quarter due to greater availability of non-Rayonier timber during
the drier summer harvesting period, particularly in the Northwestern U.S. Our Wood Products segment may experience higher
seasonal demand in the second quarter primarily due to increased new housing construction. Qur Performance Fibers and Real
Estate segments’ results are normally not impacted by seasonal changes.

Environmental Matte_rs

See Item 7 — Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Environmental
Regularion and Note 16 — Contingencies.

Raw Materials

The manufacture of our performance fibers products and lumber requires significant amounts of wood. Timber harvesting
can be restricted by adverse weather conditions, legal challenges and pressure from various environmental groups. The supply
of timber is directly affected by price and demand fluctuations in wood products and in pulp and paper markets.

In 2006, hardwood pricing decreased modestly from 2005 levels, primarily due to ample supply caused by favorable
weather conditions. Our Performance Fibers and lumber mills obtain their logs through open market purchases made by our
wood procurement organization, which negotiates prices and volumes with independent third party suppliers who deliver.to our
facilities. In some cases, third party logging contractors may have purchased timber cutting rights from our timberlands in
Georgia and Florida (generally through a sealed bid process). .. .,

Performance Fibers manufacturing also requires significant amounts of fuel oil and natural gas. These raw materials are
subject to significant changes in prices and availability, which could adversely impact our future operating results. With the
recent surge in energy prices, we initiated a number of capital projects to reduce fossil fuel consumption, including a recently
completed power boiler replacement which is expected to consume primarily wood waste and will significantly reduce oil
usage. We continually pursue reductions in usage and costs of other key raw materials, supplies and contract services at our
Performance Fibers and lumber mills and do not foresee any material constraints in the near term from pricing or availability.

Research and Development . - : B . v

In Jesup, GA, at our research and development facility, our research and development efforts are directed primarily at
further developing existing core products and technologies, improving the quality of cellulose fiber grades, absorbent materials
and related products, improving manufacturing efficiency and environmental controls, and reducing fossil fuel consumption.

‘The research and development activities of our timber operations .include genetic tree improvement and applied
silvicultural programs to-identify management practices that will improve financial returns from our timber asseis.




-Our research and development expenditures were approximately $6 million in both 2006 and 2005, and $7 million in 2004.
1 . . .

Employee Relations ' |

We currently employ approximately 2,000 people, of whom approximately i 900 are in the United States. Approximately
900 ‘of our hourly Performance Fibers employees are covered by labor contracts. The majority of our hourly employees are
represented by one of several labor unions. We believe relations with our employees are satlsfactory

,In August and December 2001, labor agreements covering approximately 6{60-h0urly employees at our Jesup mill were
extended through June 30, 2008. In December of 2005, two labor unions representing approximately 220 hourly employees at
our Fernandina, mill approved a four-year' contract, which expires on April 30, 2010. There were no changes to our labor
contracts in 2006 : -

Sustainable Forestry . L . |

“While it is our objective to maximize future’ wood supply through forest management programs that increase timberland
productivity, we have-a longstanding commitment to meet the highest levels of forest stewardship and to promote sustainable
forestry practices throughout the industry. As a member of the American Forest and Paper Association, we subscribe to the SFI
program, a comprehensive system of environmental principles, objectives and performance measures that combines the
perpetual growing and harvesting of trees with the protection of wildlife, plants, soil and water quality. Most of our U.S.
timberlands and wood procurement practices have been audited and certified by an independent third party under the SFI
program. The recently purchased properties in Texas, Louisiana, Oklahoma, Arkansas, Alabama and New York have been
managed to be compliant with SFI standards by the prior owners, but were not audited or certified under the SFI program. It is
our intent, and efforts are currently underway, to have these properties audited and certified by an independent third party under
the SFI program by the end of 2007, The independent certification verifies that we meet strict requlremems for growing and
harvesting trees in an environmentally responsible manner that protects natural | resources, renews forests, creates biological
diversity, and enhances wildlife protection. In addition; our New Zealand JV participates in various environmental initiatives
such as the Forest Owners Association, the New Zealand Forest Accord and the Forest Stewardship Council. -
Availability of Reports and Other Inforiation o T

"Our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, proxy statements and
amendments to those reports-filed or furnished pursuant to Sections 13(a) or 14' of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 are
made available to the public free of charge in the Investor Relations section of our website (www.rayonier.com), shortly after
we electromcally file such material with, or furnish them to, the SEC. Our corporate governance guidelines and charters of all
Comimittees of our Board of Directors are also available on our website. These documents are also available in print, free of
charge to any investor upon rcquest to: Investor Relations Department Rayomer Inc., 50 North, Laura Street, Jacksonville,
Florida 32202. ) '

Ttem 1A. RiSK FACTORS . o L . -

‘Qur’ operations are subject t0 a number of risks, including those listed below. When considering an investment in our
securities, you should carefully read and consider these risks, together with all other-information in this report. If any of the
events described in the following risk factors actually occur, our business, ﬁnanaal condmon or operatmg results, as well as

the market price of our securmes, could be materially adversely aﬁ‘ected ' I

Business and Operating Risks - ' f

H

‘The cyclical nature of our businesses could adversely affect our results of operations. -

Our financial performance is affected by the cyclical nature of the forest products and real estate industries. The
Imarkets for timber, real estate, performance fibers and wood products are il;nﬂuenced by a variety of factors beyond our
icontrol. For example, the demand for real estate can be affected by changes in interest rates, local economic conditions,
population growth and demographics. The demand for ‘sawtimber is pnmanly affected by the level of new residential and
‘commercial constructlon activity. The supply of timber and logs has’ hlstoncally mcreased during favorab]e pricing
senwronments ‘which then causes downward pressure on prices, :

The Jforest products and real estate industries are htghly competmve '

| :
; - Many of our competitors in the forest products businesses have substannally greater financial and operatmg resources
1and own more timberlands than we do. Some of our forest products competitors may also be lower-cost producers in some
| N .




of the businesses in which we operate. In addition, wood products are subject to significant competition frem a variety of
non-wood and engineered wood products. We are also subject to competition from various forest products, including logs,
imported from foreign countries to the United States as well as to the export markets served by us. To the extent there is a
significant increase in competitive pressures from substitute products or other domestic or foreign suppliers, our business
could be substantially adversely affected. With respect to our real estate business, we are continuing the transition from a
bulk land seller to engaging in value-added real estate development activities, including obtaining entitlements and entering
into joint venture, participation and other development-related arrangements. Many of our competitors in this segment have
greater experience in real estate development than we do.

. Changes in energy and raw materials prices could impact our operating results and financial condition. .

Energy and raw material costs, such as oil, natural gas, wood, and chemicals are a significant operating expense,
particularly for the Performance Fibers and Wood Products businesses. The prices of raw materials and energy can be
volatile and are susceptible to rapid and substantial increases due to factors beyond our control such as changing economic
conditions, political unrest and instability in energy-producing nations, and supply and demand considerations. For
example, oil and natural gas costs have increased substantially in recent years and we have experienced, at times, a limited
availability of hardwood which has resulted in increased production costs for some,Performance Fibers products. Increases
in production costs could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Changes in global market trends and world events could impact customer demand.

The global reach of our business, particularly the Performance Fibers business and our interest in the New Zealand
IV, causes us to be subject to unexpected, uncontrollable and rapidly changing events and circumstances in addition to
those experienced in the U.S. Adverse changes in the following factors, among others could have a negative impact on our
business and results of operations:

+ effects of exposure to currencies other than the United States dollar;
+ regulatory, social, political, labor or economic conditions in ‘a specific country or region; and

* trade protection laws, policies and measures and other regulatory requirements affecting trade and investment,
including loss or modification of exemptions for taxes and tariffs, and import and export licensing requirements.
Qur businesses are subject to extensive environmental laws and regulations that may restrict or adversely impact our
ability to conduct our business.

If regulatory and environmental permits are delayed, restricted or rejected, a variety of operations could be delayed
- or restricted. In-connection with a variety of operations on our properties, we are required to’ seek permission from
' agencies in the states and countries in which we operate to perform certain activities. Any of these agencies could delay
review of, or reject, any of our filings. In our Timber business, any delay associated with a filing could result in a delay or
restriction in replanting, thinning, insect control, fire control or harvesting, any of which could have an adverse effect on
our operating results. For example, in Washington State, we are required to file a Forest Practice Application for each unit
of timberland to be harvested. These applications may be denied, conditioned or restricted by the regulatory agency or
appealed by other parties, including citizen groups. Appeals or actions of the regulatory agencies could delay or restrict
timber harvest activities pursuant to these permits. Delays or harvest restrictions.on a significant number of applications
could have an adverse effect on our operating results. In our Performance Fibers and Wood Products businesses, many
modifications and capital projects at our manufacturing facilities require an environmental permit, or an amendment to an
existing permit. Delays in obtaining these permits could have an adverse effect on our results of operations.

Environmental groups and interested individuals may seek to delay or prevent a variety of operations: We expect that
environmental groups and interested individuals will intervene with increasing flequcncy in the regulatory processes in the
states and countries where we own, lease or manage timberlands, and operate m11]s For example, in Washington State,
environmental groups and interested individuals may appeal individual forest practice applications or file petitions with the
Forest Practices Board to challenge the regulations under which forest practices are approved. These and other challenges
could materially delay or prevent operations on our properties. Delays or restrictions due to the intervention of
environmental groups or interested individuals could adversely affect our operating results. In addition 1o intervention in
regulatory proceedings, interested groups and individoals may file or threaten to file lawsuits that seek to prevent us from
obtaining permits or implementing capital improvements or our operating plans. Any lawsuit or even a threatened lawsuit
could delay harvesting on our timberlands. Among the remedies that could be enforced in a lawsuit is a Judgment
preventing or restricting harvesting on a portion of our tlmberlands or adversely affecting the projected operating benefits
or cost of capital projects at our m1lls




The impact of existing regulatory restrictions on future harvesting activities may be significant. Federal, state and
' local laws and regulations, as well as those of other countries, which are intended to protect threatened and endangered
"+ species, as well as waterways and wetlands, limit and may prevent timber harvesting, road building and other activities on
our timberlands. The threatened and endangered species restrictions apply to activities that would adversely impact a
_protected species or significantly degrade its habitat. The size of the area SUb_]CCl to restriction will vary‘depending on the
“protected species at issue, the time of year and other factors, but can range from less than one to several thousand acres. A
'number of species that naturally live on or near our timberlands, including the northern spotted owl, marbled murrelet; bald
eagle, several species of salmon and trout in the Northwest, and the red cockaded woodpecker, bald eagle, wood stork, red
hill salamander, and flatwoods salamander in the Southeast, are protected under the Federal Endangered Species Act or
'similar state laws.’As we gain additional information regarding the presence of threatened or endangered species on our
timberkands, or if regulations become moré restnctwe the amount of our tlmberlands subject to harvest restrictions could
increase. : -

Our manufacturing operations, and in particular our Performance F iBers and Wood Products mills,. are subject to
stringent environmental laws and regulations concerning air emissions, wastewater discharge, water usage and waste
handling and disposal. Many of our operatlons are subject to stringent environmental laws and regulations and permits
‘which contain conditions that govern how we operate our facilities and, in many cases, how much product we can produce.
‘These laws, regulations and permits, now and in the future, may restrict our current production and limit our ability to
increase production, and impose significant costs on our operations with, respect to environmental compliance. It is
expected that, overall, these costs will likely increase over time as environmental laws, regulations and permit conditions
become more stringent, and as the expectations of the communities in which we operate become more demanding.

We currently own or may acquire properties which may require environmental remediation or otherwise be subject to
environmental and other liabilities. We currently own, or formerly operaterl manufacturing facilities and, dlsconunued
operations, or may acquire timberlands and other properties, which are subject to environmental liabilities, such as cleanup
of hazardous material contamination and other existing or potential liabilities of which we are not currently aware. The cost
of investigation and remediation of contaminated properties could increase operating costs and adversely affect financial
results. Although we believe we have adequate reserves for the investigation and remediation of our current properties,
there can be no assurance that actual expenditures will not exceed our expectauons

+

Environmental laws and regulations are consiantly changing, and are generally becoming more restrictive. Laws,
regulations and related judicial decisions and administrative interpretations affecting our business are subject to change and
new laws and regulations that may affect our business are frequently enacted. These changes may adversely affect our
ability to harvest and sell timber, operate our manufacturing facilities and/or develop real estate. These laws and
regulations may relate to, among other things, the protection of timberlands, endangered species, timber harvesting
practices, recreation and aesthetics, protection and restoration of natural reslources air and water quality, and remedial
standards for contaminated property and groundwater. Over time, the complexity and stringency of these laws and
regulations have increased markedly and the enforcement of these laws and regulations has intensified. We believe that
these laws and regulauons will continue to become more restrictive and over time could adversely affect our opérating

results.
|

Development of real estate entails a lengthy, uncertain and costly approval process.

Development of real estate entails extensive approval processes involving multiple regulatory jurisdictions. It is
common for a project to require various approvals, permits and consents from federal, state and local governing and
regulatory bodies. For example, in Florida, real estate projects must generally comply with the provisions of the Local
Government Comprehensive Planning and Land Development Regulation Act (the “Growth Management Act”) and local
land use and development regulations. In addition, in Florida, development projects that exceed certain specified regulatory
thresholds require approval of a comprehensive Development of Regional Impact (DRI} application. Compliance with the
Growth Management Act, local land development regulations and the DRI|process is usually lengthy and costly and
significant conditions can be imposed on a developer with respect to a particular project. In addition, development of
properties containing delineated wetlands may require one or more permits. from the federal government. Any. of these
issues can materially affect the cost and timing of our real estate development activities. .

The real estate development and entitlement process is frequently a political one, which involves uncertainty and often
extensive negotiation and concessions in order to secure the necessary approvals and permits. A significant amount of our
development property is located in counties in which local governments face challenging issues relating to growth and
development, including zoning and future land use, public services, infrastructure and funding for same, and the
requirements of state law, especially in the case of Florida under the Growth Management Act and DRI process.




Other issues affecting real estate development include the availability of potable water for new development projects.
For example, in Georgia, the Legislature recently enacted the Comprehensive Statewide Watershed Management Planning
Act (the “Watershed Management Act”), which, among other things, created a governmental entity called the Georgia
Water Council which is charged with preparing a comprehensive water management plan for the state and presenting it to
the Georgia Legislature for adoption no later than 2008. It is unclear at this time what this plan will provide or how it will
affect the cost and timing of real estate development along the 1-95 coastal corridor in southem Georgia, where the
Company has significant real estate holdings.

N

Changes in the interpretation or enforcement of these laws, the enactment of new laws regarding the use and
development of real estate, changes in the political composition of state and local governmental bodies, and the
identification of new facts regarding our properties could lead to new or greater costs, delays and liabilities that could
materially adversely affect our business, profitability or financial condition.

Changes in demand for our real estate and delays in the timing of real estate transactions may affect our revenues and
operauug results. .

_ A number of factors, mcludmg changes in demographics, and a slowing of commercial or residential real estate
development, particularly along the I-95 coastal corridor in Florida and Georgia, could reduce the demand for such
properties and negatively affect our results of operations.

In addition, there are inherent uncertainties in the timing of real estate transactions that could adversely affect our
operating results. Delays in the completion of transactions or the termination of potential transactions can be caused by
factors beyond our control. These events have in the past and may in the future adversely affect our operating results.

Our Jomt venture partners may have interests that differ from ours and may take acuons that adversely affect us.

We participate in a joint venture in New Zealand, and may enter into other joint venture projects; for example, as part
of our real estate development strategy. A joint venture involves potential risks such as:

* not having voting control over the joint venture;
» the venture pariner at any time may have economic or business interests or goals that are inconsistent with ours;

* the venture partner may take actions contrary to our instructions or requests, or contrary to our policies or
objectives with respect to the investment; and

* the venture partner could experience financial difficulties.

Actions by our venture partners may subject property owned by the joint venture to liabilities greater than those
contemplated by the joint venture agreement or have other adverse consequences.

~ We may be unsuccessful in carrying out, our acquisition strategy.

We intend to pursue acquisitions of strategic timberland and real estate properties. Our timberland and real estate
acquisitions may not perform in accordance with our expectations. We anticipate financing any such acquisitions through
cash from operations, borrowings under our credit facilities, proceeds from equity or debt offerings or proceeds from asset
dispositions, or any combination thereof. The failure of any acquisitions to perform to our expectations could adversely
affect our operating results.

Qur failure to maintain satisfactory labor relations could have a material adverse effect on our business,

Approximately 45 percent of our work force is unionized. These workers are almost exclusively in our Performance
Fibers business. As a result, we are required to negotiate the wages, benefits and other terms with many of our employees
collectively. Our financial results could be adversely affected if labor negotiations were to restrict the efficiency of our
operations. Our inability to negotiate acceptable contracts with any of these unions as existing agreements expire could
result in strikes or work stoppages by the affected workers. If the unicnized employees were to engage in a strike or other
work stoppage, or other employees were 10 become unionized, we could experience a significant disruption of our
operations, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Weather and other natural conditions may limit our timber harvest and sales.

Weather conditions, timber growth cycles and restrictions on access may limit harvesting of our timberlands, as may
other factors, including damage by fire, insect infestation, disease, prolonged drought and natural disasters.




' We do not insure against losses of timber from any causes, including fire.

The volume and value of timber that can be harvested from our timberlands may be reduced by fire, insect infestation,
severe weather, disease, natural disasters, and other causes beyond our control. A reduction in our timber inventory could
adversely affect our financial results and cash flows. As is typical in the industry, we do not maintain insurance for any loss
to our timber, including losses due to these causes.

-

. . , ,
. A significant portion of the timberland that we own, lease or manage is concentrated in limited geographic areas..

We own, lease or manage approximately 2.7 million acres of timbertand and real estate located primarily in the United

' States and New Zealand. Approximately 1.7 million acres are-located in Georgla Florida, Alabama, Arkansas, Louisiana,

tTexas and Oklahoma. Accordingly, if the level of production from these forests substantially declines, or if the demand for
timber in those regions declines, it could have a material adverse effect on oulr overall production levels and our revenues.

' We are dependent upon attracting and retaining key personnel.

, We believe that our success depends, to a significant extent, upon |our ability to attract and retain key senior
management and operations management personnel. Our failure to recruit and retain these key personnel could adversely
affect our financial condition or results of operations. Our Chairman, Premdeﬁt and Chief Executive Officer, W. Lee Nutter
has publicly announced his plan to retire in 2007. Although a search is currently underway for Mr. Nutter’s successor, no
‘assurances can be given to the effect his.replacement will have on our results of operations, financial condmon or stock
pnce oo .
l . N A

‘Market interest rates may inﬂuence the price of our common shares, |
- One of the factors that’ may influence the price of our common shares w1ll be the annual dividend yield as compared to
yields on other financial instruments. Thus, an increase in market mterest rates will result in higher yields on other

financial instruments, which could adversely affect the price of our common shares.

We have a s:gmﬁcam amount of debt and the capacity to incur significant addmonal debt.

As of December 31, 2006 we had $661 mllllon of debt outstanding. See Item 7 — Management 5 D:scusswn and
Analy.ﬂs of Financial Condition and Results of Operanons — Contractual Financial Obligations and Off-Balance Sheet
Arrangements for the payment schedule of our long—term debt obligations. We expect that existing cash, cash equivalents,
marketable securities, cash provided from operations, and our bank credit facilities will be sufficient to meet ongoing cash
requirements. Moreover, we have the borrowing capacity to incur significant additional debt and may do so if we enter into
one or more strategic, merger, acquisition or other corporate or investment opportunities, or otherwise invest capital in one
‘or more of .our businesses. However, failure to generate sufficient cash as our debt becomes due, or to renew credit lines

~ prior to their expiration, may adversely affect our business, financial condition, operating results, and cash flow.

REIT and Tax-Related Risks '

If we fail to qualify as a REIT or fail to remain qualified as a REIT, we will have reduced funds avadable Jor
distribution to our shareholders because our income will be subject to taxation at regular corporate rates.

We intend t6 operate in accordance with REIT qualifications under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended
(the “Code™). As a REIT, we-generally will not pay corporate-level tax on income we distribute to our shareholders (other
than the income'of TRS) as long as we distribute at least 90 percent of our REIT taxable income (determined without
regard to the dividends paid deduction and by excluding net capital gain). Qualification as a REIT involves the application
of highly technical and complex provisions of the Code, which are subject to'change, perhaps retroactively, and which are
not entirely within our control. We cannot assure that we will qualify as a REIT or be able to remain so qualified or that
new leglslatlon u.s. Treasury regulations, admmlslratwe mterpretanons or court decisions will not significantly affect our
ability to qualify as a REIT or the federal income tax consequences of such qualification.

If i in any taxable year we fail to qualify as a REIT, we will suffer the followmg negative results:
+ we will not be allowed a deduction for dividends paid to shareholders i m computing our taxable income; and
+ we will be subject to federal income tax on our REIT taxable income a_t regular corporate rates.

In addition, we will be disqualified from treatment as a REIT for the four taxable years following the year during
which the qualification was lost, unless we are entitled to relief under certain provistons of the Code. As a result, our net
income and the cash available for distribution to our shareholders could be reduced for up to five years or longer.




If we fail to qualify as a REIT, we may need to borrow funds or liquidate some investments or assets to pay the
additional tax liability. Accordingly, cash available for distribution to our shareholders would be reduced.

. The extent of our use of taxable REIT subsidiaries r;zay affect the price of our common shares relative to the share price
of other REITs.

We conduct a portion of our business activities through one or more taxable REIT subsidiaries. Our use of taxable
REIT subsidiaries enables us to engage in non-REIT qualifying business activities such as the production and sale of
-performance fibers and wood products, real estate development, sales and development of HBU property and timberlands
(as a dealer) and sales of logs. Taxable REIT subsidiaries are subject to corporate-level tax. Therefore, we pay income
taxes on the income generated by our taxable REIT subsidiaries. Under the Code, no more than 20 percent of the value of
the gross assets of a REIT may be represented by securities of one or more taxable REIT subsidiaries. This limitation may
affect our ability to increase the size of our taxable REIT subsidiaries’ operations. Furthermore, our use of taxable REIT
subsidiaries may cause the market to value our common shares differently than the shares of other REITs, which may not
use taxable REIT subsidiaries as extensively as we use them, '

Lack of shareholder ownership and transfer restrictions in our articles of incorporation may affect our ability to qualify
as a REIT.

In order to qualify as a REIT, an entity cannot have five or fewer individuals who own, directly or indirectly after
applying attribution of ownership rules, 50 percent or more of its outstandmg voting shares during the last six months in
each calendar year. Although it is not required by law or the REIT provisions of the Code, almost all REITs have adopted
ownership and transfer restrictions in their articles of incorporation or organizational documents which seek to assure
compliance with that rule. While we are not in violation of the ownership rules, we do not have, nor do we have any
current plans to adopt, share ownership and transfer restrictions. As such, the possibility exists that five or fewer
individuals could acquire 50 percent or more of our outstanding voting shares, which could result in our disqualification as
a REIT.

We may be limited in our ability to fund distributions using cash generated through our taxable REIT subsidiaries.

The ability for the REIT to receive dividends from taxable REIT subsidiaries is limited by the rules with which we
must comply to maintain our status as a REIT. In particular, at least 75 percent of gross income for each taxable year as a
REIT must be derived from sales of our standing timber and other types of qualifying real estate income and no more than
25 percent of our gross income may consist of dividends from our taxable REIT subsnd:arles and other non-qualifying
income.

This limitation on our ability to receive dividends from our taxable REIT subsidiaries may impact our ability to fund
distributions to stockholders using cash flows from our taxable REIT subsidiaries. The net income of our taxable REIT
subsidiaries is not required to be distributed, and income that is not distributed will not be subject to the 90 percent income
distribution requirement. :

Certain of our business activities are potentially subject to prohibited transactions tax.

As a REIT, we will be subject to a 100 percent tax on any net income from “prohibited transactions.” In general,

. prohibited transactions are sales or other dispositions of property to customers in the ordinary course of business. Sales of

performance fibers and wood products which we produce and sales of logs constitute prohibited transactions. In addition,

sales of timberlands or other real estate (as a dealer) and certain development activities relating to real estate could, in
certain circumstances, constitute prohibited transactions.

. We intend to avoid the 100 percent prohibited transactions tax by conducting activities that would otherwise be
prohibited transactions through one or more taxable REIT subsidiaries. We may not, however, always be able to identify
timberland properties that will become part of our “dealer” real estate sales business. Therefore, if we sell timberlands
which we incorrectly identify as property not held for sale to customers in the ordinary course of business or which
subsequently become properties held for sale to customers in the ordinary course of business, we face the potential of being
subject to the 100 percent prohibited transactions tax. -

We may have adjustments to deferred and contingent tax liabilities.

We will be subject to a federal corporate-level tax at the highest regular corporate rate (currently 35 percent) on any
gain recognized from a taxable sale of any asset which we held at January 1, 2004, the effective date of our REIT election,
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that occurs within ten years of that date. However, we will be subject to such tax only to the extent of the difference
' between our tax basis and the fair market value of those assets as of January 1, 2004 (the “built-in-gain™}. Gain from a

taxable sale of those assets occurring more than ten years after January 1, 2004 will not be subject to this corporate-level
-tax.

In addition, the IRS may assert liabilities against us for corporate income taxes for taxable years prior to the time we
,qualified as a REIT, in which case we will owe these taxes plus interest and penalties, if any. Moreover, any increase in
‘taxable income for those years will result in an increase in accumulated earnings and profits, or E&P, which could cause us
“to pay an additional taxable distribution to our then-existing shareholders within 90 days of the relevant determination.
f !

Our cash d:vtdeuds are not guaranteed and may ﬂucrmte

Generally, REITs are required to distribute 90 percent of their taxablc income. However, REITs are required to
!distribute only their ordinary taxable income and not their net capital gains m:come Accordingly, we do not believe that we
are required to distribute material amounts of cash since substantially all of our taxable income is treated as capital gains
‘income. Our Board of Directors, in its sole discretion, determines the amount of quarterly dividends to be provided to our
stockholders based on consideration of a number of factors. These include, but are not limited to, our results of operations,
‘cash flow and capital requirements, economic conditions, tax considerations, borrowing capacity and other factors,
including debt covenant restrictions that may impose limitations on cash payments future acquisitions and divestitures,
'harvest levels, changes in the price and demand for our products and general market demand for timberlands including
‘those timberland properties that have higher and better uses. Consequently, our dividend levels may fluctuate.

. . i
‘We may not be able to complete desired like-kind exchange transactions for:timberlands and real estate we sell.

When we sell timberlands and real estate, we generally seek to match these sales with the acquisition of suitable
replacement real estate. This allows us to claim “like-kind exchange” treatmint for these transactions under section 1031
and related regulations of the Code. This matching of sales and purchases provides us with significant tax benefits, most
importantly the deferral of any gain on the property sold until ultimate dasposmon of the replacement property For
example, we frequently utilize like-kind exchanges to transfer HBU propcmes from RFR to TerraPointe. While we attempt
to complete like-kind exchanges wherever practical, we will not be able to do so in all instances due to various factors,
including the lack of availability of suitable replacement property on acceptable terms, inability to complete a qualifying
like-kind exchange transaction within the timeframes required by the Code'and if we incorrectly identify real estate as
property not held for sale to customers in the ordinary course of business or Wthh subsequently becomes real estate held
for sale to customers in the ordinary course of business. The inability to obtain like-kind exchange treatment would result

in the payment of taxes with respect to the property sold, and a comcspondmg reduction in earnings and cash available for
distribution to shareholders as dividends.

Item 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

t
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Item 2. PROPERTIES . Co . ce
The following table details the significant properties we'own, lease, or manage by reportable segment:

Long-Term
Segment Location Total Acres Fee-Owned Acres Leased Acres Managed Acres
Timber .................. Southern U.s. 1,693,077 1,445,654 247,423 —
' Northwest U.S. o 370,446 370,446 - L -
New Zealand * 350,938 — ) — 350,938
Australia ** 113,793 — - 113,793
New York 75,133 75,133 - —
Total Timber Acres 2,603,387 1,891,233 247,423 464,731
Real Estate ... ............ Southeast U.S. - 40,090 40,090 — -
Leased Timberlands-Held For Sale ) - . 371725 —_ . 37,725 —
e Total Timberland and Real Estate Acres 2,681,202 ],_931,323 285,148 + - 464,731
} _ . ‘ Capacity/Fanction ‘ OwnedILeased 5
Performance Fibers ........ ~ Jesup, Georgia - 590,000 metric tons of pulp Owned
Fernandina Beach, Florida 150,000 metric tons of pulp Owned
_ Jesup, Georgia - Research Facility Owned
Wood Products*** ... .., Baxley, Géorgia C "180 million board feet of lumber Owned )
Swainsboro, Georgia 120 million board feet of lumber Owned
Eatonton, Georgia . " 90 million board feet of lumber- Owned
Corporate and Other ....... Jacksonville, FL K Corporate Headquarters Leased

*  Acres under Rayomer managemem owned by the New Zealand JV {Rayonmier owns a 40 percent interest).

*k Acres under Rayonier matiagement.

#4% These locations also have a combined annual capacnty of approximately 750,000 tons of wood ChlpS for pulp and paper
manufacturing.

Our manufactunng' facilities are maintained through ongoing capital investments, regular maintenance and equipment
upgrades. During 2006, our manufacturing famlmes generally produced at planned capacity levels and there were no unplanned

malcnal 1d1e times.

We also own a wood fiber facility in Jarratt Vlrgmla which has an annual capacity of 250, 000 short green tons of chips. In
January 2007, we purchased wood fiber facilities in Eastman, GA, Bamesv1lle GA and Offerman, GA, with the capacity to
produce 2.3 million short green tons of wood chips.

In addition, our wholly-owned subsidiary, SWP, which ceased operations in 1989 except for environmental remedial
activities, owns 864 acres of land

Item3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are engaged in various legal actions, including certain environmental proceedings that are discussed more fully in
Note 15 — Reserves for Dispositions and Discontinued Operations and Note 16 — Contingencies.

The Company has been named as a defendant in various other lawsuits and claims arising in the normal course of business.
While we have procured reasonable and customary insurance covering risks normally occurring in connection with our
businesses, we have in certain cases retained some risk through the operation of self-insurance, primarily in the areas of workers
compensation, property insurance, and general liability. In our opinion, these other lawsuits and claims, either individually or in
the aggregate, are not expected to have a material effect on our financial position, results of operations, or cash flow,

Item4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS
No matter was submitted to a vote of security holders of Rayonier during the fourth quarter of 2006,

Item 4A. EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF RAYONIER

W. Lee Nutter, 63, Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer—Mr. Nutter joined Rayonier in 1967 in the
Northwest Forest Operations and was named Vice President, Timber and Wood in 1984, Vice President, Forest Products in
1985, Senior Vice President, Qperations in 1986 and Executive Vice President in 1987. He was elected President and Chief




Operating Officer and a director of Rayonier in 1996 and to his current position effective January 1999. Mr. Nutter serves on the
Board of Directors of Republic Services, Inc. and the J. M. Huber Corporation, a privately-held diversified supplier of
engineered materials, natural resources and technology services. Mr. Nutter also serves on the Board of Directors of the
National Council for Air and Stream Improvement and the American Forest and Paper Association. He is also a member of the
North Florida Regional Board of SunTrust Bank. Mr. Nutter holds a B.A. in Businéss' Administration from the University of
Washington and graduated from the Harvard University Graduate School of Business Advanced Management Program.

‘Paul G. Boynton, 42, Senior Vice President, Performance Fibers—Mr. Btgynton jdined Rayonier in 1999 as Director,
Specialty Pulp Marketing and Sales. He was clected Vice President, Performance Fibers Marketing and Sales in October 1999,
Vice President, Performance Fibers in January 2002, and to his cusrent position effective July 2002. Prior to joining Rayonier,
he held positions with 3M Corporation from 1990 to 1999, most recently as Global Brand Manager, 3M Home Care Division
(global manufacturer and marketer of cleaning tool products). He holds a B.S.:in mechanical engineering from lowa State
University, an M.B.A. from the University of lowa, and graduated from the Harvard University Graduate School of Business
Advanced Management Program. :

Timothy H. Brannon, 59, Senior Vice President, Forest Resources and Wood Products—Mr. Brannon joined Rayonier in
1972 at its Southern Wood Piedmont subsidiary (SWP). He was named Vice President and Chief Operating Officer of SWP in
1983 and President in 1992. Mr. Brannon was elected Rayonier’s Vice President and Director, Performance Fibers Marketing
and Sales in 1994, Vice President, Asia Pacific and Managing Director, Rayonier New Zealand in 1998 and to his current
position effective March 2002. He holds a B.A. in psychology from Tulane University and graduated from the Harvard
University Graduate School of Business Advanced Management Program.

W. Edwin Frazier, III, 49, Senior Vice President, Administration and Corpo“rate Secretary—Mr, Frazier was ‘promoted 1o
his corrent position in July 2004. He joined Rayonier in 1999 as Assistant General Counsel, was promoted to Associate General
Counsel in 2000 and elected Corporate Secretary in 2001. Mr. Frazier was named Vice President Governance and Corporate
Secretary in 2003. From 1991 to 1999, Mr. Frazier was with the legal department of Georgia-Pacific Corporation (a global
manufacturer and marketer of tissue, packaging, paper, building products and related chemicals), last serving as Chief Counsel —
Corporate. Prior to that, he practiced corporate law with Troutman Sanders in Atlanta, Mr. Frazier holds a B.S. in Business
Administration from the University of Tennessee, a J.D. from Emory University and graduated from the Harvard University
Graduate School of Business Advanced Management Program. f

Hans E. Vanden Noort, 48, Senior Vice President and Chief Accounting Officer—Mr. Vanden Noort joined Rayonier as
Corporate Controller in 2001, and was elected to his current position in August 2005. Prior to joining Rayonier, he held a
number of senior management positions with Baker Process, a division of Baker Hughes, Inc. (manufacturer of oilfield service
equipment and supplies), most recently as Vice President of Finance and Administration. Prior to that, he was with the public
accounting firm of Ernst & Young. Mr. Vanden Noort holds a B.B.A. in accoupting from the University of Cincinnati, an
M.B.A. from the University of Michigan and is a Certified Public Accountant. ‘

Carl E. Kraus, 59, Senior Vice President, Finance and Chief Investment Officer of TerraPointe LL.C—MTr. Kraus joined
Rayonier in 2005, and was elected to his current position in October 2005. Prior to joining Rayonier, he served as Senior Vice
President, Chief Financial and Investment Officer and Treasurer of Kramont Realt§ Trust (a shopping center REIT) from 2002
until it was acquired in 2005 and as Chief Financial Officer for Philips International Realty Corp. (a shopping center REIT)
from 1999 to 2002. Mr. Kraus graduated from Temple University and is a Certified Public Accountant.

Michae! R. Herman, 44, Vice President, General Counsel and Assistant Secretary—Mr. Herman joined Rayonier in 2003
as Vice President and General Counsel and was elected to his current position in October 2003. Prior to joining Rayonier, he
served as Vice President and General Counsel of GenTek Inc. (a publicly-traded global manufacturing conglomerate) and in
other positions in GenTek’s Jegal department from 1992 to August 2003. GenTek Inc. filed a voluntary petition for protection
under Chapter 11 of the Federal Bankruptcy Code in the Bankruptcy Court for the District of Delaware in October of 2002, and
the Bankruptcy Court approved a plan of reorganization for GenTek in November 2003 which resulted in GenTek's emergence
from bankruptcy. Mr. Herman was previously counsel to IBM’s Integrated Systems Solutions Corporation and an associate with
the law firm of Shearman & Sterling. He holds a B.A. in Economics and English from Binghamton University and a J.D. from
St. John’s University School of Law. !

Charles Mai‘giotta, 54, Senior Vice President, Business Development and President of TerraPointe LLC—Mr. Margiotta
joined Rayonier in 1976, was.named Managing Director, Rayonier New Zealand in 1992, Vice President, Forest & Wood
Products in 1997, Vice President, Corporate Development & Strategic Planning in 1998 and was elected to his current position
in May 2005. Mr. Margiotta holds a B.B.A. from Pace University and graduated from the Harvard University Graduate School
of Business Advanced Management Program. .
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o PARTII -
Ttem 5. MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
_ AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES
Market Prices of our Common Shares; Dividends

The table below reflects the range of market prices of our Common Shares as reported in the consolidated transaction
reporting system of the New York Stock Exchange, the only exchange on which our shares are listed, under the trading symbol
RYN. Amounts shown below for 2005 have beén restated for the October 17, 2005 three-for-two stock split.

2006 - - - . High Low  Dividends
Fourth Quarter .. ........ 00 . . i S R, $42.19 $37.68 $0.47
Thitd QUARET - . ..o rre el e [T | $4078 $3645  $0.47
Second QUAMET . ...\ vt e P $47.50 $36.15  $0.47
oSt QUAN O . . .ottt e e e $46.07 $39.70 $0.47

2005 * ‘ : .

Fourth QUAaTter .. .. ... .t e e ... $41.68 $34.00 $0.47
Third Quarter ......... e $38.65 $34.79. $0.41
Second QUarter .. .. .. ... . e $36.67 $32.27 $0.41
FirstQuarter .. ................. ... T $33.97 $29.01 $0.41

For information about covenants in our credit facility that could restrict our ability to pay cash dividends in the future, see
Item 7 — Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Ligquidity and Capital
Resources — Liquidity Facilities.

On February 27, 2007, the Company announced a first quarter dividend of 47 cents per share payable March 30, 2007, to
shareholders of record on March 9, 2007.

There were approximately 11,613 shareholders of record of our Common Shares on February 19, 2007.

Sales of Unregistered Securities

Periodically, we issue shares of our common stock to each of our non-management directors as part of their compensation,
These shares are not registered and must be sold in reliance on an exemption from the Securities Act of 1933.

Issuer Repurchases -

In 1996, we began a Common Share repurchase program to miinimize the dilutive effect on earnings per share of our
employee incentive stock plans. This program limits the number of shares that may be purchased each year to the greater of 1.5
percent of putstanding shares at the beginning of the year or the number of incentive shares issued to employees during the year.
In October 2000 and July 2003, our Board of Directors authorized the purchase of additional shares totaling 1.4 million. These
shares were authorized separately from the 1,5 percent of outstanding shares anti-dilutive program, neither of which have
expiration dates. No shares under these repurchase plans or otherwise were repurchased in 2005 or 2004. Below is a summary of
shares authorized for repurchase at December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004: .

2006 2005 2004
Shares authorized for repurchase . ............ e 2,444 227 2,066,763 2,052,375

The following table provideé information with respect to share repurchases by the Company during the fiscal fourth quarter
of 2006. I '

) Maximum Number (or
’ Approximate Dollar
Total ©  Average Total Number of Shares Value) of Shares
Numberof  Price | Purchased as Part of that May Yet be
Shares Paid per Publicly Announced Purchased Under the
Fiscal Month : Purchased  Share Plans or Programs Plans or Programs
October 1,2006 to October 31,2006 .. ... ... o, — $ — — ' —
November 1, 2006 to November 30,2006 ................ _ $ — — —_
December 1, 2006 to December 31,2006 ................ 818  $41.52 —_ —
Total ... e 818 — —

*  The Company awarded 818 shares of restricted stock to a member of its Board of Directors on December &, 2006.




Stock Performance Graph , .

e Thls table compares the performance from 2001 2006 of Common Shares (assuming reinvestment of dividends) with a
broad based market index (Standard & Poor’s 500), and two industry-specific indices (the Standard & Poor’s SuperComposite
Paper and Forest Products Index and the National Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts (“NAREIT") Equity REIT
Index) - - f

.The followmg Performance’ Graph and related information shall not be deemed to be “filed” with the Securities and
Exchange Commission, nor shall such information be incorporated by reference mlo any future filing under the Securities Act
of 1933 or Securities Exchange Act of 1934, each as amended, except to the extent that the Company specifically mcorporates it
by reference mto such filing.

CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN
Based upon an initial investment of $100 on December 31, 2001
with dividends reinvested | ' <
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—{— Rayonier Inc. —-£--- S&P° Super Composite :Paper & Forest Products Index
5 —(— 5&P 500® — & — NAREIT Equity REIT 1 '

| Déc-ﬂl Dec-02 Dec-03 Dec-04 Dec-05 Dec-06

Rayonier INC. . . ..o ouu et i e $100 $ 92 $155 $192 $247 $266
Q&P 500 e $100 $ 78 5100 $111 $117 5135
S&P® SuperComposite Paper & Forest Products Index .................. $100 . $ 86 $118 $131 $126- $133

NAREITEqmty REIT ...ovvoieeininns e $100 $104 $142 $187 $210. $284




Item 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following historical financial data for each of the five years in the period ended December 31, 2006 is derived from,
and should be read in conjunction with, our Consolidated Financial Statements.

Year Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004 2003 2002
(dollar amounts in millions, except per share data)
Profitability . )
Sales(l) ..o e e S 1,230 S 1,181 3 1,163 $ 1,060 $ 1,080
Operating income before gain on sale of New Zealand .
timber assets(l) ... ... .t e e 222 183 173 106 130

Operating income(l) ... ... . ottt e, ) -230 220 173 106 130
Provision for dispositions(2) ............. ... i, —_— 3) — —_ 3)
Income from continuing operations(9) ................ ... ........ 171 208 160 53 54
Netincome . ......... .. iiuini i it 176 183 157 50 54
Income from continuing operattons:

Per share — Diluted(3) .. ............ e 2.19 2.68 209 082 0.85

Pershare — Basic(3) .. ... .o it i it e 2.23 2.75 2,15 0.84 0.86
Net income .

Pershare — Diluted{3) . ... ... ... .0 2.26 2.36 2.05 0.77 0.86

Pershare — Basic(3) ... .ot i i i i s 2.30 242 2.11 Q.79 0.87
Financial Condition: A .
Total a8sets ... ... .. e $ 1,963 § 1,839 § 1944 § 1840 $ 1,889
Total debt ... .. oo e 659 559 659 618 653
Bookvalue ... ...t i e e 916 892 803 711 710
Book value —pershare(3) .............. ... oo 11.61 11.72 10.72 967 . 1138
Cash Flow:
Cash provided by operating activities ............. e $§ 307 $§ 254 $ 292 § 200 $ 246
Cash used for investing activities ... ............................ (385) (24) (179) . (90) (76)
Cash used for financing activities . .. .............. ... iieeennnn 30 (216) (52) (115) (242)
Capital expenditures, net ............uierrmnnriiiiiiieenaa, 105 85 88 84 77
Purchase of timberlands and realestate .......................... 299 24 89 — —
Depreciation, depletion and amortization . .. ...................... 136 147 146 151 158
Cash dividends paid(4) .................... U 144 129 111 105 40
Non-GAAP Financial Measures:(5)
EBITDA(G) . oo ettt ettt e e e $ 366 $ 378 $ 319 § 259 § 294
Adjusted cash available for distribution(7) ....................... 175 165 132 104 82
DebttoEBITDA .. .. ............. e AP 1.8l 15wl 21tol 2410l 221
Performance Ratios(%):
Operating income tosales .. ... ... ... oot i i _ 19 19 15 10 12
Return onequity(8) .. ... ..coiriiii i 19 25 21 7 8
Return on capital(8) ............ A P 11 14 11 4 4
Debttocapital . ... . ... .ot 42 39 45 47 - 48
Other:
Timberland and real estate acres — owned, leased, or managed, ' I

inthousands of aCTes . .. ... i ittt i e e 2,681 2473 2,155 2,107 2,151

Dividends paid —pershare ................c.cviiiiiiiiiiaanns $ 188 3§ 171 $ 149 § 3562 $ 064




. Year_Ended December 31, ) .
2006 2005 2004 2003 2002
Selected Operating Data: '
Tlmber , . -
- Timber sales volume . o | . _
' Northwest U.S. — in millions of board feet ... oo 274 . 263 285: 225 252
iSoutheast U.S. — in thousands of short greentons ................ 4740 - 4,832 4,291 4,524: 4,881
- New Zealand — in thousands of metnc tons* L N/A - 464 -646 632 805
‘i . .
Real Estate —_— acres sold ................... [ 26,251 30,026, 35906 40,595 44,256
Performance Fibers !
Sales volume-(thousands of metric tons) c .o T S - , .
Cellulose Specialties ............looe i - 474 470 - 453 435 ¢« 435
"Absorbent MAterials . . ... ..iuete i) e 7 276 266 273 27
Productlon as a percent | of Capacity ...... ... e T101% " 100% 9% - 97% 99%
Wood Products , ' ' c
. Lumber sales volume —in rmlllons of board feet ................... 350 351 < 347 310 325
Geographlcal Data (Non U.s.) o ’ ‘
Sales ‘ * .
New Zealand ... oottt $ !33 8. 49 $. 50 $ 45 $° 49
Other .. .. e e L - .15 10 . 26 12 4]
TOML oo eieee e e $..48 35 598 76 % 578 9%
Operating Income (Loss) v ' o
U NewZealand ...l e $ (S s 53 7 8 9
11, 7=, PR A AP - —_ — ) 2
e P $ 'M$ 18 5§ 6% 1
Timber
Sales | ) . .
Northwest U.S. .. .. i e ee e e iaaas $. 109 § 99 % 8l § 58 % 65
Southeast U.S. ... ..ot et 88 86 77 75 86
NewZealand * ..... ... .10 23 28 20 21
TOtal o« ittt e et $ 207 $ 208 $ 186 $ 153 § 172
Operating Income (Loss) ! t
Northwest U.S. ...t i eee $ 60 % 55 8 42 5 27 % 44
Southeast U.S. ... o i e e 31 30 24 20 27
New Zealand . .. .ooivuurtneetenaanree e eean 1y 2 6 5 5
5 ) [ S PN $ 90 $ 87 % 128 52 % 76
- . s 1 . : [ ‘E . -
EBITDA(I0) ' ; , _
BT GO T $ 1428 $ 1469 §$ 1282 $ 1085 $ 1375
Real BSHALE . ..o\ttt ittt itrie e et hee e ine e snnens 90.6 68.1 . 797 96.3 61.4
Performance Fibers . .........iv i inirnaenneiliaas 152.7 129.9 125.1 77.6 118.1
Wood Products . .7 s e e e e 4.1 23.5 223 74 (2.8)
Other Operations ............... . ccoiiiiiiiiiannnn. 1.9 RE 6.9 0.2 2.4)
Corporate and other** ... ... ... . ... (2616) : 7.9 (43.6) (31.4) (18.3)
TOML « .o v v e e e 5 $377.9

$ 3186 $ 2586 § 2935

* 2006 reflects sales through October 4, 2005 prior to the JV formation.

* %

Corporate and other includes a $7.8 million gain from partial sale of JV mvestment (2006) and a $37 million gain from the
sale of New Zealand timberlands (2005). - b, :

(l) On August 28, 2005 we sold our MDF business. MDF results have been rcclassnﬁed to dlscommued operatlons
(2) Primarily related to environmental reserves for the closed Port Angeles WA mlll

e




(3) Restated to reflect the October 17, 2005 and June 12, 2003 three-for-two stock splits.

(4) 2003 includes regular dividends of $44 million and a special cash dividend of $61 million that was made as part of a
required accumulated eamings and profits distribution in connection with the Company’s conversion to a REIT on
January 1, 2004. )

(5) This information includes two measures of financial results: Earnings from Continuing Operations before Interest, Taxes,
Depreciation, Depletion and Amortization (EBITDA) and Adjusted Cash Available for Distribution (Adjusted CAD).
These measures are not defined by Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) and the discussion of EBITDA and
Adjusted CAD is not intended to conflict with or change any of the GAAP disclosures included in this table. Management
‘considers these measures to be important to estimate the enterprise and shareholder values of the Company as a whole and
of its core segments, and for allocating capital resources. In addition, analysts, investors and creditors use these measures
when analyzing our financial condition and cash generating ability. EBITDA is defined by the Securities and Exchange
Commission; however, Adjusted CAD as defined may not be comparable to similarly titled measures reported by other
companies.

(6) EBITDA is defined as earnings from continuing operations before interest, taxes, depreciation, depletion and amortlzanon
EBITDA is a non-GAAP measure of the operating cash generating capacity of the Company. See table in Item 7 —
Management’s Discussion and Analysis for a reconciliation of Cash Provided by Operating Activities to EBITDA.

(7 Adjusted Cash Available for Distribution (Adjusted CAD) is defined as Cash Provided by Operating Activities less capital
spending, adjusted for equity based compensation adjustment amounts, tax benefits associated with certain strategic
acquisitions, changes in committed cash, mandatory debt repayments and proceeds from matured energy forward contracts.
Adjusted CAD is a non-GAAP measure of cash generated during a period that is available for dividend distribution,
repurchase of the Company’s commen shares, debt reduction and for strategic acquisitions net of associated financing. See
table in Item 7 — Management's Discussion and Analysis for a reconciliation of Cash Provided by Operating ACUVItleS o
Adjusted CAD.

(8) Return on equity is calculated by dmdmg income from continuing operations by the average of the opening (1/1/XX) and
ending (12/31/XX) shareholders’ equity for each period presented. Return on capital is calculated by dividing income from
continuing operations by the sum of average shareholders’ equity and average outstanding debt.

(9) Included in the calculation of income from continuing operations are certain items that are infrequent in occurrence and
are, in the eyes of management, important to understand the financial performance or liquidity of the Company in the
comparative annual periods being reported. These “items of interest” and their effect on 1ncome from continuing operations
for the periods presented were as follows:

Increase/(decrease) to Income
from Continuing Operations for the

Year Ended December 31,

Items of Interest, net of tax 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002
Gain on sale of New Zealand assets(a) ... .. ..o veeeen s $6.4 %305 % — §$ — §$ —
Prior years IRS audit seitlements mcludmg resulting adjustments to accrued

interest and deferred taxes(b) .. ... ... S 90 249 —_ 2.3 —
Property tax settlement(c) ........... .. i 3.1 —_ — — —
Tax benefit on repatriated earnings(d} ........... ... cccoviiii.... — 254 — — —
Arbitration award(e) ......... it i e PN —_ 52 —_ -_ —_
Dispositionreserve(f) ........... i e —_ (1.9 — — . (17
Reversal of deferred tax{g) ........... ... . oo, — — 719 —_ —
U.S. tax on undistributed foreign earnings(h) ........................... — — (28.2) — —
REIT @XPENSE() ... .voetreet ettt ettt — — @0 G —_
Northwest US harvest delay()) ......... ..o i - —_ 27 2.7 —
Tax benefit on loan settlements(k) . ....... ... . . ...t — — — 36 , 20

{a) In 2005, we sold our New Zealand timber assets to the JV as part of its formation and, in 2006, we sold a portion of
our interest in the New Zealand JV.

(b} Tax benefits from the favorable resolution of tax audits for prior years and related interest.

(c) Reversal of prior years Jesup Mill property tax accruals due to settlement.

(d) Lower U.S. tax benefit related to the repatriation of undistributed foreign earnings.

(e} Gain from an arbitration award related to the sharing of insurance proceeds by our former parent company.

(f) Primarily related to an environmental reserve for the closed Port Angeles, WA mill.

{g) Reversal of timber-related deferred taxes not required after REIT conversion.

(h) Additionat U.S. tax for eventual repatriation of undistributed foreign earnings generated prior to March 31, 2004.

(i) REIT conversion expenses.

(j) Delayed harvest and revenue recognition in the Northwest U.S., resulting from change from lump-sum to pay-as-cut
contracts in anticipation of converting to a REIT.

(k) Tax benefit on foreign exchange loss related to settlement of New Zéaland dollar denominated intercompany loans.

(10) EBITDA by segment is a critical valuation measure used by the Chief Operating Decision Maker, existing shareholders
and potential shareholders to measure how management is performing relative to the assets with which they have been
entrusted. The tables below reconcile Cash Provided by Operating Activities from Continuing Operations by segment to
EBITDA by segment for the five years ended December 31, 2006.




Reconciliation of Cash Provided by Operating Activities from Continuing

Operations by Segment to EBITDA by Segment
(Dollars in Millions) , .
‘ . ‘ Corporate
Real Performance Wood and
Timber Estate* Fibers Products Other  Eliminations  Total
Cash provided by operating activities ............. $158.3 $103.0 $1273  $56 $136 $(100.9) $306.9
Less Non-cash cost basis of real estate sold ........ —  (12.3) :—— — L 0. — (12.4)
Add! Income tax EXPENSE . .o vttty —_ - —_ = — 19.1 19.1
Gain on sale of portion of New Zealand JV . — L — —_ . — — 7.8 7.8
Interest, net ..., —_ —_ — — —_ 39.1 39.1
Working capital (decreases) increases ........ (11.8) 02 ., 246 . (L5 (10.5) 3.3) (2.3)
Other balance sheetchanges ................ 3.7 . (03 - 0.8 — (1.) 11.6 7.3
EBITDA .. it i e e i e $142.8 $ 90.6 $152.7 $41 § 19 3 (266) $3655
2005 - Y
Cash provided by operating activities ............. $164.8 $ 80.8 $1324  $223 § (4.6) $(141.6) $254.
Less: Non-cash cost basis of real estate sold ........ — (LD - —  (0.8) — (11.8)
‘Income tax benefit . ....................... , — _ _ C— —_ (16.9) (16.9)
Add: Gain on New Zealand timberland sale ........ — —_ -+ — — . 369 36.9
‘Interest,met . ..., .. Sl — — — — — 38.8 38.8
-Working capital (decreases) increases ........ 3.6) 496 (2.74) .12 5.5 10.8 16.4
Other balance sheetchanges ................ (14.3) (6.6) 0.1) — 1.5 79.9 60.4
EBITDA ... i e 51469 3 68.1 $1299 $235 $ 16 % 79 33779
2004 ‘ : i
Cash provided by operating activities ............. $126.2 $ 839 - 51258 $226 $17.8 % (84.0) 32923
Less: Non-cash cost basis of real estate sotd . ....... —  {10.5) — — 0.5 - _ (11.0)
Incometax benefit ...........covvvnrnn.. S — L= —_ —_— (33.6) (33.6)
Add: Interest,net ........c i — —_ - —_ — C - 44.1 44.1
Working capital (decreases) increases ........ (6.4) 3s (2.6) 0.3) (9.8) 21.8) (37.4)
Other balance sheetchanges . ............... 8.4 2.8 1.9 — (0.6) 51.7 64.2
EBITDA ... .. i i it i iieaeaees $128.2. %3 79.7 $125.1 $223° % 69 § (436) 33186
2003 : , . -
Cash provided by operating activities ............. $128.2 $1025 $ 733 $52 $ — $(1079) 32013
Less: Non-cash cost basis of real'estate sold . ....... — (3.5 — — 0.4) — (5.9
Add: Incometaxexpense ...............c.000uenn. — — — — — 6.1 6.1
Interest,met ....... ... —_ — — — — 46.0 46.0
Working capital (decreases) increases ........ (16.2) 0.7 34 1.9 1.9 29.3 19.6
Other balance sheet changes ................ (3.5) —_ 09 0.3 (1.3) 4.9) (8.5)
15137 4 I 1 N $1085 $963 - $776 $74 $ 02 $ (314) $2586
2002 ) | T '
Cash provided by operating activities ............. $1379 § 723 5t IS.Q $(3.9) $11.1 '$ (89.5) $2459
Less: Non-cash cost basis of real estate sold ........ — (1L — —_ (2.6) — (3.7
Add: Income tax expense .. ......... ... . — — —_ — —_ 15.7. - 157
INEETESt, B .\ v oo vr s v e einee e S — — — — 59.8 59.8
Working capital increases (decreases) ........ . 2.8 0.2 (12.7) 0.1 (7.8) 79 (9.5)
Other balance sheetchanges ................ 32y — 12.8 1.0 - (G.0). (12.2) 4.7

EBITDA ... $1375 $ 614  S$118.1 $(2.8) . % (24) § (183) 35293.5

*  Real Estate became a reportable segment in 2005.




Item7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS . e

Executive Summary B i

Our revenues, operating income and cash flows are primarily derived from three core business segments: Timber, Real
Estate and Performance Fibers. We own or lease (under long-term.agreements) approximately 2.2 million acres of timberland
and real estate in Georgia, Florida, Alabama, Oklahoma, Arkansas, Texas, Louisiana New York, Alabama and Washington and
we believe we are the fifth largest private landowner in the United States. In addition, we have a 40 percent interest in a
New Zealand JV which owns or leases approximately 351,000 acres of timberland, which we manage. In addition, we manage
114,000 acres of timberlands in Australia; Our Real Estate business seeks to maximize the value of those properties which are
more valuable for development, recreational or conservation uses than for growing timber. OQur Performance Fibers business has
been a supplier of premier cellulose specialty grades of pulp for more than eighty years. )

We have consistently producéd strong cash flows and operating results by focusing on the following critical financial
measures: segment operating income and EBITDA, adjusted cash available for distribution, debt to EBITDA ratio, debt to
capital ratio, return on equity, return on fair market value (Timber and Real Estate) and return on capital employed
(Performance Fibers). In addition to these financial measures, we also focus on cash available for distribution, in total and cn a
per-share basis. Key non-financial measures include safety and environmental performance quality, producuon as a percent of
capacity and various yield statistics.

Our focus is on maximizing returns for shareholders and generating consistently strong cash flows. As a REIT, we have
become more competitive in pursuing timberland acquisitions to further grow the Company and acquired 228,000 acres of
timberlands in 2006. Also in 2006, we increased our annual dividend paid per share to $1.88 per share, a 10 percent increase
over 2003, -Our 2007 dividend payments are expected to increase from $144 million to $146 million, assuming no change in the
2006 rate of $1.88 per share.

Since 1999, we have used cash flow to reduce debt -by’ approximately $500 million, resulting in a current debt-to-capital
ratio of 42 percent. We believe that a debt-to-EBITDA ratio of up to three times is appropriate to keep our weighted average
cost of capital low while maintaining an investment grade debt rating as well as retaining: the flexibility to actively pursue
growth opportunities primarily in timber but also to some extent in real estate. Accordingly, we do not expect to significantly
reduce debt in 2007 and, in connection with appropriate growth opportunities, may incur additional debt that causes us to
exceed the debt-to-capital range mentioned above. -

Operational Strategies

Timber is sold primarily through an auction process, although in the Northwest U.S. it is also marketed through log supply

‘agreements. We operate Timber as a stand-alone business, requiring our mills and trading groups to compete with third-party

bidders for timber at auction. This promotes realizing market value, generating a true measure of fair value returns in Timber

_and minimizing the pOSSlb]llty of our manufacturing facilities being subsidized with below-market cost wood. We also focus on

optimizing timber returns by continuaily improving productivity and yields through advanced silvicultural prawces which take
into account soil, climate and biological considerations.

A significant portion of our acreage has become, or is emerging as, more valuable for development, recreational or
conservation purposes than for growing timber. To maximize the value of those properties, we changed our strategy from selling
real estate in bulk to engaging in value-added development activities for these properties. In 2005, we established a real estate
subsidiary, TerraPointe LLC, to lead these development activities. In 2006 we entered our first “participation” agreements with
two premier development partners, under which we retain an interest in development-related revenues from the properties.

In Performance Fibers, the focus has been to improve our position as a premier supplier of cellulose specialties while
reducing participation in the more commodity-oriented absorbent materials (primarily fluff pulp) market. We are a market
leader in cellulose specialties, utilizing our considerable technical applications expertise to customize product to exacting
specifications, which allows differentiation from most other competitors. Conversely, fluff pulp is a semi-commodity with little

-opportunity for differentiation other than by price, although we do explore ways to enhance the value of these fibers. Thére are a

number of much larger companies in the fluff pulp market and we are not a market leader. We have been successful in
executing a strategy of shifting production from absorbent materials to cellulose specialties. In 2006, 64 percent of sales volume
was cellulose specialties, versus 61 percent in 2003. Since a further significant shift of volume to cellulose specialties will be
operationally limited, our focus will be on improving the product mix within cellulose specialties.

Cost control is a critical element to remaining competitive in the Performance Fibers markets. The keys to success are
operating continuously, safely, and efficiently while closely managing raw materials and conversion costs. Capital expenditures




typically are directed toward cost reduction, product enhancements and efficiency projects. We historically have used a
significant amount of fossil fuels to operate our mills. With the surge in energy prices we initiated a number of capital projects
to reduce fossil fuel consumption, including a recently completed power boiler replacement which is expected to consume
primarily wood waste and significantty reduce oil usage. These projects resulted in 2006 capital expenditures above our
historical $85 million to $90 million range. We expect capital expenditures (excluding strategic acquisitions) to range from $90
mjllion to $95 miltion in 2007.

1
. Industry and Marker Condmons 1
Timber markets softened in the last half of 2006 after three years of steady increases. This softening was caused by the
declmmg demand for lumber due to considerably weakened housing and construcnon markets. Lumber prices hit fourteen-year
lows before settling at levels 25 percent below year-end 2005. )

Our Southeast U.S: HBU properties have consistently generated strong interest which continued in early 2006, but then
declined somewhat with the weakness in the housing market.

In Performance Fibers, cellulose specialties’ market demand remains strong. Sales are typically made under one to five
year,contracts which establish prices and target volumes at the beginning of the year and buffer some of the changes in supply
and demand typically seen in worldwide commodity pulp and paper markets. In 2006, we secured long-term contracts for 80
percent of our high-value cellulose specialties production into 2011. Our recognized technical and market leadership has
allowed us to maintain relatively stable pricing across our cellulose specialties product lines. In 2003, International Paper closed
its Natchez, Mississippi mill, a major cellulose specialties competitor, taking approximately 260,000 tons of capacity out of the
market. In 2006, Weyerhaeuser closed its 155,000 metric ton cellulose specialty mill located in Casmopolis, Washington. These
closures were the primary drivers of 2005 and 2006 price and volume increases in cellulose specialties. Weyerhaeuser has since
announced a potential sale of the Cosmopolis mill, which could come back on-lin¢ in 2007. Additionally, we expect capacity to
come on-line from competitors in the Southern hemisphere sometime in 2008 and 2009,

. : o |
Over the past three years, absorbent materials industry capacity has met demand resulting in a relatively small pricing
range. However, absorbent materials prices strengthened in 2006, consistent with the commodity paper pulp market, while
volumes also improved. Sales of absorbent materials are typically made with an annual volume agreement that allows price to
move with the market during the year. !

4

Critical Accounting Policies and Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements requires us to make estimates, assumpuons and judgments that affect the assets,
liabilities, revenues and expenses, and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities, reported in our Annual Report on Form
10-K. We base these é§timates and assumptions on historical data and trends, currem fact patterns, expectations and other
sources of information we believe are reasonable. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different condmons

Merchantable inventory and depletion costs as determined by forestry timber harvest models

Significant assumptions and estimates are used in the recording of timberland inventory cost and depletion. We employ a
forestry technical services group at each of our timberland management locations. Merchantable standing timber inventory is
estimated annually, using industry-standard computer software. The inventory calculation takes into account growth, in-growth
(annual transfer of oldest pre-merchantable age class into merchantable inventory), timberland sales and the annual harvest
specific to each business unit. The age at which timber is considered merchantable is reviewed periodically and updated for
changing harvest practices, future harvest age profiles and biological growth factoirs An annual depletion rate is established at
each bugmess unit for its particular regions by dividing merchantable inventory book cost by standing merchantable inventory.
Pre-merchantable records are maintained for each planted year age class, recording acres planted, stems per acre, and costs of
planting and tending. Changes in the assumptions and/or estimations used in these calculations may affect our results, in
particular, timber inventory and depletion costs. Factors that can impact timber volume include weather changes, losses due to
natural causes, differences in actual versus estimated growth rates and changes in the age when timber is considered
merchantable. A 3 percent company-wide change in estimated standing merchantable inventory would cause 2006 depletion
expense to change by approximately $1.5 million. :

During the fourth quarter of 2006, Rayonier acquired approximately 228,000 acres of timberland located in six states
resulting in a higher depletion rate which increased depletion-expense by approximately $0.4 million. It is anticipated that the
full year 2007 impact will increase depletion expense by approximately $17.7 miilion.




Effective January 1, 2007, Rayonier’s Northwest timber business unit decreased. the age at which it. moves timber into its
merchantable timber pool from 41 to 35 years. This change added 338 million board feet (36 percent).of timber to the
merchantable pool. The anticipated impact of this change on the 2007 depletion expense is an increase of $0.5.million.

Depreciation and impairment of long-lived assets : et T I ;

Depreciation expense is computed using the units-of-production method for the Performance Fibers plants'and equipment
and the straight-line method on all other property, plant and equipment over the useful economic lives of the assets involved.
We belicve that these depreciation methods are the most appropriate under the circumstances as they most closely match
revenues with expenses versus other generally accepted accounting methods. Long-lived assets are periodically reviewed for
impairment whenever events or cnrcumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Cash flows
used in such impairment analyses are based on budgeted projections, which take into account recent sales and cost data as well
as macroeconomic drivers including customer demand, industry capacity and foreign exchange rates. The physical life of
equipment, however, may be shortened by economic obsolescence caused by environmental regulation, competition and other
causes. .

Environmental costs associated with dispositions and discontinued operations

At December 31, 2006, we had $123 million of accrued liabilities for eénvironmental costs relating to past dispositions -and
discontinued operations, which is expected to be spent over the next 20 years. See Note 15 — Reserves for Dispositions and
Discontinued Operations for additional information. Significant estimates'are used in determining the ‘proper value of these
obligations at a given point in time, especially due to their long-term nature. Typically,’ these cost estimates do not vary
significantly on a quarter to quarter basis. Factors affecting these estimates include, but are not limited to, technological and
regulatory changes, results from ongoing work and management’s judgment. We periodically review our environmental
liabilities and also engage third party consultants to assess the extent of additional work required due to changes in applicable
law and new technologies potentially affecting the remediation of contaminated sites. A material change in any of the estimates
could have a favorable or unfavorable effect on the results of our operations. The most recent material change in estimate
occurred in 2006, when reserves were decreased by $8 million primarily due to revised esnmates of remedlatlon costs requlred
at our Southern Wood Piedmont sites.

Expenditures for all such environmental costs totaled $10 million in 2006 and are expected to increase to $11 million in
2007, primarily as a result of increased spending required at our Port Angeles, Washington former mill site. Annual
expenditures in 2008 and 2009 are expected to be approximately $11 million and $7 million, respectively.

Determining the adequacy of pension assets and liabilities

We have four qualified benefit plans which cover substantlaliy our entire U.S. workforce and an unfunded plan to provide
benefits in excess of amounts allowable under current tax law to. pamcnpants in the qualified plans Pension expense for all plans
was $12 million in 2006. Numerous estimates,and assumptions are required to determine the proper amount of pension and
postretirement liabilities and annual expense to record in our financial statements. The key assumptions include discount rate,
return on assets, salary increases, health care cost trends, mortality rates, longevity and service lives of employees. Although
there is authoritative guidance on how to select most of these assumptions, management and actuaries exercise some degree of
Jjudgment when selecting these assumptions. Different assumptions, as well as actual versus expected results, would change the
periodic benefit cost and funded status of the benefit plans recognized m the financial statements.

In determining pension expense in 2006, a $16.6 million return was assumed based on an expected long-term rate of return
of 8.5 percent. The actual return for 2006 was $30.8 million or 14.9 percent. This 10ng ierm return assumption was established
based on historical long-term rates of return on broad equity and bond indices, discussions with our actuary and investment
advisors and consideration of the actual annuahzed rate of return of 10.8 percent from 1994 (the date of our spin-off from ITT
Corporation) through 2006. We periodically review this assumption for reasonableness and have determined that the 2007 long-
term rate of return assumptlon should remain at 8.5 percent. At December 31, 2006 our asset mix consisted of 66 percent
equities, 30 percent bonds and 4 percent real estate. We do not expect this mix to change matenally in the near future. -

In determining future pension obligations, we use a discount rate which is based on rates supplied by our actuary. The
actuarial rates are developed by models-which incorporate high quality (AAA and AA rated), long-term corporate bond rates
into their calculations. The discount rate at December 31, 2006 of 6.00 percent increased from the year-end 2005 rate of 5.75
percent. ’

, [
" -

We expect 2007 pension expense o decrease to $10 million from $12'million in 2006 primarily due to the increase in the
discount rate from 5.75 percent to 6.00 percent and favorable returns in' the past three years. Future pension expense will be




1

impacted by many factors including actual investment performance, changes in dlscount rates, timing of contributions and other

employee related matters. The sensitivity of pension expense and obligations to changes in economic assumptions is highlighted
below: ‘ T H

Impact on:
) ) Change in Assumption : ! Pension Expense PBO
25 bpdecrease in diSCOUNETAtE ... ..o iie et e : ...... + $0.8 million + $7.4 million
25 bp increase in discountrate ............... D e A - $0.8 million -'$7.4 million
25 bp decrease in long-term return oL assets . ......... .0 e e o L., + $0.5 million
25 bp increase in long-term return on assets . . ...... ..o e S - $0.5 miltion -

K !

The Company’s pension plans were underfunded by $13.5 million at December 31, 2006, a $24.8 million improvement to
the December 31, 2005 position primarily due to discretionary contributions of $12.6 million made during 2006 and favorable
plan lasset returns. There were no minimum funding requirements for the 2006' plan year. In 2005 and 2004, discretionary
contributions of $27.5 and $20.6 million, respectively, were made. While there are no required contributions for 2007, we
expect to contribute approximately $10 million. Future requirements will vary depending on actual investment performance,
changes in valuation assumptions, interest rates, other employee related matiers and requirements under the recently enacted
Pension Protection Act. f

4 -
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; . .
Realrzabrhry of borh recora'ea‘ and unrecorded tax assets and liabilities :

i . '

Our income tax provision and deferred tax balances changed materially upon the conversion to REIT status. As a REIT,
certain operations are generally not subject to taxation. As a result, our effective tax rate and the amount of taxes paid during
various fiscal periods can vary greatly. Also, our projection of estimated tax for the year and our provision for quarterly taxes, in
accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes (SFAS 109), may have

greater variability than in the past. Similarly, the opportunity to realize certain deferred tax assets, or to esnmate deferred tax
liabilities, may be more subjective than in the past. . !

|
We have recorded certain.deferred tax assets that management believes will be realized in future periods. These assets are
reviewed periodically in order to assess their realizability. This review requires us to make assumpuons and estimates about
future proﬁtablhty affecting the realization of these tax benefits. If the review indicates that the reallzabllny may be less than
hkely, a valuation atlowance is made at that time. ‘ . . '

i
i
: .

In June 2006, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 48, Accounziné for Uncertainty in Income Taxes — an
interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109 (FIN- 48). This Interpretation clanﬁes the accounting for uncertain tax positions
recognized in an enterprise’s financial statements in accordance with SFAS 109. It prescribes a recognition threshold and
measurement aitribute for the financial statement recognition and measurement of atax position taken or expected to be taken in
a tax return. In addition, it provides guidance on derecognition, classification and interest and penalties. FIN 48 is effective for
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2006 and we will adopt FIN 48 in the ﬁrst1 quarter of 2007, '

See Note 9 — Income Taxes for additional policies relating to income taxes. l
]
i

Revenue Recognition

R.even'ue recognition policies are critical to the preparation of our financial statements in accordance with generally

accepted accounting principles. See Note 2 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies for a discussion of our revenue
recognition policies. !




Summary of our results of operations for three years ended December 31, 2006

Financial Information (in millions)

Sales

Real Estate

Pevelopment .. ... ... i e e
Rural . e

Total Real Estate Sales .. .. ...ttt oottt et et tiar e nen
Performance Fibers
Cellulose Specialties ......... A
Absorbent Materials . .............ccc0 e e

Total Performance Fibers ... ... ... .o 0l i
Wood Products ....... ... ... .
Otheroperations .......... ... ... it it e
Intersegment Eliminations . .......... .o i e

Total Sales . .. ... . e

Operating Income (Loss)
B T3

Other Operations . . .......... ittt ear i e

Corporate and Other Expenses/Eliminations ................................ P

Operating Income Before Gain on Sale of Timber Assets .. ............ s
Gain on Sale of Timber Assets . .......................... e e

Total Operating Income ....... ... ... . i
Interest EXpense .. ... .. e e
Interest/Other INCOME ... ... ot i e e e e e
Income Tax (expense)benefit . ........... .. . o i il il

Income from Continuving Operations ... .. ...... R
Income (Loss) from Discontinued Operations .................................

NetIncome ..............ccciviiiivvnnns, S e

Year Ended December 31,
2006 2005 2004
$ 207 $ 208 $ 186
72 42 25
37 42 67
3 2 4
112 86 96
500 449 419
172 179 163
672 628 582
111 137 126
128 123 174
-— (1 (1)
$1,230 $1,181 $1,163
$ 9 $ 87 s 72
89 64 75
80 53 47
3 16 13
1 1 6
(35) (38) - (40)
222 183 173
8 37 —
230 220 173
49) 47 @n
g 18 |
(19) 17 33
$ 171 $ 208 $ 160
5 (25) (3)
$ 176 $ 183 $ 157




Results of Operations, 2006 versus 2005
Timber L. . ' v * i

In the Northwest U. S 2006 timber sales improved as pnces and volume 1ncreased 4 percenl over 2005 due to a strong
housing market early in the year and reduced log supply from Canada. ‘

iIn the Southeast U.S., prices were 3 pércent‘-above 2005 as strong sawlo'g demand earlier in 2006 more than ‘offset
weakemng prices later in the year, Volumes declined slightly as a result of weakenng timber demand for lumber products.

Los N

In New Zealand, sales declined from the prior year primarily due to the 2005 fourth quarter sale of our timberlands to a JV
in which we hold a 40 percent interest. Our equity in the earnings of the JV is included in timber operations.

Changes Attributable to:

. ! o Volume/ '
Sales (in millions) 2005 Price Mix Other* 2006
Total Sales .. ....oovuiiiie e $208 §7 $3 $(11) $207

*  Includes the impact of New Zealand’s 2005 sales.

Operating income increased from the prior year due to strong prices in the. Northwest and Southeast U.S. and higher sales
volumes in the Northwest U.S. more than offsetting lower earnings from-New Zealand '

- ' * Changes Attributable to:
' Volume/ Costs/
Operating Income (in millions) 2005 . Price Mix Other* 2006

Total Operating Income ................. P $87 - $7 $(D 33) . $90

*  Includes the JV results. In the fourth quarter of 2006, we acquired 228,000 acres of timberland for $272 million, which had
minimal impact on 2006 Timber segment results. See Note 3 — Segment and Geographical Information for additional
information.

i
Real Estate

Our HBU real estate holdings are pnmanly in the Southem U 5. We segregale these real estate holdings into two groups
development and rural properties. Development properties are predominantly. located in the eleven coastal counties between
Savannah, GA and Daytona Beach, FL, white the rural properties essentially include the balance of our ownership in the South.
Our real estate holdings in the Northwest comprise the Other category.

In 2006, real estate sales and operating income increased from 2005 as higher &evclopmem sales offset lower rural sales. In
the fourth quarter of 2006, we closed on two “participation” transactions totaling $33 million. For the first transaction, we
received $10 million in cash at closing and have the option to receive $17.5 million when the property is entitled, or at that time,
to convert the balance ($17.5 million) to a participation arrangement where we \\"rould receive a percentage of gross revenue
from the sales of home lots. The second transaction was for $28.3 million of which $22.6 million was received at closing and
the remaining $5.7 million will be earned when the purchaser builds and sells homes to third parties., For both transactions, the
cash received at' closing was in excess of the minimum down payment requirement of 25 percent under SFAS No. 66,
Accounting for Real Estate Sales, therefore the revenue recorded was based upon the proceeds received. All of our cost basis of
the real estate sold and the related closing costs were expensed at closing.

Changes Attributable to:
. . : ) .. ) i ) Volume/
Sales (in millions) ' } 005 . Price Mix 2006
Development ... ...........ooiiiii i $42 87 $23 -8 n
Rural ... e et 42 8 (13) 37
Other . ... e e e 2 ! — 1
Total Sales . ...ttt e $86 i $15 511 $t12
. Changes Attributable to:
! : ; -Volume/ Lo
Operating Income (in millions) 2005 ) Price Mix 2006

Total Operating Income . ............ooiiiiiiiriiaenn. $64 - §$15 %10 $ 89




Performance Fibers

In 2006, cellulose specialty sales improved by $51 million or 11 percent due to increased price and volume. Market
demand for cellulose specialties resulted in an average price increase of $99 per ton, or 10 percent. This price increase included
a fuel oil surcharge on all acetate and other cellulose specialty volume allowable by contract, totaling $14 million.

Sales of absorbent materials decreased $7 million primarily due to the fourth quarter 2005 disposition of our Engineered
Absorbent Materials (EAM) facility which contributed $14 million in sales for 2005. EAM’s impact on sales was partly offset
by a $3 million increase in by-product sales,

Changes Attributable to:
: Volume/ .
Sales (in millions) . 2005 Price Mix Other * 2006
Cellulose Specialties ... ................................. $449 $47 $4 $— $500
Absorbent Materials .. ...ttt 179 2 2 a7
TotalSales . .........cc v e $628 $49 ﬁ 511 $672

*  Includes the impact of EAM’s 2005 sales.

Operating income in 2006 improved by $27 million, or 51 percent, from 20035. Cellulose Specialties’ price and volume
increases and the reversal of prior year accruals after a favorable property tax settlemnent ($5 million) more than offset increased
costs of raw materials, energy, labor and maintenance. '

Changes Attributable to:
Yolume/
Operating Income {in millions) 2005 Price Mix Costs _; Other* 2006

Total Operating Income  ...........c.c.ooiiireiiiinnnnnn... $53 $49 $1 $(30) $7 . $80

*  Includes the impact of EAM’s 2005 operating income and reversal of prior year property tax accruals,

Wood Products

Lumber prices declined 18 percent as a result of reduced demand in the housing market and higher quantities of Canadian
imported lumber. The increase in imports was in anticipation of a 15 percent export tax that was imposed on Canadtan exported
lumber to the U.S. beginning October 12, 2006, pursuant to the recently signed 2006 Softwood Trade Agreement.

Changes Attributable to:
Sales (in millions) 2005 Price " Volume 2006

Total Sales . ..ottt ittt e et Sili $(ﬁ) : &) M

Operating income decreased from the prior year primarily as a result of lower selling prices.

~ Changes Attributable to:

) Volume/
+ Operating Income/(Loss} {in millions) - 2005 Price Mix Costs 2006 -

Total Operating Income/(Loss) ............... e ' $16 - $(25) $1 $5 $_(3.)

Other Operations

Sales increased 1n 2006 as a result of higher royalty income from coal extractions while operating income was consistent
with the prior year. Effective November 2006, Trans Alta, the third party mining operation, announced that they are ceasing
their operations in Lewis County, Washington.

Corparate and Other Expenses/Eliminations

Corporate and Other Expense declined $3 million in 2006 from the prior year primarily due to reduced business
development expense. :

Gain on Sale of New Zealand Timber Assets

The gains on sale of New Zealand assets contributed $37 miilion in 2005 (timberland sale to 2 joint venture) and $8 million
in 2006 (partial sale of investment in the joint venture). See Note 5 — Joint Venture Investment for details of the transactions.




. l
) I
Interest and Other Income/Expense i

In comparison to the prior year, interest expense increased by $2 million prlmarlly due to a litigation-related accrual and
hlgher debt. . ‘

.The $9 million decline in interest and other income in 2006 largely resulted from an arbitration award that was received in
the third quarter of 2005 partly offset by increased interest income due to higher calsh levels in 2006.

Income Tax (Expense)/Benefit

The 2006 effective tax rate before discrete items was 16.3 percent compared to 14.2 percent in 2005. The increase was
primarily due to Jower tax benefits from foreign operations, partly offset by higher-REIT income. The 2005 rate included a $6.5
million tax benefit from the sale of New Zealand timber assets. Including discrcl? itens, the 2006 effective tax rate was 10.0
percent compared to a benefit of 8.8 percent in 2005. !

t

. ‘ |
See Note 9 — Income Taxes for additional information regarding the provision for income taxes,

. |

+

Outlook
. f
Our focus in 2007 will be to integrate the 2006 timberland acquisitions into our operations, continue to move up the value

chain in real estate through additional “participation™ agreements and invest in hlgh return cost improvement projects at our
Performance Fibers mills. We expect 2007 earnings to be generally in line with 2006 While we expect the housing slowdown
will put pressure on timber and real estate markets in the near term, the impact should be mostly offset by our Performance
Flbcrs business. First quarter 2007 -results are expected to be slightly below first quarter 2006 primarily due to lower timber

earnings.
; l
’ ) ) !
I

Results of Operations, 2005 versus 2004 !
Tim:ber !

In the Northwest U.S., 2005 timber sales improved as prices increased 39 ll)ercem over the prior year due to a strong
housing market and a reduced log supply from Canada. Our volume declined from 2004 as Northwest timber volume benefited
from the deferral of fourth quarter 2003 sales as a result of contract term revisions made in preparauon for our REIT conversion

on January 1, 2004, !

!
In the Southeast U.S., prices were relatively unchanged compared to the prior year, but pine and hardwood volume rose 13

percent primarily as a result of the 2004 timberland acquisition of 83,000 acres in Alabama.
. _ '

i
In New Zealand, sales declined from the prior year primarily due to the fourth quarter sale of our timberlands to a JV in
which we hold a 49.7 percent interest. Our equity in the earnings of the JV is inciuded in timber operations. For the fourth
quarter of 2005, a loss of $1.4 million was recorded due to start-up costs and delays in harvesting activities.
N

)
]

¢ Changes Attributable to:
’ i Volume/
Sales (in millions) : . 2004 Price Mix Other 2005
Total Sales .............. ... o i $186 $22 3(3) $3 $208

i +

!

Operating income increased from the prior year due to strong prices in the Northwest U.S., a $1.2 million favorable lawsuit
settlement and higher sales volumes in the Southeast U.S. more than offsetting a higher depletion rate as a result of acquisitions,
increased transportation costs and the JV’s start-up costs.

.

1
|
' Changes Attributable to:
1

r 1 : Volume/ Costs/
Operating Income (in millions) 2004 Price Mix Other 2005

Total Operating Income . ......... . irurriiiriinnrnnn.. $72 52 $(2) $0) - $87
: = = = =




Real Estate

In 2005, real estate sales and operating income declined from 2004 which included a sale of timber lease rights on
approximately 5,500 acres that contributed $26 million in sales and $24 million in operating income (included in the Other
columns below). Excluding the 2004 timber lease rights sale, 2005 sales and operating income increased by $16 million and $13
million, respectively, primarily due to higher volume and price per acre in the development group.

Changes Attributable to:
Volume/
Sales (in millions) 2004 Price Mix Other 2005
Development ...ttt $25 s $6 $— $42
Rural ... e 67 2 (1) (26) 42
Other ..., e 4 1 JE) — _2
Total Sales ..........ooiuiiiiiniiiiieii e, w896 s14 $2 $(26) $86

Changes Attributable to:
Operating Income {in millions) ) 2004 Price Costs Other 2005
Total Operating INCOME - .- ... .. .oueeeeaennnaneanennn., $75 $14 $(1) $(24) $64

Performance Fibers
In 2005, strong market demand for cellulose specialties resulted in an average price increase of $29 per ton, or 3 percent.
Additionally, production efficiencies and fewer maintenance shut-down days in 2005 resulted in a 6 percent volume increase.
The average price of absorbent materials increased by $36 per ton or 6 percent, due to slighily stronger market conditions,
and sales volume increased 4 percent. '

Changes Attributable to:

Volume /
Sales (in millions) 2004 Price Mix - 2005
Cellulose Specialties . ....... ... .uiiiirererinnreanennnn. $419 $14 $16 $449
Absorbent Materials . ... ... i e 163 _Q _6 179
Total Sales .. ... ey o $582 $ﬁ $22 - $628

Price and volume increases in both cellulose specialties and absorbent materials more than offset higher wood, chemical
and energy costs.

: ) . Changes Attributable to:
Operating Income (in millions) : 2004 - Price Costs 2005

Total Operating Income . ........ ... &ﬁ $ﬁ %(18) $5_3
Wood Products

QOur lumber sales increased from 2004. We realized a 7 percent price increase due to continued strong demand in the
housing market and curtailed imports.

Changes Attributable to:
Sales {in millions) 2004 Price Volume 2005

Total Sales ...ttt e s $126 §_9_ Eg $137

In 2005, operating income increased from the prior year as improved prices more than offset higher wood costs.

. . . Changes Attributable to:
Operating Income (in millions) 2004 . Price Costs 12005
Total Operating Income . ................ ..o, $13 $9 $(6) 516

In the third quarter of 2005, we sold our MDF business. As such, the Wood Products segment has been restated to exclude
the operations and assets of MDF in all periods presented. See Note 7 — Sale of Medium-Density Fiberboard Business (MDF)
for additional information.




, i
: i
Other Operations : : \

‘Sales and operating income for 2005 declined as a result of weaker irading!actjvity and lower royalty income from coal
extractions. ‘ '

Colrporate and Other Expenses/Eliminarions ‘

Corporate and other expenses were $2 million below 2004 reflecting the absence of REIT conversion costs and lower legal
expenses somewhat offset by higher stock price-based incentive compensation COsts.

Gain on‘Squ‘ of New Zealand Timber Assets ‘ .
A $37 million gain from the sale of our New Zealand timberlands was recognized in 2005. See Note 5 — Joint Venture
Investmenr for a discussion of the sale of our New Zealand timberlands. .
N . . !

Inreresr and Orher Income/FExpense

Imerest expense for 2005 was comparable to 2004 as higher average debt levels and interest rates were offset by the
reversal of previously accrued interest from Internal Revenue Service (IRS) audit setllemems

Interest and other income was $18 million compared to $1 million for the pnpr year. On August 19, 2005, we received a
$16.2 million arbitration award from proceedings against ITT Industries, Inc. (as successor-in-interest to our former parent ITT
Corporation) over the distribution of environmental litigation insurance recoveries in connection with settlements relating to
discontinued operations. Upon receipt of the settlement funds, we recorded $6.4 million of non-operating income, $1.4 million
of interest income and $0.4 million of operating income, with the remaining $8 nnllmn applied against an existing receivable.
We also received $1.9 million of insurance settlement proceeds recognized a $1.8 million gain on the sale of the EAM
manufacturing facility and recorded $2.4 million of interest income from favorable IRS scttlements.

Income Tax (Expense)/Benefit :
. ¥
The effective tax rate, before discrete items, increased from 11.4 percent in 2004 to 14.2 percent in 2005 due to lower LKE
tax benefits and non-U.S. operations tax benefits, 3 -
. I

See Note 9 — Income Taxes for additional information regarding the provision I:fm' income taxes.

Liquidity and Capital Resources |

Cash Flow ’ : o

Historically, our operations have generally produced consistent cash flows and required limited capital resources. Short-
term borrowings help fund cyclicality and seascnality in working capltal needs. Long term debt has historically been used to
fund major acquisitions. ;

In 2006, cash provided by operatmg activities from continuing operanons of $307 million mcreased 353 million from
2005. The increase was primarily due to higher cash earnings and lower working capltal requirements. Earnings rose primarily
due to lmprovements in our Performance Fibers and Real Estate segments partly offset by lower earnings in the Wood Products
segment. The favorable working capital requirements result from the timing of mterest payments and inventory purchases partly
offset By higher income tax payments and receivables.

: Cash used for investing activities of $385 million for 2006 was $361 million ‘a:bove 2005. This was primarily due to two
major timberland acquisitions ($272 million), the purchase of real estate previously leased ($21 million) and higher capital
spending on energy savings projects, partly offset by $22 million of proceeds from: the sale of a portion of our New Zealand
joint venture interest. See Note 6 — Timberland Acquisitions, for additional information

Cash used for financing activities for 2006 was $30 million, $186 million below 2005. This was pnmanly due to the
increase in long-term debt of $100 million used to finance a porticn of the 2006 timberland acquisitions versus debt repayments
of $99 million in 2005, and a $15 million increase in dividends paid which reflects aj10 percent increase in the annual dividend
paid per share. . i

Our debl -to-capital ratio of 42 percent increased from 39 percent at year end as.a result of higher debt as discussed above
and .the adjustments to accumulated other comprehensive income/(loss) as a result of adopting Statement of Financial
Accounting Standard (SFAS) No. 158. Qur percentage of debt with fixed interest rates was 62 percent as of December 31, 2006

l
|
!
1




and 73 percent as of December 31, 2005. As of December 31, 2006, cash and cash equivalents were $40 million, a $106 million
decrease from the prior year. The cash equivalents consist of marketable securities with maturities at the date of acquisition of
90 days or less.

4

In 2005, cash provided by operating activities from continuing operations of $254 million decreased $38 million from
2004. This decrease was primarily due to $30 million of higher income taxes paid and a $6 million increase in discretionary
pension contributions. Cash used for investing activities was $155 million below 2004, reflecting $65 million in net cash
proceeds generated from the sale of our New Zealand timberlands and $66 million of lower timberland acquisition spending. In
addition, the sale of our MDF facility generated approximately $40 million of cash, while the sale of our EAM facility generated
approximately $13 million. These cash flows enabled us to reduce debt by $99 miilion, finance strategic timberland acquisitions
and capital expenditures of $24 million and $85 million, respectively, and pay dividends of $129 million. The cash dividends
reflect an $18 million increase over prior year. Other financing proceeds include $15 million from the exercise of stock options,
a $3 million decrease from 2004. Our debt-to-capital ratio of 39 percent improved from 45 percent-in 2004 as a result of the
significant debt reduction and higher net income, partly offset by the increased dividends. Our percentage of debt with fixed
interest rates was 73 percent as of December 31, 2005 and 62 percent as of December 31, 2004. As of December 31, 2005, cash
and cash equivalents were $146 million, a $62 million increase over the prior vear end The cash equnva]ents conswt of
marketable securities with maturities at the date of acquisition of 90 days or less.

We have $113 million of installment notes that will mature on December 31, 2007 which we plan to refinance by issuing
public debt. Capital expenditures in 2007 are forecasted to be between $90 million and $95 million. Our 2007 dividend
payments are expected to increase from $144 million to $146 million, assuming no change in the 2006 rate of $1.88 per share.
Cash payments for income taxes in 2007 are anticipated to be between $25 million and $30 million. No significant debt
reduction is expected in 2007. We made discretionary pension contributions of $12 million in 2006 and $28 million in 2005. In
2007 we anticipate making pension contributions of approximately $10 million, while expendltures for environmental costs
related to our dispositions and dlscontmued operanons are expected to be $11 million. See Envzronmemal Regulation for furlher
information. ‘

Liquidity Performance Indicators

The discussion below is presented to enhance the reader’s understanding of our liquidity, ability to generate cash and
satisfy rating agency and creditor requirements. This information includes two measures of financial results: Earnings -from
Continuing Operations before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation, Depletion and Amortization (EBITDA), and Adjusted Cash
Available for Distribution (Adjusted CAD). These measures are not defined by Generally Accepted Accounting Principles
(GAAP) and the discussion of EBITDA and Adjusted CAD is not intended to conflict with or change any of the GAAP
disclosures described above. Management considers these measures to be important to estimate the enterprise and shareholder
values of the Company as a whole and of its core segments, and for allocating capital resources. In addition, analysts, investors
and creditors use these measures when analyzing our financial condition and cash generating ability. EBITDA is defined by the
Securittes and Exchange Commission; however, Adjusted CAD as defined may not be comparable 1o smularly titled measures
reported by other companies.

EBITDA is a non-GAAP measure of operating cash generating capacity. In 2006, EBITDA was $366 million, a $12
million decrease over 2005 primarily due to the-absence of the gain from the sale of our New Zealand timberlands partly offset
by higher operating results in our Real Estate and Performance Fibers segments in 2006. EBITDA was $378 million in 2005, an
increase of $59 million over 2004, primarily due to higher operating results in all of our core product lines and the gain from the
sale of the New Zealand timberlands. EBITDA was $319 million in 2004, an increase of $60 million over 2003 pnmanly due to
higher operating results in the Performance Fibers and Wood Products segments,

Below is a reconciliation of Cash Provided by Operating Activities to EBITDA for the five-year period ended

December 31, 2006 (m millions of doltars): .
‘ 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002

Cash provided by operating acCtivitles ... ......ccueueeinnriennnneeeenanns $306.9 $254.1 $2923 $2013 $2459
Gain on sale of New Zealand timber assets.. ............ e 1.8 369 —_ — —_
Non-cash cost basisof realestate sold .. ........... ... ... ... ... ... {124y (1L8)  (11.0) 5.9 (137
Income tax expense (benefit) ........ ... .. i il - o191 (16.9) (33.6) 6.1 15.7
|y L3 (=1 PR 1 1= AP 39.1 38.8 4.1 46.0 59.8
Working capital (decreases) increases ........... it i (2.3) 164 (374 19.6 (9.5)
Other balance sheetchanges ...................... ... e 7.3 60.4 64.2 . (8.5) 4.7

EBITDA ..o\, P ... $365.5. $377.9 $318.6 $2586 $293.5




:A non-cash expense critical to the economics of both our Timber and Real Estate core businesses is the non-cash cost basis
of real estate sold. EBITDA plus the non-cash cost basis of real estate sold for the five- years ended December 31, 2006, 2005,
2004 2003 and 2002 totaled $ 378 million, $390 million, $330 million, $265 mrlhon and $307 million, respectively.

Adjusted CAD is a non-GAAP measure of cash generated during a penod that is available for drvrdend distribution,
repurchasing common shares, debt reduction and for strategic acquisitions net of associated financing (e.g. realizing LKE tax
benefits). We define Cash Available for Distribution (CAD) as Cash Provided by Operating Activities-less capital spending,
adjusted for equity based compensation amounts, the tax benefits associated with s'trategic acquisitions, the change in committed
cash’'and the proceeds from matured energy forward contracts. Committed cash represents outstanding checks that have been
drawn on our zero balance bank accounts but have not been paid. In compllance with Securities and Exchange Commission
requrrements for non-GAAP measures, we reduce CAD by mandatory debt repayments which results in .the measure entitled
“Adjusted CAD.” . . : .

?Adjusted CAD was $175 million in 2006, a $10 million increase over 2005 primarily due to stronger operating earnings
partly offset by higher capital spending and an increase in our committed cash as of December 31, 2006. Adjusted CAD was
$165 million in 2005, an increase of $34 million from 2004 primarily due to the absence of $50 million in mandatory 2004 debt
repayments and $8 million of reduced LKE tax benefits, partly offset by approx‘imately $38 million of lower operating cash
flows. In 2004, Adjusted CAD of $132 million was $28 million above the prior year due to $91 million of higher cash provided
by operatlng activities partly offset by higher debt repayments and $11 million in LKE tax benefits. Adjusted CAD generated in
any penod is not necessanly indicative of the amounts that may be generated in future periods.

Below is a reconciliation of Cash Provided by Operating Activities to Adjusted CAD for the five-year period ended
December 31, 2006 (in rmlhons) i

!

L . ’ ' 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002
Cash"provided by operating activities . ............... e e $ 3069 $254.1 $292.3 $201.3 $245.9

Capital spending, Net . . .. ... it e e E (105.5y (85.3y (87.7) (844 (759
Purchase of assets previously leased ........... et e ! -— — L —_ (5.4) —
LKE tax benefits on third party real estate sales* .. ................... 4.8 (32) (L3 — (0.7
Change in committed cash** ........... e b i, (19.1) 1.8 . (3.5 64 (1D
Equity based compensation adjustmentsfother . ....................... ! 0.3 (2.3) (4.4) (4.8) (2.5)
ll’roceeds from matured energy forward contracts ..................... ; — 3.9 — -— —_
CAD " U 11778 1690 1854 1071 165.1
Mandatory debt repayments*** e e - P (3.3) (3.6) (53.6) (3.5) " (83.2)
Ad]ustedCAD............., ....... e ............. EETTRTT 31745 $1654 $131.8 $103.6 §$ 819

*  Represents income taxes that would have been paid had the Company not completed the LKE transactions.
- Increase in 2006 represents interest on installment notes of $18 million. :

ok Mandatory repayments represent debt that matured and settled during the same year. In addition to the mandatory
payments, discretionary debt repayments of $0, $95.0 million, $0, $30.0 million and $130.0 million were made in 2006,
2;005, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. |

Liqu!dny Facilities

I|n August 2006, we entered into a new $250 million unsecured revolving credlt facility to replace the previous facility
whlch was scheduled to expire in November 2006. This new facility includes an accordion feature which allows addittonal
borrowing above $250 million, in $25 million increments, up to an aggregate $100 million, provided no default exists. The new
facility expires in August 2011. At December 31, 2006, the available borrowmg capacity was $131 million (excluding the
accordion feature), due to borrowings to purchase timberlands in 2006 and $16 ml]llon attributable to standby letters of credit
previously issued. :

' ‘AS with the previous facility, certam covenants must continue to be met, 1ncluld1ng ratios based on the facility’s definition
of EBITDA (Covenant EBITDA). Covenant EBITDA consists of earnings from contmumg operations before the cumulative
effect of accounting changes and any provision for. dispositions, income taxes! interest expense, depreciation, depletion,
amortization and the non-cash cost basis of real estate sold. A dividend restriction covenant limits the sum of dividends in any
period of four fiscal quarters to 90 percent of Covenant Funds From Operations (Covenant FFO) plus the aggregate amount of
dividends, permitted under Covenant FFO in excess of the amount of dividends, paid during the prior four fiscal quarters.
Covenant FFO is defined as Consolidated Net Income, excluding gains or losses :from debt restructuring and investments in

+




marketable securities, plus depletion, depreciation and amortization and the non-cash cost basis of real estate sold. Under a
covenant relating to the $485 million of installment notes, RFR may not incur additional debt unless, at the time of incurrence
and after presenting the proforma effects relating to the receipt and application of the proceeds of such debt, RFR meets or
exceeds a minimum ratio of cash flow to fixed charges.

In addition to the financial covenants listed above, the installment notes and credit facility include customary covenants
that limit the incurrence of debt, the disposition of assets, and the making of certain payments between RFR and Rayonier
among others. An asset sales covenant in the RFR installment note-related agreements requires us, subject to certain exceptions,
to either reinvest cumulative timberland sales proceeds in excess of $100 million (the “excess proceeds”) in timberland-related
investments and activities or, once the amount of excess proceeds not reinvested exceeds $50 million, to make an offer to the
note holders to prepay the notes ratably in the amount of the excess proceeds. During the third quarter of 2006, excess proceeds
exceeded $50 million and approximately $69 million was offered to the note holders, who declined the offer of prepayment,
which reset the excess proceeds to zero. As of December 31, 2006 and 2005, the amount of excess proceeds was $10 rmlllon
and $31 million, respectively.

In December 2006, Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services raised its corporate debt rating of our long-term debt to a ‘BBB’
investment grade rating with a ‘Stable’ outlook while Moody's Inveslors Service affirmed our ‘Baa3’ investment grade rating
wnth a ‘Stable’ oullook ' :

1

The covenants listed below which are the most significant financial covenants in effect as of December 31, 2006 are
calculated on a trailing 12-month basis:

|
‘ Actual ratio at

Covenant December 31, Favorable
Requirement 2006 {Unfavorabie)
Covenant EBITDA to consolidated interest expense should not be less than .. ...... 25001 794101 5.44
Total debt to Covenant EBITDA should not €Xceed .........vvvierreneernnnn.. 400t 1 1.71tw0 1 1229
RFR cash flow available for fixed charges to RFR fixed charges should not be less ‘ ’

1 1TV A A A A O PP 250to 1 731t01 ‘4.81
Dividends paid should not exceed 90 percent of Covenant FFO . ................. 90% 8% + 52%
Contractual Financial Obligations and Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

. In addition to using cash flow from operations, we finance our operations through the issuance of debt, and by entering into

leases. These financial obligations are recorded in accordance with accounting rules applicable to the underlying transaction,
with the result that some are recorded as liabilities on the Balance Sheet, while others are required to be disclosed in the Notes
to Consolidated Financial Statements and Managcmenl’s Discussion and Analysis

The followmg table aggregates contractual financial obligations as of December 31, 2006 and anticipated cash spendmg by

penod
Payments Due by Period

Contractual Financizl Obligations (000’s) Total 2007 2008-2009  2010-2011 Thereafter
Current maturities of long-termdebt .. . ... ... ... . $ 3550 % 3550 % — $. — §& —
Long-termdebt ... ... ... .. ... .. ... i, 657,220 117455 172,005 213,865 153,895
Interest payments on long-term debt * . ... .. ... U 219,806 51,965 79,816 51,772 36,253
Operating leases—timberland ** ........................ ... : 94,751 5241 ° 10,357 10,154 - 68,999
Operating leases & deeds—timberland held for sale*** ... ... 15,613 1,581 2878 2584 8570
Operating leases—PP&E, offices .............. ... ... P oo 12,807 0 29737 4,601 2476 2,757
Purchase obligations .................. P 1,143 631 512 — —
Other long-term liabilities . .......... ... ... ... ... ... ...... 1,656 237 473 473 473

Total contractual cash obligations . .......................... $1,006,546 $183,633 $270,642 $281,324 $270,947

*  Projected interest payments for variable-rate debt were calculated based on out‘.tandmg principal amounts and interest rates
as of December 31, 2006. :

** The majority of timberland leases are subject to escalation clauses based on elther the' Consumer Price Index or the
Producer Price Index. , :

*** See Note 6-Timberland Acquisitions.




.We utilize off-balance sheet arrangements to provide credit support for certain suppliers/vendors and customers in case of
their default on critical obligations, and collateral for certain self-insurance programs that we maintain. These arrangements
consist of standby letters of credit and surety bonds. As part of our ongoing operations, we also periodically issuc guarantees to
third parties. Off-balance sheet arrangements are not considered 1o be a source of liquidity or capital resource and do not expose
us to material risks or material unfavorable financial impacts. '

: ) .o |
The following table aggregates financial commitments as of December 31, 2006:

i Maximom  Carrying
| Potential  Amount of

Finnn‘cial Commitments (000°s) .. ' . . \ ’ Payment Liability

Standby letters of credit (1) ..o v e vrn e et ee e et e e U $ 79,136 $ 61,410
L@ 13T 1 11 (=2 <2: 3 2 P ~.. 111,850 103,096
Surety bonds (3) ... ... e J . 8,498 1,657
Total financial commitments . ........... e e R R EEEEEPRPRR $199,484 3$166,163

(1) Approximately $62 million of the standby letters of credit serve as credit support for industrial revenue bonds. The
remaining letters of credit support various insurance related agreements, primarily workers’ compensation and pollution
liability policy requirements. These letters of credit will expire at various dates during 2007 and are renewed as required.

(2) In conjunction with the sale of timberlands to the JV in October 2003, the Corhpany guaranteed five years of Crown Forest
license obligations. The JV is the primary obligor and has posted a bank performance bond with the New Zealand
government. If the JV fails to pay the obligation, the New Zealand government will demand payment from the bank that
posted the bond. If the bank defaulted on the bond, the Company would then have to perform. As of December 31, 2006,
four annual payments, of $1.2 million each, remain. This guarantee expires in 2010.

In conjunction with the sale of its New Zealand East Coast timber operations _1n 2002, the Company guaranteed five years
of Crown Forest license obligations. In late 2003, the buyer defaulted on its loan payments to its creditors and went into
receivership with the 2004 obligation paid by the receiver. The property was ‘then re-sold. The new owner is the primary
obligor and has posted a bank performance bond with the New Zealand" govemment If the new owner fails to pay the
obhganons the New Zealand government wilt demand payment from the owner’s bank pursuant to the bond. If the
owner’s bank defaults on the bond, the Company would have to perform under the guarantee and seek legal redress from
the owner. The Company expects the owner’s bond to be sufficient to cover the license obligations. As of December 31,
2006, one annual payment, estimated at $1.5 million, remains, This guarantee expires in 2007.

In conjunction with a timberland sale and note monetization in the first quarter of 2004, the Company issued a make whole
agreement pursuant to which it guaranteed $2.5 million of obligations of a qualified Special purpose entity that was
established to complete the monetization, At December 31, 2006 and 2003, the- Company had a liability of $43 thousand to
reflect the fair market value of its obligation to perform under the make-whole agreement.

In conjunction with the Company’s $250 million revolving credit facility renegotiated in August 2006, Rayonier continues
to guarantee the borrowings of RFR and TRS. Additionally, TRS continues to, guarantee the borrowings of Rayonier Inc.
At December 31, 2006, TRS had $103 million of debt outstanding on the facility that is guaranteed by Rayonier.

(3) Rayonier has issued surety bonds primarily to secure timber harvesting obligations in the State of Washington and to
ty P Y g g
provide collateral for the Company’s workers’ compensation self-insurance program in that state. These surety bonds

. expire at various dates during 2007 and are renewed as required. |

In May 2004, we completed a Form S-4 acquisition shelf registration to offer and issue 7,000,000 common shares for the
acquisition of other businesses, assets or properties. As of December 31, 2006, no common shares have been offered or issued
under the S-4 shelf registration. In September 2003, we completed a Form S-3 shelf registration statement to offer $500 million
of new public debt andfor equity securities. This registration statement replaced thie previous $150 million shelf registration
which was subsequently deregistered. On December 19, 2003, 6.4 million common shares were issued under the S-3 shelf
registration as part of a special stock dividend paid in conjunction with our conversipn to a REIT, The fair market value of the
shares at the day of issuance was $253 million, leaving $247 nulhon ava:lable under the $500 million shelf registration at
December 31, 2006.

New Accounting Standards ‘ :

1

See Note 2 — Summary of Significant Accoummg Policies for our discussion of recently issued accounting
pronouncements that will affect our financial results and disclosures in future penods}




Environmental Regulation

Rayonier is subject to stringent environmental laws and regulations concerning air emissions; water discharges and waste
handling and disposal. Such environmental laws and regulations include the Federal Clean Air Act, the Clean Water Act, the
Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, CERCLA and similar state laws and regulations. Management closely monitors its
environmental responsibilities, and believes that the Company is in substantial compliance with current environmental
requirements. In addition to ongoing compliance with laws and regulations, the Company’s facilities operate in accordance with
various permits, which are issued by state and federal environmental agencies. Many of these permits impose operating
conditions on the Company which require significant expenditures to ensure compliance. Upon renewal and renegotiation of
these permits, the issuing agencies often seek to impose new or additional conditions in response to new environmental laws and
regulations, or more stringent interpretations of existing laws and regulations. During 2006, 2005 and 2004, we spent
approximately $5 million, $6 million and $7 million, respectively, for capital projects related to environmental compliance for
ongoing operations. During 2007 and 2008, our spending related to environmental compliance for continuing operations is
expected to increase to approximately $11 million and $13 million per year, respectively, on such capital projects, and over the
next five years, we expect aggregate environmental spending to total in the $60 million to $70 million range. The expected
increase in environmental spending is largely due to wastewater treatment-related projects and Cluster Rule compliance at our
Performance Fibers mills.

The EPA uses the term “Cluster Rules” to identify parallel rule-making for water and air technology-based discharge limits
for pulp and paper mills. The EPA finalized its Cluster Rules governing air emissions in 1998, but due to the specialty nature of
Rayonier’'s Performance Fibers products and operations, the agency postponed finalizing water discharge rules and certain air
emissions rules governing the Company’s two Performance Fibers dissolving pulp mills and two other similar mills (one of
which has since closed). In late 2003, the EPA informed Rayonier that it was delegating its Cluster Rule rulemaking authority
for these four mills to the environmental agencies of the respective states. Rayonier will continue to work with the EPA and the
applicable state environmental authorities to establish such rules for its mills, but the timing and costs associated with such
rulemaking are uncertain. Capital spending is not expected to cause total capital expenditures, excluding these related to
strategic acquisitions, to exceed an annual average of $95 million. '

With respect to forestry, federal, state and local laws and regulations intended to protect threatened and endangered
species, as well as wetlands and waterways, limit and may in certain cases prevent timber harvesting, road construction and
other activities on private lands, including a portion of the Company’s timberlands. Over the past several years, our timber
harvesting in the State of Washington has been restricted as a result of the listing of the northern spotted owl, the marbled
murrelet and several species of salmon and trout as threatened species under the Endangered Species Act. In 1999, the timber
industry and federal, state, local and tribal governments, entered into an agreement, known as the Forests and Fish Report,
which led the Washington Forest Practices Board to adopt rules further restricting timber harvesting within buffers along
streams with fish habitat. All of these restrictions have caused Rayonier over time to restructure and reschedule its harvest plans
and have reduced the total volume of timber available for future harvest.

With respect to dispositions and discontinued operations, we currently estimate that expenditures during 2007 and 2008 for
environmental remediation and monitoring costs will total approximately $11 million and $7 million, respectively. Such costs,
including monitoring and remediation costs, will be charged against our reserves for estimated environmental obligations which
we believe are sufficient for costs expected to be incurred over the next 20 years. At December 31, 2006, these accrued
liabilities totaled approximately $123 million. The actual future environmental costs will be dependent on the outcome of
negotiations with federal and state agencies and may also be affected by changes in applicable laws and regulations, the exercise
of discretion in interpretation of applicable law and regulations by governmental agencies and changes in environmental
remediation technology. Based on information currently available, we do not believe that any future changes in estimates would
materially affect our consolidated financial position or results of operations.

Over time, the complexity and stringenéy of environmental laws and regulations have increased markedly, and in general,
we believe that this trend will continue. As such,’and as a result of all the factors discussed above, we believe that substantial
expenditures will be requlred over the next ten years in the area of environmental compliance.

Item 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
Market and Other Economic Risks

We are exposed to various market risks, including changes in interest rates, commodity prices and foreign exchange rates.
Our objective is to minimize the economic - impact of these market risks. We use derivatives in accordance with policies and
procedures approved by the Finance Committee of the Board of Directors. Derivatives are managed by a senior executive
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committee whose responsibilities inctude initiating, managing and momtonng resulting exposures. We do not enter into
financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes.

Cyclical pricing of commodity market paper pulp is one of the factorsk that influences Performance Fibers prices,
particularly in the Absorbent Materials product line. However, since we are a non-integrated producer of specialized
Performance Fibers for non-papermaking end uses, our high-value product mix tencls to lag (on both the upturn and downturn)
commaodity paper pulp prices with pricing adjustments that are less severe. This nlsk is mitigated somewhat by the terms of our
cellulose specialty contracts which are effective into 2011 for nearly 80 perccnl of our high value Cellulose Specialties
production. g

'
'We periodically enter into interest rate swap agreements (0 manage our exposure to interest rate changes. These swaps

involve the exchange of fixed and variable interest rate payments without exch'anging principal amounts. At December 31,
2006, two interest rate swap agreements were held. One agreement with a notnonal amount of $50 million swaps a fixed 8.288
pcrcenl interest rate for a six-month LIBOR rate plus 4.7825 percent. The second agreement with a notional amount of $40
million swaps a fixed 8.288 percent interest rate for a six-month LIBOR rate plus 4.99 percent. The fair value of these interest
rate swaps at year-end, which mature on December 31, 2007, was a liability of $1 8 million. The market risk resulting from a
one percemage point (100 basis pmms) change in the six-month LIBOR rate amounts to an approximate change of $0.5 million

in our pre-tax income/loss. ]x

.T he fair market value of our long-term fixed interest rate debt is also subjec‘t to interest rate risk; however, we intend to
hold most of our debt until maturity. The estimated fair value of our fixed-rate d{_ebt at December 31, 2006, was $445 million
compared to $406 million in carrying value. Generally, the fair market value of fixed-rate debt will increase as interest rates fall

“and decrease as interest rates rise. A hypothetical one-percentage point increase/decrease in prevailing interest rates at
December 31, 2006, would result in a corresponding decreasefincrease in the fair value of our fixed-rate debt of approximately
$17.9 million. !

We periodically enter into commodity forward contracts to fix some of our', fuel oil and natural gas costs. The forward
contracts partially mitigate the risk of a change in Performance Fibers margins resulting from an increase or decrease in these
energy costs. We do not enter into commodity forwards for trading or speculative' purposes. The net amounts paid or received
under the contracts are recognized as an adjustment to fuel oil or natural gas expense. A hypothetical 10 percent increase/
decrease in the prevailing price of natural gas and fuel oil would result in a ‘change of $48 thousand and $0.5 million,
respectively, in our.pre-tax income/loss. Qur natural gas and fuel oil contracts do not qualify for hedge accounting and, as such,
mark-to-market adjustments are recorded in “Other operating (income) expense, net.”

Item 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
See Index to Financial Statements on page ii. :

Item 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL
' DISCLOSURE r

None.

i
Item 9A CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES !

Rayonier management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequale disclosure controls and procedures.
Disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in SEC Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)), are designed with the objective of
ensuring that information required to be disclosed by the Company in reports filed: under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended (Exchange Act), such as this annual report on Form lO—K is recorded, *processed summarized and reported within
the tirme periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. i

Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no control evaluation can provide absolute assurance that all
control exceptions and instances of fraud have been prevented or detected on a timely basis, Even systems determined to be
effective can provide only reasonable assurance that their objectives are achieved. |

Based on an evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this annual report
on Form 10-K, our management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Co- PnnCIpal Financial Officers, concluded that the
design and operation of the disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of December 31, 2006.

With regard to the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as defined in paragraph (f) of SEC Rules 13a-15(f)
and 13d-15(f), see Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting at page F-1, followed by the Reports of
Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm. |




In the quarter ended December-31, 2006, based upon the evaluation required by paragraph (d) of SEC Rules 13a-15 and
15d-15, there were no changes in our internal controls over financial reporting that would materially affect or are reasonably
likely to materia]ly‘affect our internal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
Not Applicable.

PART IIL

Certain information required by Part II1 is incorporated by reference from the Company’s definitive Proxy Statement to be filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission in connection with the solicitation of proxies for the Company’s 2007 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders (the “Proxy Statement™).

Item 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The information required by this Ttem with respect to directors is incorporated by reference to the information in the
section entitled “Election of Directors” and “Report of the Audit Committee” in the Proxy Statement. The information required
by this Item with respect to disclosure of any known late filing or failure by an insider to file a report required by Section 16 of
the Exchange Act is incorporated by reference to the section entitled “Section [6(a) Beneficial Ownershlp Reporting
Comphance in the Proxy Slatemem

The information called for by this Item with respect to executive officers is set forth above in Part I, Item 4A—Executive
Officers of Rayonier.

Our Standard of Ethics and Code of Corporate Conduct, which is applicable to our principal executive, financial and
accounting officers, is available on our website, www.rayonier.com. Recent amendments to the Standards of Ethics and Code of
Corporate Conduct have been posted on our website. Any other amendments to or waivers of the Standard of Ethics and Code
of Corporate Conduct will also be disclosed on such website.

On June 13, 2006, we filed with the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE) the Annual CEQ Certification regarding our
compliance with the NYSE's Corporate Governance Standards as required by Section 303A-12(a). In addition, we have filed, as
exhibits to the annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006, the applicable certifications of our Chief
Executive Officer and Co-Principal Financial Officers required under Sections 302 and 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Item 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information called for by Item 11 is incorporated herein by refercnce from the section entitled “Executive
Compensatton in the Proxy Statement.

Il

Item 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEF ICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
SHAREHOLDER MATTERS

The information called for by Item 12 is incorporated herein by refercnce from the section entitled “Share Ownership” in
the Proxy Statement.

Item 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS, RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information called for by Item 13 is incorporated herein by reference from the section cntltled “Election of Directors”
and “Corporate Governance” in the Proxy Statement.

Item 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The 1nformat10n called for by Item 14 is incorporated herein by reference from the section entitled “Report of the Audit
Committee” in the Proxy Statement.




PART1VY

|
|
Item 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES |
Documents filed as a part of this report: !

, f
(1) See Index to Financial Statements on page ii for a list of the financial statements filed as part of this report.

|

((2) See Schedule Il — Valuation and Qualifying Accounts. All other ﬁna}zcial statement schedules have been omitted

, because they are not applicable, the required matter is not present or 'the required information has otherwise been
supplied in the financial statements or the notes thereto. -

;(3) See Exhibit Index for a list of the exhibits filed or incorporated herein asl,parr of this report.
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER HNANQIAL REPORTING

'
!

t

To Our Shareholders:

y The management of Rayonier Inc. and its subsidiaries is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal
control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules l3a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended). Our systém of internal controls over financidl reporting was de51gned to provide reasonable assurance to the
Company s management and Board of Directors regardmg the preparatlon and falr presentation of the financial statements for
extemal purposes in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in lhe Umted States of America.

i ' . *

Because of the inherent limitations of intemal control over financial reportipg, misstatements due to error or fraud may not
be prevented or detected on a timely basis. Also, projections of any evaluation pf effectiveness to future periods are subject to
the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate.

'

. Rayonier Inc.’s management, under the supervision of the Chief Executive Officer and. Co-Principal Financial Officers,
assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006. In making this assessment,
we used the framework included in Internal Control — Integrated Framewark issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on our evaluation under‘ the criteria set forth in Internal Control —
Integrated Framework, management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of
December 31, 2006. - : : : aEh

; .

| Deloitte & Touche LLP, the independent reglstered public accounting firm that audited the Company’s consolidated
financial statements, has issued an attestation report on management's assessment of the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2006. The report, which expresses unqqahﬁed opinions on management’s assessment
and on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial repomng as of December 31, 2006 is on page F-3.

: | .
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W. L. Nutter

Chairman, President and Chief Executlve Officer . i
February 26, 2007 ' ‘*
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H. E. Vanden Noort !
Senior Vice President, Chief Accounting Officer and i
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Co-Principal Financial Officer
February 26, 2007
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C.E. Kraus I
Senior Vice President, Finance and Co-Principal ‘
Financial Officer '
February 26, 2007 :
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Rayonier Inc.
Jacksonville, Florida

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Rayonier Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company™) as of
December 31, 2006 and 2005, and the related consolidated statements of income and comprehensive income and cash flows for
each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2006. Qur audits also included the financial statement schedules listed
in the Index to Financial Statement Schedules. These. financial statements and financial statement schedules are the
responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and
financial statement schedules based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Rayonier
Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the
three years in the period ended December 31, 2006, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America. Also, in our opinjon, such financial statement schedules, when considered in relation to the basic
consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, present fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein.

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company adopted SFAS No. 158, Employers’ Accounting
Jfor Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans — an amendment of FASB Statement No. 87, 88, 106 and 132(R) as
of December 31, 2006.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, based on the criteria
established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsering Organizations of the Treadway
Commission and our report dated February 26, 2007 expressed an unqualified opinion on management’s assessment of the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting and an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

- e il
" Dubutte t Toudde P
Certified Public Accountants

Jacksonville, Flonida
February 26, 2007
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REPORT OF; INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of S ' 1
Rayonier Inc. ' ‘ l
Jacksonville, Florida [

We: have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Mz'magement’s Report on Internal Control Over
Financial Repdrting, that Rayonier Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) maintained effective internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2006, based on criteria established in Internal Conrral — Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. The! Company’s management is responsible for
maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over
financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on management’s assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness

of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. |
: . ' {

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Qversight Board (United States).
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonab}e assurance about whether effective internal
control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of
mternal control over financial reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating
effectweness of interna! control, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We
beheve that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinions. .

|
I'

A company s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the company’s
principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, and effected by the company’s
board of directors, management, and other personnel 1o provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the prepa.ratlon of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those pohmes and procedures that (1) pertain to the
maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of
the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that recelpts and expenditures of the company are
bemg made only in accordance with authorizations of management and dlrectors of the company; and (3) prowde reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the company’s assets that
could have a material effect on the financial statements. - ;
) :

Beca1use of the inherent limitations of internal control over financial reporting, including the possibility of collusion or improper
management override of controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may not be prevented or detected on a timely
basis. Also, projections of any evaluation of the effectiveness of the internal control over financial reporting to future periods
are subject to the risk that the controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of
comphance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. |

In our opinion, management's assessment that the Company maintained effective mtema] control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2006, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on the criteria ‘established in Internal Control — Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Also in our opinion, the
Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, based
on the criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated F ramework issued by:the Committee of Sponsonng Organizations
of the Treadway Commission. : !

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accloummg Oversight Board (United States), the
consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedules as of and for the year ended December 31, 2006 of the
Company and our report dated February 26, 2007, expressed an unqualified oplmon on those financial statements and financial
statement schedules and included an explanatory paragraph regarding the Company’s adoption of Statement of Financial
Accounting Standard (“SFAS™) No. 158, Employers’ Accounting for Defined Beneﬁr Pension and Other Postretirement
Plans — an amendment of FASB Statement No. 87, 88, 106 and 132(R) as of December 31, 2006.

. N . ‘
Dbt F Toudde :
Certified Public Accountants [

Jacksonville, Florida
Februory 26, 2007 .
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RAYONIER INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the Years Ended December 31,
{Thousands of dollars, except per share data)

2006 2005 2004
SALES ........... L $1,229.807 $1,180,708 $1,162,778
Costs and EXPeNSES . . .. ..o vuti ittt it e e e ’
Costofsales ............ e [ 952,743 942,103 -937.039
Selling and general expenses ... ................. P 63,445 64,403 59,297
Other operating (income) eXpense, NEL . . ... ... ittt (8.818) (10,401) (6,184)
1,007,370 996,105 990,152
Equity in loss of New Zealand joint venture . .. ... ... ... . ... .. .cciiiien.... (610) (1,411) —_
OPERATING INCOME BEFORE GAIN ON SALE OF NEW ZEALAND .

TIMBER ASSETS . ... e 221,827 183,192 172,626
Gain on sale of New Zealand timberassets ... ......... . ... i iivininronn... 7,769 36,968 —
OPERATING INCOME . . ... . it e e 229,596 - 220,160 172,626
Interest eXpense . ..o e e (48,905) (46,960) (46,718)
Interest and miscellaneous INCOME, NEL . .. . . ... o ittt e e e ean 9447 17.647 506
INCOME FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS BEFORE INCOME TAXES .. 190,138 190,847 126,414

Income tax (provision) bepefit .. .. ... ... ... .. . e (19,055) 16,948 33,649
INCOME FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS ....... ... ... ...t 171,083 207,795 160,063
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS, NET (Note 7 and 15)

Income (loss) on discontinued operations, net of income tax benefit (expense) of

(33,201}, $10,459 and ($196) ....... S 5,335 (24,956) (3,162)
NET INCOME .. e ettt 176,418 182,839 156,901
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) ....................... e
Unrealized loss on hedged transactions, net of income tax benefit of $230 and
3 L —_ C(410) (339)

Foreign currency translation adjustment . ............. e ‘ 3,226 (9,705) 11,611

Minimum pension liability adjustment ....... [N e 13,339 16,323 (217)
COMPREHENSIVEINCOME . ... . .. . i, $ 192983 % 189,047 $ 167,956
EARNINGS (LOSS) PER COMMON SHARE
BASIC EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE

Continuing Operations . . ....... ..o ittt et 3 223§ 275 % 2.15

Discontinued Operations .. ...ttt trmnn it it ity 0.07 (0.33) . (0.04)

NetINCOME ...t e e e e e $ 230 $ 242 % 2.11
DILUTED EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE | _—

Continuing Operations ....................... e $ 219 % 268 § 2.09

Discontinued Operations .............................................. 0.07 (0.32) 0.04)

NetInCome ... ... e e $ 226 % 236 % 2.05

See Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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l RAYONIER INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

_ CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
As of December 31,
, . (Doll?rs in thousands unless otherwise noted)
2006 2005
. ASSETS i
CURRENT ASSETS ..ot e e e e
'Cashand cash equivalents ........ ... ... 5 ............... $ 40,171 § 146,227
' Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubiful accounts of $560 and $l 158 ............. 100,309 88,378
[INVENMOLY .ottt e ‘. ............... 75,593 85,545
; Other CUITEIIL ASSES .« « v v v s s s e e e e e e et e e et a v a e b e 41,526 33,948
Timber assets held forsale (Note 6) . ..., fe e 40,955 —
TOtal CUTTENT ASSEES  « . oottt e e ieca e e aanans e 208,554 354,098
TIMBER TIMBERLANDS AND LOGGING ROADS, NET OF DEPLETION AND )
AMORTIZATION . .. e et as ‘. .............. 1,127,513 927,019

PR(I)PERTY, PLANTANDEQUIPMENT . ......... ... ..ot e )
7T ST O P e 25,291 20,896
TBUIIAINES .. oottt e e b e 118,348 114,644
Machinery and eqUIPMERL . .. ... vu i o EEPRRRRRSSRREE 1,221,305 1,216,864

Total property, plant and equipment . ..............covoirocnnn. S 1,364,944 1,352,404
HLess—accumulated depreciation .. ..............couuneuo.s T i .............. (1,011,164)  (991,094)
. ! 353,780 . 361,310

t

INVESTMENT INJOINTVENTURE ....... ..ot 61,233 81,648

OTHERASSETS .............. 121,802 114,989
' { $ 1,962,882 31,839,004

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY :

CURRENT LIABILITIES ... it e et et e e
Accounlspayable...............................................); .............. $ 73,758 § 66,362
‘Bank loans and ¢urrent Maturities ... ..........ooureuranroneennenn, e 3,550 3,310
ACCTUEA tAXES « o v ot et e [ TR e 16,296 19,634
Accrued payroll and benefits .. ... ... . o s 24,879 23,380
ACCIUEA KIS .« + e v e e et e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e et e e et a e 19,551 1,924
sAcerued CUSTOMEr IMCENUVES « o ot vt v v e e e b aeenmernsan et eaanns b 9,494 9,087
Other current liabilities ......... ... ..o o N 35,110 33,951
Current reserves for dispositions and discontinued operations ............. e 10,699 12,422
' Total current liabilities ... .. ... oot s 1 .............. 193,337 170,070

DEFERRED INCOME TAXES .. ... it : .............. — 25,217

LONG-TERMDEBT ...... ... i R PRI 655,447 555,213

NON-CURRENT RESERVES FOR DISPOSITIONS AND DISCONTINUED 7

OPERATIONS .ot et e e 111,817 127,960

PENSION AND OTHER POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS (Note 20) ... .. .. 5 .............. - 73,303 50,638

OTHER NON-CURRENTLIABILITIES . . .. ... ... i e 12,716 18,095

CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS (Notes 16 and 18) ! '

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY '

Common Shares, 120,000,000 shares authorized, 76,879, 826 and 76,092,566 shares issued and

OULSTANAING . . . o oo e Y 450,636 422,364
Retained @AMMINgs . . ... o oo e ‘ .............. 494,272 461,903
Accumulated other comprehensive incomef{loss) ............ ... . S (28,646) 7,604

’ i 916,262 - 891,871

: i " $1,962,882 $1,839,064
- |
i See Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements

|




RAYONIER INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the Years Ended December 31,
{Dollars in thousands, except per share qaw)

2006 2005 2004
OPERATING ACTIVITIES '
N IMCOMIE L ...ttt e s r st et et e ettt ae ettt ia et aaaan s e $ 176418 . $ 182,839 $ 156,901
(Income) loss from discoOntinUed Operations . .. .. ... ..ttt t ittt ettt s et ettt et (5,335) 24,956 3,162
Non-cash items included in income: ]
Depreciation, depletion and amortization ... ... .. i i e et e, 136,495 147,388 146,458
Non-cash cost of real @state Sales ... ... it i e e e, 12,362 11,845 11,006
Non-cash stock-based incentive COMPENsSation XPENSE . .. .. . ...ttt it iateeiaaa i ateeeaaaeearananan 12,078 11,686 8,975
Gain on sale of New Zealand UMber 488els . .. ... ..o i ittt it e i e e (7,769) (36,968) —
Deferred Income taX DenelIl ... .. i e e e e e e, (19,300} {47,592) (52,463)
L1031 LI (1,378) —
(Increase) decrease inaccountsreceivable . ... ... ... . .. i e e P (11,881) (1,422) 2,069
Decrease (IMCTease) I IVEIIONY . . ..ottt et et ettt et e ettt et et st et aa s e et e et et aae e 2,742 (9,624) 1,775
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable . ... .. . e e e e 11,349 (969) 5,668
(Increase) decrease in current timber purchase agreements and other CUITENL ASS€1S . .. .. ... 0ot in i raans (5,104) 7,177 8244
Increase {decrease) in @cCrued Habililes . . ..o\ttt ot e et err s et et i e e 6,963 (15,465} 17,180
Increase in Other NON-CUITENE JIabE I tIES . . .. vttt ottt i ettt e et ettt ettt m s i ia e aaannnas 1,080 691 2,073
Decrease (increase) in non-current timber purchase agreements and other assets . ........oouiirii i e ns 4,847 { 19,322) (10,933)
Expenditures for dispositions and discontinued operations .. ... .. ..o it i e (9,789) (8,697) (7,801)
CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS .................. 306,928 254,145 292,324
CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES FROM DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS . ..... e — 7,762 3,14
INVESTING ACTIVITIES .
Capital eXPenditules . .. ... e e e e e (105462) . (85,261) (87,670)
Purchase of Umberlands ... ... .. i i e ettt iaaaeaaan (277,778) {23,527) (89,264)
PURChase Of ol @8laE . . . ..ottt ittt ittt it e et e e e e (21,101 — —
Proceeds from the sale of NZ timbertands ... ... .. .. i i i e e e — 186,771 —
Investment in NZ JoInt VENIUIE . . .. ..ot e e it a e i e e e —  (121,930) —
Proceeds from sale of portion of New Zealand joint YeNUIE .. ... ...t te i i eiiainaannaas .. 21,770 — —
Proceeds from the sale 0 Oler assets .. .. o .. it i et e et e e et —_ 13,054 —
Decrease (increase) in restricted Cash . . ..o o it i i i i it 1,287 3,297 (2,2i2)
10T O (3.909) 3,853 —
CASH USED FOR INVESTING ACTIVITIES FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS . ..................... (385,193 (23,743) (179,146}
CASH PROVIDED BY (USED FOR) INVESTING ACTIVITIES FROM DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS ... .. — 39,600 (1,639)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Issuance Of debh . L ... e e e e e et e 258,000 150,000 188,000
Repayment 0f debt .. ... e e e e (158,310)  (248,575) (146,545)
Dividends Paid ... ... . i e e (143,883) (129,249) (11L,197)
[ssuance of Comman ShaTes . L. i i i i it i it tiiiaaaaaraaate ettt et it aaaaaan 10,771 15,121 17,743
Excess tax benefits on stock based compensation . ... ... e 4,143 — —
Payment on forward CUITENCY COMEACE - . ..\ v it et e v ettt et e v nr s s e e s n e v aaa et e v maaensaannsans — (2,506) —
Repurchase of common shares and cash in liew of fractional shares .................. e (560) (356) —_
CASH USED FOR FINANCING ACTIVITIES FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS ...................... (29,839)  (215,565) (51,999)
EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES ON CASH ... ... ... . it eiiii s 2,048 (89) 76
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
(Decrease) increase in cash and cash eqUIVAlENTs | ., .. ..ot . ittt e e <oeo (106,056) 62,110 62,720
Balance, beginning OF YEAr . . .. .. . .ttt e e e 146,227 84,117 21,397
Balance, end Of year ... ... e e e $ 40,171 $146,227 $ 84,117
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF CASH FLOW INFORMATIO
Cash paid (received) during the period: ) : '
311 $ 29647 3 48502 3 44817
1 aTeT = Y. L= A S $ 38956 § 29009 $§ (579
Non-cash investing activity:
Capital assets purchased 0N aCCOUNT . .. ..o ottt i i e e F 916 % 13029 % —

See Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.




; RAYONIER INC, AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Dollar amounts in thousands unless othemiise stated)

1. 'NATURE OF BUSINESS OPERATIONS ; o !
i

. Rayonier is a leading international ‘forest. products company primarily engaged in activities associated with timberland
management, the sale and development of real estate, and the production and sale of high value specialty cellulose fibers. The
Company owns, leases or manages approximately 2.7 million acres of tlmber]an'd and real estate located in the United States,
New Zealand and Australia. Included in this property is over 200,000 acres of high value real estate primarily along the coastal
corridor from Savannah, Georgia to Daytona Beach, Florida. The Company also owns and operates two performance fibers
mills in the United States. Our corporate strategy is to pursue strategic growth opportunities in our Timber segment, further
develop .the Real Estate segment, and strengthen our position as a premier worldwide supplier of performance fibers. In
addmon the Company manufactures lumber in three sawmills in Georgla and engages in the trading of logs and wood products.

Rayonier operates in four reportable business segments as defined by Statemem of Financial Accounlmg Standard (SFAS)
No.!131, Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information (SFAS 131): Timber, Real Estate, Performarice
Fibers, and Wood Products. See Note 3 — Segment and Geographical Informanod for additional mformatron

Effectwe January 1, 2004, the Company was restructured to qualify as a Real Estate Investment Trust (REIT). The
Company is generally not required to pay federal income taxes on its U.S. timber harvest earnings and other REIT operations
contingent upon meeting applicable distribution, income, asset, shareholder and other tests. However, the Company is subject to
corporate taxes on built-in gains (the excess of fair market value over tax basis at January 1, 2004) on taxable sales of property
from the REIT during the first ten years following the election to be taxed as a REIT The U.S. timber operations are conducted
by the Company's wholly-owned subsidiary, Rayonier Forest Resources, L.P. (RFR) Non-REIT-qualifying and certain foreign
operations, which continue to pay corporate-level tax on earnings, are held under Rayomer TRS Holdings Inc. (TRS), a wholly-
owned taxable REIT subsidiary of Rayonier Inc. These operations include the Performance Fibers and Wood Products
busrnesses as well as the Real Estate segmem s sale of high value property (referred to as higher and better use (HBU)).

‘ |
Tlmber ' C

IRayomer owns, leases, or manages approximately 2.6 million acres of tlmberlands located in the U.S., New Zealand and
Australia. The Company’s Timber segment includes all activities that relate to the harvesting of timber in addition to managing
timberlands and selling timber and logs to third parties. In 2006, the Company acquired 228,000 timberland acres in six states
which increased its geographlc footprint and species mix. The Company beheves it is now the fifth largest private timberland
owner in the U.S. .

Real Estate }

‘Rayonier has invested in timberlands seeking to maximize its total returnlfrom a full cycle of ownership, which now
includes developing or selling portions of its asset base to capture the apprecmted value. An increasing portion of Rayonier’s
acreage has become, or is emerging as, more valuable for development, recreatlonal or conservation purposes than for growing
of timber. As a result, the Company established TerraPointe LLC in 2005 to expand its focus to include more value added real
estate activities such as seeking entitlements and mvestmg in infrastructure 1mprovements directly or in participation with other
developers. . : . -

b . . t

Lo

Performance Fibers _ o

lRayomer is a manufacturer of hlgh performanee cellulose fibers with two production facilities in Jesup, GA and

Fernandina Beach, FL, which have a combined annual capacity of approximately 740,000 metric tons. These fiber products are

sold, throughout the world to companies that produce a wide variety of products including foods, pharmacewticals, textiles,

electronics and various industrial applications. Approximately 61 percent of performance fiber sales are to export customers,

pnmanly in Europe, Asia and Latin America. !
i !

Cellulose Specralues—Rayomer is a producer of specralty cellulose products, most of which are used in dissolving
chemlcal applications that require a highly purified form of cellulose fiber. The Company concentrates on producing the most
hightvalue, technologically-demanding forms of cellulose specialty products, such as cellulose acetate and high-purity cellulose
ethers, and is a leading supplier of these products.

v
I
i
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RAYONIER INC, AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

{Dollar amounts in thousands unless otherwise stated) -

1. NATURE OF BUSINESS OPERATIONS (Continued)

Absorbent Materials — Rayonier is a producer of performance fibers for absorbent hygiene products. These fibers are
typically referred to as fluff fibers and are used as an absorbent medium in products such as disposable baby diapers, feminine
hygiene products, incontinence pads, convalescent bed pads, industrial towels and wipes and non-woven fabrics. . . :

Wood Products

The Company operates and sells dimension lumber products through three lumber manufacturing facilities in the U.S. In
2005, Rayonier sold its medium-density fiberboard (MDF) business located in New Zealand and, as a result, restated prior years
to reflect the operating results of MDF as discontinued operations. See Note 7 — Sale of Medium-Density Fiberboard Business
(MDF) for additional information. '

Other

Rayonier operates log trading businesses in the Northwest U.S., New Zealand and Chile, including exporting logs from
New Zealand and Chile: The Company also purchases and trades lumber and wood products in both domestic and export
markets. -

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Rayonier and its subsidiaries, in which it has a .majority
ownership or controlling interest. All intercompany balances and transactions are eliminated. For income tax purposes, the
Company files two U.S. federal income tax returns, one for REIT operations and a consolidated filing for TRS operations as
well as several state, local, and foreign income tax returns.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and
expenses during the reporting period. There are risks inherent in estimating and therefore actual results could differ from those
estimates.

New Aécounting Standards

In June 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued FASB Interpretation (FIN) No., 48, Accounting for
Uncertainty in Income Taxes — an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109. This Interpretation clarifies the accounting for
uncertain tax positions recognized in an enterprise’s financial statements in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting

-Standards (SFAS) No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes. It prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement attribute for
the financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax paosition taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. In addition,
it provides guidance on derecognition, classification and interest and penalties. FIN 48 is effective for fiscal years beginning
after December 15, 2006. The Company will adopt FIN 48 in the first quarter of 2007 and is in the process of determining the
impact it will have on its financial position, cash flows and results of operations.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, Fair Value Measurements (SFAS 157). This statement defines fair
value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value in generally accepted accounting principles, and expands disclosures
about fair value measurements. This statement applies to other accounting pronouncements where the FASB requires or permits
fair value measurements, Accordingly, this statement does not require any new fair value measurements. This statement is
effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007, and interim periods within those
fiscal years. The Company is required to adopt SFAS 157 in the first quarter of 2008 and has not yet determined the effect if
any, the adoption of SFAS 157 will have on its results of operations or financial position.
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RAYONIER INC, AND SUBSIDIARIES
! NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(Dollar amounts in thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. '‘SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

In September 2006, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position (FSP) No. AUG AIR-1, Accounting for Planned Major
Maz?tenance Activities. This .FSP prohibits companies from recognizing planned major maintenance costs under the
‘accrue-in-advance” method that allowed the accrual of a liability over scveral-repomng periods before the maintenance is
performed FSP AUG AIR-1 is applicable to entities in all industries for fiscal years beginning after December 135, 2006, and
must be retrospectively applied. The Company has not yet determined the effect, 'if any, the adoption of FSP AUG AIR-1 will

have on its results of operations or financial position.
!

The FASB also issued SFAS No. 158, Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benef' it Pension and Other Postretirement Plans
— an amendment of FASB Statement Nos. 87, 88, 106 and 132(R) (SFAS 158),'in September 2006. This Statement requires
recognition of the funded status of a benefit plan in the statement of financial position. The Statement also requires recognition
in other comprehensive income of certain gains and losses that arise during the penod but are deferred under current pension
accounting rules, as well as modifies the timing of reporting. SFAS 158 prov1des recognition and disclosure elements to be
effective for fiscal years ending after December 15, 2006 and measurement elements to be effective for fiscal years ending after
December 15, 2008, The Company recognized the funded status of its benefit plans in its Consolidated Balance Sheet as of
December 31, 2006. See Note 20 — Employee Benefit Plans for additional information about the impact of SFAS 158 on the
Company s pension and other postretlrement plans. .

! . . . N . o
Cash and cash equivalents include time deposits with maturities at date of acquisition of three months or less.

t [ : + . .

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Invehtory ;
: . ’ i . .
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market. The costs of manufactured performance fibers are determined on the

first-in, first-out (FIFO) basis. Other products are valued on an average cost basis. Inventory costs include material, labor and

manufacturing overhead. Physical counts of inventories are taken at least annually. The need for a provision for estimated losses

from tobsolete excess or slow-moving mventones is rev1ewed penodlcally |

HBU réal estate propertles that are expected 1o be sold within one year are mcluded in inventory, while properties that are
expected to be sold after one year are included in “Other assets.” '
| 1

X

1

|

Equity Method Investments e

The Company accounts for its interest in a New Zealand joint venture (JVI) under the equity method of accounting in
accordance with Accounting Principles Board (APB) Opinion No. 18, The Eqmty Method of Accounting for Investments in
Common Stock. Rayonier does not have a controllmg financial interest but exerts 31gn1ﬁcanl influence over the JV’s operating
and financial policies. . . . l

|
Tlmber

Costs relating to acquiring, plantmg and growing of timber including real eslate taxes lease rental payments and site
preparation are capitalized. Such accumulated costs attributed to merchantable timber are charged to cost of goods sold at the
time the timber is harvested or the timberiand is sold, based on the relationship of harvested timber to the estimated volume of
currently merchantable timber. Timber is stated at the lower of cost or markcl_value‘

Timber Purchase Agreements and Timber-Cutting Contracts ‘ |

Rayonier purchases timber for use in its Performance Fibers, Wood Products and log trading operations. Timber that will
be harvested within one year of the balance sheet date is classified as a current asset with the remainder classified as a
non-current asset. Generally, the Company does not have sales contracts thatl are matched to specific timber purchase
agreements; therefore Rayonier evaluates the realizability of timber purchases and timber-cutting contracts based on the
estimated aggregate purchase price and harvesting cost of such timber and the sales ‘values to be realized. Losses are recorded in
the pcnod that a determination is made that the aggregate costs in a major operating area will not be fully recoverable.

!
l

1
1




RAYONIER INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(Dollar amounts in thousands unless otherwise stated)
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Property, Plant, Equipment and Depreciation

Property, plant and equipment addittons are recorded at cost, including applicable freight, taxes, interesi, construction and
installation costs. Pulp mill assets are accounted for using the composite method. Upon ordinary retirement or sale of property,
accumulated depreciation is charged with the cost of the property removed and credited with the proceeds of salvage value, with
no gain or loss recognized. Gains and losses with respect to any significant or unusual retirements of assets and all other assets
not accounted for under the composite methed are included in operating income. '

Long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by net undiscounted cash
flows expected to be generated by the asset. If such assets are considered to be impaired, the impairment to be recognized is
measured by the amount by which the carrying value exceeds the fair value of the assets. Assets to be disposed of are reported at
the lower of the carrying amount or fair value less cost to sell.

The Company depreciates its assets using units-of-production and straight-line depreciation methods. At its Performance
Fibers facilities, the units-of-production method is used for all assets except office, lab, and transportation equipment which are
depreciated using the straight-line method over 10 to 15 years. In addition, all of the assets at the Company’s sawmills are
depreciated using the straight-line method over 3 to 15 years, Buildings and land improvements are depreciated using the
straight-line method over 25 to 35 years and 15 to 25 years, respectively.

In 2006, the Company utilized the accrue-in-advance method within the fiscal year to account for planned annual major
maintenance costs during shut down at its two Performance Fibers mills. Effective January 1, 2007, the Company adopted FSP
AUG AIR-1, Accounting for Planned Major Maintenance Activities, and began utilizing the deferral method to account for
these costs. Routine repair and maintenance costs are expensed as incurred. See also the previous discussion included in the
New Accounting Standards section of this footnote regarding FSP AUG AIR-1,

Foreign Currency Translation

The functional currency of the Company’s New Zealand-based operations and its JV investment is the New Zealand dollar.
All assets and liabilities are translated into U.S. dollars at the exchange rate in effect at the respective balance sheet dates with
the resulting translation gain or loss recorded as a separate compenent of Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income/{loss),
(AOCI), within Shareholders’ Equity. ' '

Financial Instruments

The Company is exposed to various market risks, including changes in interest rates and éommodity prices. The
Company’s objective is to partially mitigate the economic impact of these market risks. Derivatives are used, as noted below, in
accordance with policies and procedures approved by the Finance Committee of the Board of Directors and are managed by a
senior executive committee, whose responsibilities include initiating, managing and monitoring resulting exposures. The
Company does not enter into such financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes.

SFAS No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities (SFAS 133), as amended, requires that all
derivative financial instrurnents such as interest rate swap agreements be recognized in the financial statements and measured at
fair value regardless of the purpose or intent for holding them. Transactions that provide for the forward purchase or sale of raw
materials are not included in the financial statements until physical delivery of the product, as these transactions are done in the
normal course of business and qualify for treatment as normal purchases and sales under SFAS 133.

Interest Rate Swap Agreements

Rayonier periodically uses swap agreements to manage exposure to interest rate fluctuations. Such agreements
involve the exchange of fixed rate interest payments for floating rate payments over the life of the agreement without the
exchange of any underlying principal amounts, Rayonier’s credit exposure is limited to the fair value of the agreements,
and the Company enters into agreements only with counterparties having a long-term bond rating of “A” or higher. The
Company does not enter into interest rate swap agreements for trading or speculative purposes and matches the terms and
contract amounts to existing debt or debt expected to be refinanced. The Company’s interest rate swaps qualify as fair




RAYONIER INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(Dollar amounts in thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

value hedges under SFAS 133 and as such the net effect of the swaps is recorded as interest expense. In addition, the
Company marks the interest rate swap agreements to market by recording an asset or liability and a corresponding increase
or decrease in its long-term debt.
- !

Commodity Swap Agreements

The Company periodicaily enters into commodity forward contracts to fix some of its fuel oil and natural gas costs at
1ts Performance Fibers mills. The forward contracts partially mitigate the risk of a change in Performance Fibers margins
resulting from an increase or decrease in fuel oil and natural gas prices. The Company’s commodity agreements do not
qualify for hedge accounting and are marked to market. Gains or losses resulting from the valuation are recorded in “Other
1c)I:»eratmg income, net.” '

Fair Value

* Rayonier uses the following methods and assumptions in estimating the fair value of its financial instruments:
. Cash and cash equivalents — The carrying amount is equal to fair market value.

Debt — The Company’s short-term bank loans and floating rate debt approximate fair value. The fair value of fixed
rate long-term debt is based upon quoted market prices for these or similar issues or rates currently available to the
. Company for debt with similar terms and maturities. -

Interest rate swap agreements — The fair value of interest rate swap agreements is based upon the estimated cost to
terminate the agreements, taking into account current interest rates. The Company obtains a market valuation of the

fair value of the swap.
: I

Commodity swap agreements — The fair value of fuel oil and natural gas swap agreements is based upon the
estimated cost to terminate the agreements, taking into account current prices. The Company obtains a market
valuation of the fair value of the swap. . !

Revenue Recognition i

The Company generally recognizes revenues when the following criteria are met: (i) persuasive evidence of an agreement
exists, (ii) delivery has occurred (iii) the Company’s price to the buyer is ﬁxed and determinable, and (iv) collectibility is
reasonably assured.

Revenue from the sale of timber is recorded when title passes to the buyer Timber sales in the Southeast U.S. and
Northwest U.S. are primarily made on a pay-as-cut basis. These contracts generally require a minimum 15 percent initial
payment and title and risk of loss are transferred when the timber is cut. !

Real estate sales are recorded when title passes and when full payment or a minimum down payment of 25 percent is
received and full collectibility is assured, in compliance with SFAS 66, Accounting for Sales of Real Estate. If a down payment
of less than 25 percent is received at closing or if full collectibility is not reasonably assured, the Company records revenue
based on the installment method or cost recovery method. The Company follows the same revenue recognition policy when
recording intercompany real estate sales from the REIT to the TRS and eliminates these transactions on a consolidated basis.

Revenue from domestic sales of Performance Fibers products is recorded when goods are shipped and title passes. Foreign
sales of Performance Fibers products are recorded when the customer or agent receives the goods and title passes.
i

Lumber sales are recorded when the goods are shipped and title passes.

The Company’s Other segment includes log and wood products trading sales. In the Northwest U.S. and in Chile, all log
trading sales are domestic and revenue is recorded when the goods are received by the customer and title passes. In New
Zealand, approximately sixty-two percent of the log trading sales are exported. New Zealand domestic sales are recorded when
the goods are received by the customer and title passes. Revenue on export sales is:recorded when the goods are shipped to the
customer and title passes.




RAYONIER INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Centinued)

(Dollar amounts in thousands unless otherwise stated)
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue is recognized on domestic wood products trading sales when the product arrives at the contracted destination and
title passes. Export wood products trading revenue is recognized when the product is shipped and title passes.

Freight and handling costs

Costs for freight and handling are reported in cost of sales.

Environmental Costs

Rayo‘nier expenses environmental costs related to ongoing businesses resulting' from current operations. Expenditures that
meaningfully extend the life or increase the efficiency of operating assets are capitalized. The Company expenses environmental
obligations related to dispositions or discontinued operations from which no current or future benefit is discernible and accrues
its obligation to remediate and monitor environmental liabilities. These obligations are projected for a span of up to
approximately 20 years and require significant estimates to determine the proper amount at any point in time. Generally,
monitoring expense obligations are fixed once remediation projects are at or near completion. The projected period, from 2007
through 2026, reflects the time in which potential future costs are both estimable and probable and are reviewed annually and
adjusted when necessary, based on technological, regulatory or other changes that may affect them. As new information
becomes available, the Company will either accrue additional or reverse recorded reserves. Environmental reserves are reflected
in current and non-current “Reserves for dispositions and discontinued operations™ in the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

Research and Development

Research and development effons are directed primarily at further developing ex1sung core products and technologies,
improving the quality of cellulose fiber grades, absorbent materials and related products, improving manufacturing efficiency,
reducing energy needs and developing improved environmental controls. Research activities related to timberland operations
include genetic tree improvement programs as well as applied silviculture programs to identify management practices that
improve financial returns from timberland assets. Research and development costs are expensed as incurred and aggregated $6
million for both 2006 and 2005 and $7 million in 2004,

Income Taxes

3

Deferred income taxes are provided using the asset and liability method under the provisions of SFAS 109. Income taxes
on foreign operations are provided based upon the statutory tax rates of the applicable foreign country. U.S. income taxes have -
not been provided on foreign earnings that the Company intends to permanently reinvest overseas.

Stock-Based Employee Compensation

Prior to January 1, 2006, the Company accounted for stock-based compensation using the intrinsic value based method
under Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25 (APB 25), Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees and relatéd
Accounting Interpretations thereof, as permitted by FASB Statement No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation. No
compensation expense was recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income for 2005 or 2004
for stock options under APB 25. The Company adopted SFAS No. 123(R), Share-Based Payment, on January 1, 2006 using the
modified prospective method, which requires stock-based compensation to,be accounted for at fair value,

At December 31, 2006, the Company had two stock-based employee compensation plans. The 1994 Rayonier Incentive
Stock Plan (the 1994 Plan) provided for the grant of incentive stock options, non- qualified stock options, stock appreciation
_rights, performance shares and restricted stock, subject to certain limitations. Effective January 1, 2004, the Company adopted
the 2004 Rayonier Incentive Stock and Management Bonus Plan (the 2004 Plan), after shareholder approval was obtained. The
2004 Plan provides for 4.5 million shares to be granted for incentive stock options, non-qualified stock options, stock
appreciation rights, performance shares and restricted stock, subject to certain limitations. The Company has issued
non-qualified stock options, performance shares and restricted stock under both of the plans. The Company issues new shares of
stock upon the exercise of stock options, the granting of restricted stock, and the vesting of performance shares.




I RAYONIER INC. AND SUBSIDIA';RIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {Continued)

(Dollar amounts in thousands unless otherwise stated)
t

2. lSUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

See Note 19 — Incentive Stock Plans for additional information regarding the :Company’s stock-based compensation.

Pension and Postretirement Benefits i

Rayonier records pension and postretirement net periodic benefil cost in accordance with SFAS No. 87, Employers’
Accounting for Pensions (SFAS 87), and SFAS No. LO6(R), Employers’ Accountmg for Postretirement Benefits Other Than
Pensions (SFAS 106(R)). Several estimates and assumptions are required to record these costs and liabilities, including discount
rate, return on assets, salary increases, health care cost trends, and longevity and service lives of employees. Management
reviews and updates these assumptions periodically. In the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31, 2005,
pension and postretirement assets and liabilities were accounted for in accordance with SFAS 87 and SFAS 106(R). Effective
December 31, 2006, in accordance with SFAS 158, the Company recognized the overfunded or underfunded status of its
pension and postretirement plans as an asset or liability, respectively, in its Consolidated Balance Sheet while recognizing the
resulting changes in the asset and liability, net of tax in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income/(Loss). See Note 20 —
Emp[loyee Benefit Plans, for additional information about the Company’s pension and postretirement plans.

Reclelssiﬁcations . : ) l

) ]
Certain 2005 and 2004 amounts have been reclassified to agree with the current year presentation.

- 1

3. SEGMENT AND GEOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION

f
Rayomer operates in four reportable business segments as defined by SFAS l3l Timber, Real Estate, Performance Fibers,
and Wood Products. Timber sales include all activities that relate to the harvesting of timber. Real Estate sales currently include
the sale of all properties, including those designated for HBU. In 2006, the Real Estate segment entered into its first
participation agreements with two developers as part of our strategy to move up the real estate value chain. For the ﬁrst
transaction, the Company received and recognized as revenue $10 million in cash at closing and has the option to receive
$17.5 million when the property is entitled, or at that time, to convert the balance ($17 5 million} to a participation arrangement
where Rayonier would receive a percentage of gross revenue from the sales of home lots. The second transaction was for
$28.3.million, of which $22.6 million was received at closing and the remaining $5'7 million will be earned when the purchaser
builds and sells homes to third parties. In the future, the real estate segment may also include revenue generated from properties
with entitlements and infrastructure. improvements. The assets of the Real Estate segment include HBU property held by the
Company’s real estate subsidiary, TerraPointe LLC, and parcels under contract previously in the Timber segment. Allocations
of depletion expense and non-cash costs of land sold are recorded when the Real Eslate segment sells an asset from the Timber
segment. The Performance Fibers segment includes two major product lines, Cellulose Specialties and Absorbent Matenals The
Wood Products segment is comprised of the Company’s lumber operations. The Company’s remaining operations include
purchasing, harvesting and selling timber acquired from third parties (log trading) :lmd trading wood products. As permitted by
SFAS 131, these operations are combined and reported in an “Other” category. Sales between operating segments are made
based.on fair market value and intercompany profit or loss is eliminated in consohdaﬂon The Company evaluates financial
performance based on the operating income of the segments. ‘
i
Operating income/(loss) as presented. in the Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income, is equal to
segment income/(loss). Certain income/(loss) items in the Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income are
not allocated to segments. These iterns, which include gains/(losses) from asset dlsposmons interest, miscellaneous income/
(expense) and income tax (expense)/benefit, are not considered by Company management to be part of segment operations.

b
'

In 2005, the Company entered into a joint venture (JV) with RREEF Infrastructure, the global infrastructure investing arm
of Deutsche Asset Management. The Company’s initial investment in the JV represented a 49.7 percent equity interest. In 2006,
the Company reduced its investment in the JV from 49.7 percent to 40 percent. In ziiddition to having an equity investment, the
Company provides timberland management services to the JV, for which it receives'a fee. The Company’s investment in the JV
is inclided in the Timber segment. See Note 5 — Joint Venture Investment for additi]onal information on the JV.

; |




RAYONIER INC: AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(Dollar amounts in thousands unless otherwise stated)
3. SEGMENT AND GEOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION (Continued)- : 0

In August 2005, the Company sold its MDF business and the operations are shown as discontinued operations. These
operations were previously included in the Wood Products segment, which was restated to exclude the operations and assets of
MDF for all periods presented.

In 2006, a group of customers under common control represented approximately 11 percent of the Company’s consolidated
sales, In 2003, no single customer or group of customers under common control represented 10 percent or more of the
Company’s consolidated sales. In 2004, a group of customers under common _control represented approximately 11 percent of
the Company’s consolidated sales.

. Segment information for each of the three years cm-icd December 3i, 2006, follaws (in millions of dollars):

Sales

, - 2006 2005 2004
Timber .. e e B e et ey $ 207 % 208 $ 186
Real Bstate ... .. ittt ittt it ettt e et e e e ey 112 86 96
Performance FIDerS ... .. ittt e e .. 672 628 582
WoodProducts . ... .. ...t it PP 111 137 126
T . e e e 128 123 174
Corporate and eliminations ... ........c.ccuuiiun ittt it e SN — (1) (b
Total ................... e e e e e e e e e e e e e $1,230 $1,181 $1,163

r Operating Income/

(Loss)

. ' oo 2006 2005 2004
Timber ......c.oooviiiiin.n, [P FERPTI L $90 $87 $T72
RealEstate * .............. .. ...t PR e 89 64 75
Performance Fibers . ... ........ S e . 80 53 47
WoodProducts ............. ... . i, e e 3 16 13
Other ... . i e 1 1 6
Corporate and eliminations ** ......../...... A PO O A 27 (1) @
Total ...l P e .. $230 $220 $173

* Operatiﬂg income includes a charge for the non-cash cfost of real estate sold of $12 million, $12 miltion and $11 million in
2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

**  Corporate and eliminations includes a $7.8 million gain on sale of a partial interest in the New Zealand IV in 2006 and a
$37.0 million gain on sale of New Zealand timberlands to_Lhc; JV in 2005. ‘ .
Gross Capital
Expenditures
. . . . . ) - 2006 2005 2004
1111+ 1= T, - $309 % S8 $124
REal Eotale . . ..t e e e e e e 2] — —_
Performance Fibers ... ... et et e e e e e e e 69 .45 47
Wood Products . ... ... e e e 6 5 5
L 13T 1 1_ 1
Total ............ e e e e %406 5109 $177

*  Timber gross capital expenditures include strategic acquisitions of $278 ‘million, $24 million and $89 million in 2006, 2005
. and 2004, respectively.
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' RAYONIER-INC. AND SUBSIDIALRIES
| NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(Dollar amounts in thousands unless otherwise stated)
. i
3. SEGMENT AND GEOGRAFHICAL INFORMATION (Continued)
; ' l Depreciation,
: Depletion and
; ) _ R * . . Amortization
i | 2006 2005 2004
THMDET © oo $53 $61 $56
Real Estate . ............. T 2 4 4
Performance Fibers ... ........ ... ... oo b 7375 77
WOOE PrOGUCTS oo ettt ettt ittt e e e s e 7 7 8
Other ........ e e R — - 1
Corporate . ... ... ... e SRR R RRRRREE 1 - -
Ot o e ; .................. 5136 $147 $146
. |
! o l ) . Identifiable Assets
i ! 2006 2005
THIDET ® . oot e $1,255 $1,033
Real Estate ....7" ... .... T P 54 30
Performance Fibers . ... 0. } ..................... 474 460
Wood Products ............. S 35 40
Other ........ic.oivviiiiinins e e I 29 35
Corporate / Discontinued Operations ...........ccoeiiniiineiiniiernnrnees e 116 241
Total . PR e $1,963 $1,839
[} — —_—

*  Timber assets as"of December 31, 2006 and 2005 include $61 million and $82 million, respectively, for the Company’§
equity method investment in the New Zealand JV. l

. 1

Product Line Information

Sales by product line for each of the three years ended December 31, 2006, were as follows (in millions of dollars):

I f ) Year Ended ljecember 1,
f 2006 2005 2004
TAMBEE oot U U $ 207 § 208 § 186
Real Estate . | .
Rural ..... R e P 40 42 25
Development ......... PN e e D 72 42 67
Other........... e } ............. — 2 4
Total Real Estate .......... e e e i, 112 86 96
Performance Fibers : i
- . Cellulose Specialties .............. e e e ‘ ............. -499 449 419
Absorbent Materials'. ... ..... DU PP VI e e e - 173 179 163
Total Performance Fibers .......... e R : ............. 672 628 582
Wood Products . . . .. T PR O P 1137126
L 11 1 P F O ETEREEY 128 123 174
Intersegment Eiminations ......... ..o iiio i e —_ 1) )
ToOtAl Sl6S .1+ ere ettt b $1,230 SLI8I $1,163
3 : : ‘ = ==

s
|




RAYONIER INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
{Dollar amounts in thousands uniess otherwise stated)

3. SEGMENT AND GEOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION (Continued) . .

Geographical Operating Information

Information by geographical operating area for each of the three years ended December 31, 2006, was as follows (in
millions of dollars):

Operating
Sales Income/(Loss) Identifiable Assets
2006 2005 2004 2006 2005 2004 2006 2005
United States .. ... it it $1,182 $1,122 $1,087 $231 $219 §$168 $1,863 $1,731
NewZealand ........... ... ... i iiiiiiiinnn.. 32 49 50 (1) | 5 9] 97
AllOther...... ... .. i 16 . 10 26 — — — 9 11
Total ..... A $1,230 $1,181 $1,163 3230 $220 $173 $1,963 $1,839

Rayonier’s sales by destination for each of the three years ended December 31, 2006, were as follows (m millions of
dollars)

Sales by Destination 7

. 2006 _‘EE_ 2005 % 2004 % .

United States ..............cooeeenn... e $ 777 63 $ 739 63 $ 736 63
Burope ... . e e 167 14 161 14 134 11
JaPaN e e e 88 7 72 6 80 7
China ... e 79 6 61 5 66 6
Other ASIa . ... ot e e 37 3 52 4 54 5
Latin America ... ..o e _ 30 2 37 3 31 3
Canada .. ... e 21 2 20 2 20 2
NewZealand .. ... ... . e e . 19 2 30 2 30 2
Allother ... e 12 1 9 1 2 1
Total Sales ... ... e $1,230 100 31,181 100 $1,163 100

The majority of sales to foreign countries are denominated in U.S. dollars.

4. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Foreign Currency Forward Contracts

The Company had no outstanding foreign currency contracts or settlements of foreign currency contracts during 2006.

The qualifying earnings of Rayonier International Financial Services Limited (RIFSL), a wholly owned subsidiary of TRS,
were repatriated on August 12, 2005 and October 5, 2005. RIFSL received a $227.8 million New Zealand dollar (NZD)
payment on intercompany notes denominated in New Zealand dollars on October 3, 2005. On August 1, 2005, the Company
began recording the impact of the fluctuations in the New Zealand dollar in its Consolidated Statements of Income and
Comprehensive Income, since Rayonier New Zealand Limited (RNZ), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Rayonier Inc., intended to
repay the intercompany notes. Prior to the settlement of these notes, the Company recorded a $2.4 millien gain from revaluing
lhe intercompany notes to the September 30, 2005 NZD/USD foreign exchange rate in “Interest and miscellanedus income,

" In order to minimize the economic exposure from exchange rates, RIFSL entered into a foreign currency forward to hedge
the conversion of New Zealand dollars to U.S. dollars. The contract matured on October 3, 2005 and the Company recorded'a
loss of $2.5 million on this forward currency contract.

In the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income for the years ended December 31, 2005
and 2004, gains of approximately $0.8 million and $1.7 million, respectively, were recorded on foreign currency contracts
primarily reflecting realized gains on matured contracts, plus the time value changes for outstanding contracts. In 2005 and
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1

4. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) '

|
2004, the gains and losses representing the change in the forward contracts’ time value, which.are excluded for purposes of
measuring the contracts’ effectiveness, were insignificant and recorded in earnings over the life of the contracts. The gains and
losses resulting from these foreign currency contracts are presented in the net losses from the discontinued operations of MDF
in the Company’s Consolidated Statement of Income and Comprehensive Income. See Note 7 — Sale of Medium-Density
Fiberboard Business (MDF). . }

| , o

At December 31, 2005, the Company had no outstanding New Zealand foreign currency- contracts. The largest amount of
foreign currency forward contracts outstanding during 2005 totaled 7.5 million. . -

i .
Interest Rate Swap Agreements ]

RFR entered into an interest rate swap on $40 million of 8.288 percent fixed rate notes payable which settles every June 30
and December 31 and matures on December 31, 2007. The swap converts interest!payments from the fixed rate to a six month
LIBOR plus 4.99 percent rate and qualifies as a fair value hedge under SFAS 133 IAs such, the net effect from the interest rate
swap-is recorded as interest expense. The swap increased the Company’s mterest expense by $0.8 million and $0.1 million
during 2006 and 2005, respectively. The swap reduced the Company’s interest expense by $0.7 million for the year ended
December 31, 2004. Based upon current interest rates for similar transactions, the fair value of the interest rate swap agreement
at December 31, 2006 and 2005 resulted in a liability of approximately $0.8 million and $1.2 million, respecnvely, with
corresponding decreases in debt. .

» . : |

In addition, RFR entered into an interest rate swap on $50 million of 8.288 percent fixed rate notes payable which also
settles every June 30 and December 31 and matures on December 31, 2007. The swap converts interest payments from the fixed
rate t0 a six month LIBOR plus 4.7825 percent rate and qualifies as a fair value hedge under SFAS 133. As such, the net effect
of the interest rate swap is recorded in interest expense. The swap increased the Company’s interest expense by $0.9 million for
the year ended December 31, 2006. The swap reduced the Company’s interest expense by $0.1 million and $0.6 million for the
years'ending December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Based upon current interest rates for similar transactions, the fair value
of the interest rate swap agreement at December 31, 2006 and 2005 resulted in liabilities of approximately $0.9 million and
$13 nulhon respectively with corresponding decreases in debt. T
Comx{nofdity Swap Agreements |

During the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, the Company realized gains of $1.1 million, $3.1 million and
$0.5 million, respectively, on fuel oil forward contracts that matured. The mark-to-market valuation on outstanding fuel oil
forward contracts at December 31, 2006 and 2005 resulted in a liability of $0.4 million and an asset of $0.8 million,
respective]y The mark-to-market adjustments are recorded in “Other operating income/expense.”

During the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, the Company reahzed a loss of $0.7 million and gains of $0.8
million and $0.' million, respectively, on natural gas forward contracts that matured The mark-to-market valuation on
outstanding natural gas forward contracts at December 31, 2006 and 2005 resulted in a liability of $0.1 million and an asset of
$0.3 r'lnillion. respectively. The mark-to-market adjustments are recorded in “Other éperating income/expense.”

b

r

Fair Value of Financial Instruments |

At Decembér 31, 2006 and 2005, the estimated fair values of Rayonier’s ﬁnanéial instruments were as follows:

| ‘ . ! 2006 2005

i Carrying Carrying

I Asset (liability) Amount Fair Value Amount Fair Value
Cash and cash equivalents . ........................ T, $ 40,171 $ 40,171 § 146227 § 146,227
Long-termdebt............. [ $(6|55,447) $(696,170) $(555,213) $(602,217)
Interest rate SWap AETEEMENLS . ... v v v vt v et e ettt raannnans $ LTS (L7TTH 8 (2551 § (2,557

Commodity SWap agTEEMENtS . . ... ...oununeernneeaeetntanenernns $ '(483) % (483) % 1,037 $ 1,037
|

!
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5. JOINT VENTURE INVESTMENT

In 2005, the Company entered into a joint venture (JV) arrangement with RREEF Infrastructure, the global infrastructure
investing arm of Deutsche Asset Management (RREEF), under which the JV purchased approximately 354,000 acres of New
Zealand timberlands. The JV used investor capital of approximately $245 million and secured bank debt of approximately $260
million to purchase RNZ's forests consisting of 118,000 acres for approximately $187 million and 236,000 acres of New
Zealand forests and related businesses from Carter Holt Harvey (CHH), an Australasian forest products company, for
approximately $301 million. The Company’s initial investment represented a 49.7 percent equity interest in the JV. In addition
to having an equity investment, RNZ provides timberland management services to the JV, for which it receives a fee. The sale
of RNZ’s forests in 2005 resulted in $65 million in cash proceeds, net of the Company’s investment in the JV, and a $73 million
gain, of which $37 million was recognized (based on the proportion of non-Rayonier (outside) interests in the IV on the date of
sale) and the remaining $36 million was deferred.

On June 30, 2006, the Company reduced its-investment in the JV from 49.7 percent to 40 percent. AMP Capital Investors
Limited, a subsidiary of the Australasian corporation AMP Limited, purchased a total interest in the JV of 35 percent, of which
9.7 percent was from RNZ and the remainder from RREEF. The Company received approximately $21.8 million in cash
proceeds and recorded an after-tax gain of $6.5 miilion or $0.08 per commen share. The total after-tax gain includes
approximately $4.9 million of previously deferred gain from RNZ’s October 3, 2005 timberland sale to the JV,

Rayonier’s investment in the JV is accounted for using the equity method of accounting. Income from the JV is reported in
the Timber segment as operating income since the Company manages the forests and its JV interest is an extension of RNZ’s
operations. The JV is subject to New Zealand income taxes; however, its timber harvest operations are within the REIT, and
therefore the Company generally is not required to pay U.S. federal income taxes on its equity investment income.

A portion of Rayonier’s equity method investment is recorded at historical cost which generates a difference between the
book value of the Company’s investment and its proportionate share of the JV’s net assets. The difference represents the
Company’s unrecognized gain from RNZ's sale of timberlands to the IV, The deferred gain will be recognized on a straight-line
basis over the estimated number of years the IV expects to harvest from the timberlands.

A rollforward of the Company’s investment in the }V for the year ended December 31, 2006 and from inception on
October 3, 2005 through December 31, 2005 follows (in millions):
December 31, December 31,
2006

2005
Balance at beginning of period ... ... ... e i $81.7 $85.3
Equity in loss of JV .. e " {0.6) (1.4)
Foreign exchange translation gain (loss)}other . ... ... . . i it - 02 (0.5)
Interest INCOmME™ . . . ... . e e (6.2) (1.7
Partial sale Of INVESUMENT . . ... .ttt e et e e e e (13.9) —_—
Balance atend of period .......................... e $61.2 $81.7

*  The Compa-ny records interest income as equity in eamnings of the JV with the offset as current interest receivable. The
interest receivable as of December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005 was $1.1 million and $1.7 million, respectively.

Summarized financial information for the JV for the year ended December 31, 2006 and from inception through
December 31, 2005, and at December 31, 2006.and 2005 is as follows (in millions):

Twelve months ended Three months ended
December 31, 2006 December 31, 2005

SAlES . . oo S $140.4 $21.7
Operating incOme (JOSS) ... ..\ \ vt rrs e e $ 73 $ 2.1
Pretax 10ss from Operations . .. ... ... .. i e $(26.6) $(10.4)

Nt IO8S ¥ L e e e e e $(17.8) $ (6.9
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S. '.IIOINT VENTURE INVESTMENT (Continued)

| \ + ' December 31,2006 December 31, 2005%*

Currelnt ASSELS ... P P e . ..... $ 27.1 $ 176

Timber and timberlands .............. ... ... e RO 452.3 . 4637

Goodwill .. .... e e : ..... 387 374
TOL ASSELS . .+« v v et et e e e e ‘l ..... $518.1 $518.7
; ‘ . . v = EE—

CUITent TIADIGES . . ... .. v vt e ettt e e e et $ 242 $ 149

Noncurrent liabilities . ... ......oooriiri e . 305.5 304.4

Partners’ debtandcapital ............ ..o A 188.4 199.4
'I"otal liabilities and €qQUILY ... ... ..\t e e b $518.1 $518.7

*  The Company’s equity mlerest in the JV’s net losses during the twelve monthstcndcd Deccmber 31, 2006 and three months
ended December 31, 2005 of $7.9 million and $3.4 million, respectively, excludes interest of $6.2 million and $1.7 million,
respectively, on debt owed to partners and inciudes $1.1 million and $0 3 million of deferred gain amortization,
respectively.

ok

The summarized financial information at December 31, 2005 reflects the final purchase price allocation.

: l

6. TIMBERLAND ACQUISITIONS :
! }

1 .

During the fourth quarter of 2006, Rayonier acquired approximately 228,000 acres of timberland located in six states for
$272 million. The largest single block of timberland {75,000 acres), located in New York contains high-value hardwoods and is
located close to strong hardwood and veneer markets in the U.S. and Canada. The remammg timberlands, which includé timber
deedsland leases, are in five Southern states with well-established saw timber and pulpwood markets: Texas, Oklahoma,

Arkansas, Alabama and Louisiana. The Southern properties acquired are stocked pnmanly with loblolly pine. The Company
accounted for the acqulsmons as asset purchases.

As of December 31, 2006, approximately $41 million of timber deeds, leases and easements acquired in 2006 met the
criteria to be classified as “held for sale” in accordance with SFAS No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of
Long-Lived Assets (SFAS 144). These held for sale assets are classified as current assets in the Consolidated Balance Sheet and
are accounted for at the lower of the carrying amount or estimated fair value less costs to sell. Approximately $6 million of the
held for sale assets are under contract to be sold to the State of New York and the Trust for Public Land by mid-year 2007.

b

7. SALE OF MEDIUM-DENSITY FIBERBOARD BUSINESS (MDF) !

In August 2005, the Company sold its MDF business located in New Zealand to Dongwha Hong Kong International
Limited for approximately $40 million. The impairment loss and the sale resulted in an after-tax loss of $24.1 million. The
operatnons of MDF qualify as discontinued operations in accordance with SFAS 144. The operating results of MDF have been
segregated from continuing operations in the Consolidated Statements of Income: and Comprehensive Income for the years
" ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 and there were no assets or liabilities associated with the MDF facility included in the
Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31, 2005. The MDF operations and assocmted assets were previously reported in the
Company s Wood Products segment. '

Operating results of the discontinued operation are summarized below:
; .

!
1
| | . Twelve Months Ended
k : ! December 31,
) - . . 2005 2004
SAIES . e SUTTUREERR $31,873 $44,218
Operating loss, including impairment loss ........ e e . ...... e $(35,415) $(2,966)
Impairment loss, net of income tax benefitof $9,136 .................... ..., ' ................. $(24,102) § —
Loss from sale of discontinued operations ....................... e b 5 2n s —
Net loss from discontinued OPETALONS & . 4 vttt e e e e ettt et cn et i e $(24,956) $(3,162)

F-19
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8. OTHER ASSETS

The overall net position of the Company’s four pension plans at December 31, 2006 is underfunded; however, three of the
Company’s pension plans are overfunded and the resulting pension assets are recorded in Other Assets. Also included are
noncurrent deferred income taxes, restricted cash, HBU real estate inventory not expected to be sold within the next 12 months,
long-termn receivables, manufacturing and maintenance supplies not expected to be utilized within the next 12 months, and other
deferred expenses including debt issuance and capitalized software costs.

In order to qualify for like-kind exchange (LKE) treatment, the proceeds from real estate sales must be deposited with a
third party intermediary, These proceeds are accounted for as restricted cash until a suitable replacement property is acquired. In
the event that the LKE purchases are not completed, the proceeds are returned to the Company and reclassified as available cash
after 180 days. As of December 31, 2006 and 2005, the Company had $1.2 million and $2.5 million, respectively, of proceeds
from real estate sales classified as restricted cash in Other assets, which were deposited with an LKE intermediary.

Debt issuance costs are capitalized and amortized to interest expense over the term of the debt to which they relate using a
method that.approximates the interest method and totaled $1.0 million for each of the three years 2006, 2005 and 2004.
Software costs are capitalized and amortized over a period not exceeding five years using the straight-line method. Amortization
of deferred software costs totaled $1.0 million, $1.0 million, and $1.6 million in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

9. INCOME TAXES

The Company is a real estate investment trust (REIT),

General REIT Requirements

As a REIT, if applicable Internal Revenue Code (IRC) requirements are met, only the Company's taxable REIT
subsidiaries are subject to corporate income taxes. However, the Company is subject to corporate income tax on built-in gains
(the excess of fair market value over tax basis on property held by the Company upon REIT conversion at January 1, 2004) on
taxable sales of such property during the first ten years following the election to be taxed as'a REIT. In accordance with SFAS
109, the Company estimated the amount of timberland and other assets that will be sold in taxable transactions within the
ten-year built-in gain period and retained deferred tax liabilities for such items. All deferred tax liabilities and assets related to
the taxable REIT subsidiaries were also retained.

As a REIT, the Company can be subject to a 100 percent tax on the gain from entering into “prohibited transactions.” The
Company believes it did not engage in any prohibited transactions during 2006 and 2005. '

Like-Kind Exchanges

Under current law, the built-in gains tax from the sale of REIT property can be eliminated if sales proceeds from
relinquished properties are reinvested in similar property within required time periods as required by the Internal Revenue
Service (IRS) regarding LKEs, so long as the replacement property is ownéd at least until expiration of the built-in gain period
(ten-year period which began on January 1, 2004). However, this does not restrict the Company’s ability to sell timber on a
pay-as-cut basis from such replacement property during the built-in gain period. During 2006, the Company completed LKE
transactions for $27.7 million of its timberland real estate sales which resulted in tax benefits of $4.8 million. During 2005, the
Company completed LKE transactions for $10.2 million of its timberland real estate sales which resulted in tax benefits of §3.2
million.

Undistributed Foreign Earnings

Prior to March 31, 2004, the Company did not provide for U.S. taxes on all undistributed foreign earnings as it intended to
permanently reinvest its undistributed foreign earnings overseas. Following the Company’s conversion to a REIT, this strategy
was reevaluated based on a greater likelihood of most future investments being made in U.S. timberlands. Accordingly, during
2004, the Company recognized tax expense on undistributed foreign earnings that it expected to ultimately repatriate. During
2005, the Company repatriated these previously undistributed foreign eamnings under the special IRC provisions enacted as part
of the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 and recorded a tax benefit of $25.4 million.
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I
9. INCOME TAXES (Continued)

. I

The Company has non-U.S. operations for which it has undistributed fore,ign| earnings it intends to permanently reinvest
overseas. Therefore, no U.S. taxes have been provided on these earnings. The Company intends to reinvest all future foreign
earnings. : :

; |
Tax Audits l

In the third quarter of 2006, the Company reached a seitlement with the IRS lrf:garding disputed issues for its 2-000 2001
and 2002 tax years, resulting in the reversal of $4.9 million of federal tax labilities and reserves previously established for these
years.! | As a result of the settlement, the Company has a tax refund receivable at ycar—end of approximately $8.2 miltion (plus
mterest) ot ‘

Durmg 2005, the Company executed settlement agreements with the IRS regarding disputed issues for its 1996, 1997,-1998
and 1999 tax years. These settlements resulted in the reversal of: (i} $11.2 million of federal and state tax reserves related to tax
years 1996 and 1997 and (ii) $7.7 million of federal and state tax reserves related to tax years 1998 and 1999.

' |
Also during 2005, the IRS completed its field examination of taxable years 2000, 2001 and 2002. As a result of the

completion of the field examination and “agreed” items, the Company reversed a $3.1 million federal tax reserve. The resull of
the settlement of the disputed items is disclosed above.

+
'

Thc Company has other matters under review by various taxing authorities, if‘lc]uding the examination of tax years 2003
and 2004 by the IRS. The Company believes its reported tax positions are tcchmcally sound and its tax reserves at December 31,
2006 adequately reflect the probable resolution of these items. Nevertheless, it is re:lisonably possible that the final resolution of
these matters could result in an additional tax liability of up to $12.5 million above qﬂabhshed reserves.
e | ..
Provision for lncome Taxes from Continuing Operations - } ' .
The components of “Income from continuing operations, before income taxes| consist of U.S. income of $179.2 million,

$139.1 million and $111.1 million, and foreign income of $10.9 million, $51.7 mllhon and $15.3 million for the years ended
December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. a '

The (provision for)/benefit from income taxes from continuing operations consi]sts of the following:
|

| ' . ' o . | 2006 2005, 2004
Current - . " :
Uu.s. deeral ...................................................... L. $(36,915) $(25,637) $(15,755)
S.llate and lo_cal ................................................... ! e . (962) 514 - . (97T
FOTEIRI - -+ ve e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e . @78)  (5.521)  (2,082)
i - | (38,355) (30,644) (18,814)
Deferred S ‘ ' : LA ! -
us. federal '\ .......... e e e A 19399 51,845 = 48,643
State and 10Cal .. ... ...l b 620 660 ' (86)
Foreign . e e e | {719y  (4,913) 3,906

. .. - i - —
| j . . ‘ 19300 47,592 52463
TOAl .\ttt e e e b oo $(19,055) $ 16,948 § 33,649
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9. INCOME TAXES (Continued) L .
Deferred income taxes result from recording revenues and expenses for financial reporting in one period but in different

periods for tax reporting purposes. The nature of the temporary differences and the resulting net deferred tax asset (liability) at
December 31, 2006 and 2005 are as follows: ..

2006 2005
Gross deferred tax assets:
Reserves for dispositions and discontinued operations . ................. e e $-46,292 § 50,054
" Gainsontimberland sales .......... ... .0l e e 6,281 7,089
Employee benefits .. .............. e e e 41,930 23,100
Foreign and state NOL carryforwards . ... ... oo i 14,750 14,328
State tax credit carryforwards . ... ... e 8,745 10,242

OthEE oo oo oo e ST S 4469. 5284
C C ' ' ‘122467 110,097

Gross deferred tax liabilities:

Accelerated depreciation and depletion ... .. ... . ... . o oL e -, (59,938) (72,683)
Pension and other employee benefits ........ ... .. . .. ot e e (17,268)- (16,766)
01§11 e e L (4113) (8,591)
(81,319) (98,040)
Less: Valuation allowance ................. e e A e (17,486) (19,0200
. Net deferred tax asset/(liability) .......... e . ST $ 23662 $ (6,963)
Current portion of deferred tax asset . . . . . . .. B T $ 7074 S 14,056
Nencurrent portion of deferted tax asset . .. ... .. ... i 16,588 4,198
Noencurrent portion of deferred tax liability ...................000.... .. L. e — (25217

Net deferred tax asset/(liability) ....... e et e . S S 23,662 $ (6,963)

Included in the above table-are foreign and state net operating loss (NOL) and state tax credit carryforwards. At
December 31, 2006, the Company had New Zealand NOL carryforwards of $19.1 million with an indefinite carryforward
period. The Company also had $155.5 million of state NOL carryforwards and $8.7 million of Georgia state tax credit
carryforwards. In general, the state NOL and credit carryforwards have-an expiration term of 15 years. Because the Company
does not expect to realize these state tax benefits, 2 $17.5 million valuation allowance representing the entire amount of the state
tax benefits was recorded as of December 31, 2006. The Company expects to obtain the full benefit of the remaining net
deferred tax assets over the period of years that the temporary differences are expected to reverse. ‘

In 2006 and 2005, the Company recorded tax benefits of $4.1 million and $6.2 million, respectively, relfated to stock-based
compensation. These amounts were credited directly to shareholders’ equity and are not included in the consolidated tax
provistons. :

The effective tax rate, before discrete items, increased from 14.2 percent in 2005, to 16.3 percent in 2006 due to lower tax
benefits from foreign operations, partly offset by higher REIT income. The 2005 rate included a $6.5 million tax benefit from
the sale-of New Zealand timber assets to the JV. The effective tax rate, including discrete items, was 10.0 percent in 2006
compared to an 8.8 percent benefit in 2005. See the reconciliation table below for details of these items.

The Company’s effective tax rate is below the 35 percent U.S. statutory tax rate primarily due to tax benefits associated
with being a REIT and LKE transactions. Partially offsetting these benefits is the loss of tax deductibility on interest expense
($22.2 million) and corporate overhead expenses associated with REIT activities ($14.0 million). The Company’s net tax benefit
from REIT activities for 2006 was $33.6 million. .
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9. INCOME TAXES (Continued) : .

A reconciliation of the income tax provision at the U, S statutory rate to the reportcd provision for income taxes follows:

* - . - " . 3

o, 006 ' % 2005 % 2004 %
Income tax (pr0v1swn)fbeneﬁt from continving operatlons at . : " .

U, S EETAT (07 8 1 - AP S $(66,548)i (35.0) $(66,797) (35.0) $(44,244) (35.0)
State and local taxes, net of federal benefit . .. .................... (1,170)« (0.6) (1,028) (0.5 638) (0.5)
REIT income not subject tofederaltax .......................... 33,597, 17.7 28,255 148 24,506 194
Foreignoperations * ........ ... ... . . ... . .. i, 2,109 | 1.1 6,896 36 4,45] 35
TaxbeneﬁtonUS exportsales ...... ... .. il e 1,002 0.5 2,560 1.3 2,359 1.8
Permanent differences . . ... ....vvvtrrrreeeeeie e 122 4 0.1 257 0.1 856 0.7
Taxcreditsandother,net ........ ... ... . o i il (155): (0.1) (214) ©.1) (1,671) (L3)
Discrete items included in pretax income ............ ... ... . ..., — ] — 4,920 1.6%* — —_
[ncome tax (prov1s10n)/bencﬁt from continuing operations before C _

disCrete iems ... ... ©(31,043) (16.3) (25,151) (14.2) (14,381) (11.4)
Favorz_;blc IRS audit settlements, including adjustment of accrued * : '

interest expense/income ... ... ... ... i e 5387 ' 28 - 19837 11.0%* —_ —_
Reversal of prior year built-in gainreserve . . ............... e 4,186 | [ 2.2 — — — —
Returm to accrual adjustment .. ... ..., .. e i 291 ! (0.2) (268) (0.2) 1,376 . 1.1
Prior year foreign tax credit reserve ..............c.ooeiveein.n.. (983) ‘ (0.5) — — — —
Deferred tax adjustments . . .............. ..o . 3,689 ; 20 1462 0.8 — —_
U.S. tax benefit on repatriation of foreign earnings ................ — . — 25400 133 — —
Tax on favorable arbitration award .. ...............ciiiiiuann - — (2,977 (1.2)** — —
Forelgn exchange rate change on U.S. tax from undistributed foreign

RIS & oot ittt et e e e - 1,600 0.8 (G,0000 (2.4
Unrealizable New Zealand tax credits for U.S. withholding tax paid .. —_ i = (2,955) (1.5 = —
Reversal of deferred tax liability—REIT conversion ............... S — — — 77854 631
u. S tax on prior undistributed foreign earnings .. ................. - = — ° — (28,2000 (22.9)
[ncome tax (prov1swn)/beneﬁt from continuing operations as | ) .

TEPOItEd ... e $(19,055) (10.0) $ 16948 88 §$33,649 275

* Pt'imarily from foreign exchange and rate differentials.

**  Adjusted for change in pretax income due to discrete items.
! i
l .

Provision for Income Taxes from Discontinued Operations

;
, . oo

In 2006, the Company reduced its environmental reserves by $8.5 million related to its previously closed Southern Wood
Pledmont Company (SWP) sites. The closure was originally accounted for as a dlscontmued operation. In 2005, the Company
sold 1ts MDF business located in New Zealand and accounted for it as a dlsconttnued operation. During the years ended

December 31, 2005 and 2004, the Company’s pre-tax losses from MDF were $35.4 mllhon and $3.0 mllhon respecuvcly

A reconciliation of the income tax provision from discontinued operations at the U.S. statutory rate to the rcported
provnston for income taxes follows:

C ' ' ' 006 % 2005 % 2004 %
Income tax (provision)/benefit from discontinued operations at U.S. :
SEATULOTY TAIE . ..ottt et et ittt o ee e inn e e n e r s $(2,988) 350 $12,395 350 $1,038 350
State and local income tax (provision)/benefit . .............. ... ..... (213) 25 425 1.2 36 1.2
Permanent differences related to foreign exchange rate changes .......... -  — (2,361 (6.7 (1,270) (42.8)

Income tax (provision)/benefit from discontinued operations as reported . . . '$(3,20}) 37.5 $10459 295 § (196) (6.6)
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10. INCOME FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS AND NET INCOME PER COMMON SHARE

Basic earnings per share (EPS) is calculated by dividing income from continuing operations or net income by the weighted
average number of common shares outstanding during the year. Diluted EPS is calculated by dividing income from continuing
operations or net income by the weighied averagé number of common shares outstanding adjusted to include the potentially
dilutive effect of outstanding stock options, performance shares and restricted shares. In 2006 and 20035, the stock options that
were excluded from the computation of diluted EPS' due to their anti-dilutive effect totaled 423,350 and 26,500, respectively. In

“2004, there were no stock options, performance shares or restricted shares that were excluded from the computation of dlluted

EPS due to their anti-dilutive effect.

The following table provides details of the calculation of basic and diluted EPS from continuing operations, discontinued
operations and net income for 2006, 2005 and 2004: ' : '

2006 , 2005 2004

Income from continuing Operations ....................... e J$ 171,083 8 207,795 $ 160,063
Income/(loss) from discontinued operations . . .. .. e e e PP 5,335 (24,956) (3,162)
Net income ...... P [ R $ 176418 § 182,839 $ 156,901
Shares used for determining basic earnings per common share . ................ 76,486,690 75,504,800 74,445864
Dilutive effect 0f: ... o T e e ‘ '

Stock options ...... ....... 1,263,194 - 1,413,135 1,446,683

Performance and restricted shares . .. ... ... ... i, . 408,807 726,317 640,716
Shares used for determining diluted earnings per common share . ............... 78,158,691 77,644,252 76,533,263
Basic earnings (loss) percommon share: ......... .. ... . e \ .

Continuing Operations . .. ........vovuiceeeennaann.. . 223 8 275 % 2.15

Discontinued operations . ............covuiiiiirriiaiiany e 0.07 (0.33) (0.04)

Netincome ........... e e T $ 230 § -242 § o+ 211
Diluted earnings (loss) per common share: ‘ -

Continuing operations ........... . S [P '3 219 § 268 % 2.09

Discontinued Operations . ...........c.c.cootiiiienii e 0.07 (0.32) (0.04)

Netincome ............ P SUPUUUUU $ 226 § 236 $ 2.05
11. INVENTORY

As of December 31, 2006 and 2005, Rayonier’s inventory included the following:. ; .

) . ' . 2006 2005

Finished goods * ............... e P $57,338 $65,214
Work in progress .................... e e © 7,823 8,666
Rawmaterials ......... ... ... 0. B R e e e e 8496 10,013
Manufacturing and maintenance supplies ............ e N 1,936 1,652

Total inVeNtOrY . ..ovvveeennn, . AP e, $75,593  $85,545

*  Includes $2.7 miltion and $9.9 million of HBU real estate held for sale at December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.
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12. DEBT

Rayonier’s debt included the following at December 31, 2006 and 2005:

! ‘2006 2005
Revolving credit 'facility borrowings at an interest rate of 5.92% at December 31,2006 .............. $103,000 $ —
Installment notes due 2007-2014 at fixed interest rates of 8.29% to 8.64% at December 31,2006 ...... 485,000 485,000
Pollutjon control and industrial revenue bonds due 2007-2020 at variable interest rates of 4.63% to
6.20% at December 3L, 2000 .. e 72,770 73,285

Term }oans due 2006 at interest rates of 5.67% at December 31,2005 ........... FEEEREPPRRTP o — 2,795

Subtotal ... ............. e T 660,770 561,080
Inte!'est rate swapcarryingvalue . ... ... .. .. Lol TP ................. (1,773 (2,557
Total debt.......... e AU 658,997 558,523

Less: Current Maturities . .. . ...\ttt e e e e e e e e e e (3,550) .- (3,310)
Long-termdebt ... .. ... . i e e $655447 $555,213

Principal payments due during the next five years and thereafter are as follows:
20{)7 .......... e $121,005
2008 .. e e e 23,885
2009 ... e e e e e P 148,120
2000 e e e e e L 660
2000 e e e e e e e e e e P 213,205
Thereafter ................ U s 153,895
Total Debt . ........... i P $660,770

In August 2006, the Compariy entered into a new $250 million unsecured revolving credit facility to replace the previous
facility which was scheduled to expire in November 2006. This new facility includes an accordion feature which allows
additional borrowing requests over the $250 million, in $25 million increments, up to an aggregate $100 million, provided no
default exists. The new facility expires in 2011. The Company had $131 million (excluding the accordion feature) and $235
million of available borrowings at December 31, 2006 and 20035, respectively. Thef 2006 and 2005 available borrowings have
been reduced by $16 million and $15 million of standby letters of credit issued undet the facility, respectively. In addition to the
credit facility, the Company has on file with the Securities and Exchange Commission, a shelf registration statement to offer
$500 million of new public debt and equity securities, of which $247 million was available at December 31, 2006 and 2005.

In' 2006, the Company increased its long-term debt by borrowing $100 million under the new revolving credit facility to
finance timberland acquisitions. The Company has $113 million of installment notes that will mature on December 31, 2007
which the Company plans to refinance by issuing public debt. !

The carrying value of long-term debt was decreased by $1.8 million and $2.6 million, as of December 31, 2006 and 2005,
respectively, to reflect the fair market value of the interest rate swaps held. See Note 4 — Financial Instruments for more
information.

In connection with the Company’s long term debt and the new $250 million revolving credit facility, certain covenants
must be met, including ratios based on the facility’s definition of EBITDA (Covenant EBITDA). Covenant EBITDA consists of -
earnings from continuing operations before the cumulative effect of accounting changes and any provision for dispositions,
income taxes, interest expense, depreciation, depletion, amortization and the non-cash cost basis of real estate sold. The
Company’s dividend restriction covenant limits the sum of dividends in any period of four fiscal quarters to 90 percent of
Covenant Funds from Operations (Covenant FFO) plus the aggregate amount of dividends permitted under Covenant FFO in
excess of the amount of dividends paid during the prior four fiscal quarters. Covenant FFQO is defined as Consolidated Net
Income excluding gains or losses from debt restructuring and investments in marketable securities plus depletion, depreciation
and amortization and the non-cash cost basis of real estate sold. Under a covenant relating to the $485 million of installment
notes, RFR may not incur additional debt uniess, at the time of incurrence, and after giving pro forma effect to the receipt and

+
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12. DEBT (Continued)

application of the proceeds of such debt, RFR meets or exceeds 2 minimum ratio of cash flow to fixed charges. RFR’s ability to
make certain quarterly distributions to Rayonier Inc. is limited to an amount equal to RFR's “available cash,” which consists of
its opening cash balance plus proceeds from permitted borrowmgs At December 31, 2006, the Company is in compllance with
all covenants disclosed herein. '

The covenants listed below, which are the most sxgmﬁcant financial covenants in effect as of December 31, 2006, are
calculated on a trailing 12-month basis:

y

Covenant Actual ratio at Favorable
Requirement December 31,2006 (Unfavorable)
. Covenant EBITDA to consolidated interest expense should not be less than . . ... 250101 794101 544
Total debt to Covenant EBITDA should notexceed ........................ 40001 1.71to 1 2.29 -
RFR cash flow available for fixed charges to RFR fixed charges should not be
less than . ... e e e 250t01 731to 1 481
Dividends paid should not exceed 90 percent of Covenant FFO ............... 90% 38% 52%

In addition to the financial covenants listed above, the installment notes and credit facility include customary covenants
that limit the incurrence of debt, the disposition of assets, and the making of certain payments between RFR and Rayonier
among others. An asset sales covenant in the RFR installment note-related agreements requires the Company, subject to certain
exceptions, to either reinvest of cumulative timberland sales proceeds in excess of $100 million {the “excess proceeds”) in
timberland-related investments and activities or, once the amount of excess proceeds not reinvested exceeds $50 million, to
offer the note holders prepayment of the notes ratably in the amount of the excess proceeds. During the third quarter of 2006,
excess proceeds of approximately $69 million were offered to the note holders, who declined the offer of prepayment, which
reset the excess proceeds to zero. As of December 31, 2006 and 2005, the amount of excess proceeds was $10 million and
$31 million, respectively.

The previous $250 million unsecured revolving credit facility with a group of banks allowed the parent company, Rayonier
Inc. and its subsidiaries, TRS and RFR, to borrow up to a combined‘ total of $250 million. This facility was scheduled to expire
in November 2006 but was replaced with a new $250 million unsecured revolving credit facility in August 2006. The Company
was in compliance with all covenants under this facmty in 2006 and 2005

i
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13. SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY - v l

|
An analysis of shareholders’ equity for each of the three years ended Decemb«;er 31, 2006 is shown below. On October 17,
2005;!one additional share of common stock was issued for every two shares held to shareholders of record on October 3, 2005.

The common share and dividends per share amounts for 2004 shown below have been restated to reflect the 2005 stock split.
) ; .

' ’

Cottlmon Shares : " Accumulated cher
 Retained Comprehensive Shareholders’
Shares Amount ¢ Earnings Income/{Loss) Equity

Balanice, December 31,2003 ..., .. ... . ... .. ... 73,527,474 $364,810 |$ 355,956 $ (9,660) $ 711,106
Error }:onection ................................ — — ‘ 7019 — 7,019
Adjusted Balance, December 31,2003 ......... ... 73,527474 $364,810 's 362,975 $ (9,660) $ 718,125
NetinCome . oottt it enee e —_— — I 156,901 ‘ — 156,901
Dividends ($1.49pershare) ..........ccovvvinnonn. — —  (111,378) . _ (111,378)
Issuance of shares under incentive stock plans ......... 1,438,856 24,323 |, _— —_ ‘ 24,323
Unrealized loss on hedged transactions . .:........... : C—_ — 1 . — (338) (338)
Minimum pension liability adjustment .............. — _— —_ . 21D 217)
Tax benefit on exercise of stock-based compensation . . — . 4380 .= — 4,380
Foreign currency translation adjustment ............. — — — 11,611 11,611
Baladce, December 31,2004 .. ... . ..., s 74,966,330 $393,513 $ 408,498 $ 1,396 $ 803,407
NEtiCOME . . .. veeennaeecieeiieeainnen — _ | 182,839 — 182,839°
Dividends ($1.71 pershare) . ...................... —_ — , (129,434) —_ (129,434)
Issuance of shares under incentive stock plans ... ..... 1,132,390 23,029 . _ — 23,029
Cash in lieu of fractional shares ................... (6,154) (356) ' —_— — (356)
Unrea:lized loss on hedged transactions . . ............ — — l — A(410) - {410)
Minimum pension liability adjustment .............. — — — 16,323 16,323
Tax benefit on exercise of stock-based compensation .. — 6,178 —_ —_ 6,178
Foreign currency translation adjustment ............. — — — (9,705) (9,705)
Balan.ce, December 31,2005 .. ..... ... ........... 76,092,566 $422.364 $ 461,903 $ 7,604 $ 891,871
Netincome .............coiiiiiiiini i, — — | 176418 — 176,418
Dmdends($l88pershare)..................:.... — — _+ (144,049) —_ (144,049)
Issuance of shares under incentive stock plans ... .. ... 801,521 24,689 — — 24,689
Repurchases of commonshares .................... (14,261) (560) . — —_ (560)
Minimum pension liability adjustment .............. — —_ — 13,339 13,339
Impact of adopting SFAS No. 158 (Note 20} ......... — — i — (52,815) (52,815)
Tax beneﬁt on exercise of stock-based compensatlon .. — 4,143 | — — 4,143
Forelgn currency translation adjustment ............. - = — 3,226 3,226

Balance, December 31,2006 . ...... P ... 76879826 $450,636 $ 494,272 $(28,646) $ 916,262

Subsequent to the issuance of the Company s financial statements for the quarter ended September 30, 2006, the Company
detenmned that its non-current deferred tax liability related to pensions was overstated by $7.0 million. Since this error
originated prior to January 1, 2004, and did not have a material effect on any subsequem financial statement, the Company
adjusted beginning Retained Eamings as of December 31, 2003.

_ The table below summarizes the tax characteristics of the cash dividend pald to shareholders for the years ended
December 31, 2006 and 2005:

‘ 2006 2008
Capital GaIN ... .ot e e e e $1.88 $1.35
Non-taxable return of capital ...... ... ... — 0.36

| T'otal‘cashdistributi'qns S e, N L. R $1.88 $1.71
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14. ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS)

Accumulated other comprehensive income/(loss) was comprised of the following as of December 31, 2006 and 2005:

2006 2005
Foreign currency translation adjustments . . /. ... . .. F e P $27,292 §$ 24,065
Unrecognized components of pension and post-retirement plans, netoftax ..................... (55,938) —
" Minimum pension liability adjustments, netoftax .......... ... ... o0t — (16,461)

CTOMAl e L $(28,646) § 7,604

15. RESERVES FOR DISPOSITIONS AND DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

The Company’s dispositions and discontinued operations include its Port Angeles, WA mill, which was closed in 1997,
SWP, which ceased operations in 1989 except for investigation and remediation activities; Eastern Research Division (ERD),
which ceased operations in 1981; and other misceilaneous assets held for disposition. SWP has been designated a potentially
responsible party (PRP), or has had other claims made against it, under the U.S. Comprehensive Environmental Response,
Compensation and Liability Act of 1980 (CERCLA) and/or other federal or state statutes relating to the investigation and
remediation of environmentally-impacted sites, with respect to ten former wood processing sites which are no longer operating.

An analysis of activity in the reserves for dispositions and discontinued operations for the two years ended December 31,
2006 follows:

December 31, December 31,

. 2006 2005
Balance, January 1, ........ooooeeneenen... e . $140,382  $146,054
Expenditures charged to reserves . . ... ... e e e e (9,789) - (8,697)
~ (Reductions)/additions tOTESEIVes .. ... ...ttt . (8,077) 3,025
Balance, end of period ........... ...ttt P . : 122,516 140,382
Less: Curment POFLION . . oo\ v vttt it e et et e et tae e eane s (10,699) (12,422)
Non-current portion . ......... ...ttt e . $111,817 $127,960

“The Company has identified specific reserves for three SWP sites (Augusta, GA, Spartanburg, SC, and East Point, GA) and
Port Angeles, WA as material and requiring separate disclosure. An analysis of the reserve activity for the two years ended
December 31, 2006 is as follows: ‘

Reserve Activity (in millions) as of December 31,
Revisions to " Yy Revisions to

. Sites . ‘2004 Expenditures  Estimates 2005 E)kpeﬁditures . Estimates * 2006
Augusta, GA ....... ... ... .. ... $ 188 . $(0.38) $06 $ 174 50.7) 831y $ 136
Spartanburg, SC ... ... ... ©18.2 (0.9) 0.1 17.2 (0.7) (2.4) - 141
EastPoint, GA ........ ... . ... ... ... 13.8 0.4) (0.7) 12.7 (0.5) {0.8) 114
Other SWPsites .................. A 80.0 - .7 - ‘14 © 767 ©(5.6) (2.4) 68.7

"Total SWP . ... ......oiiiiiea..l... 1308 6.8) — 1240 (15 (@87 " 1078
Port Angeles, WA .. ..................... 9.0 (1.6) 1.1 8.5 (§R°)] 0.6 7.2
Allothersites .......................... 6.3 (0.3) 1.9 7.9 (0.4) — 7.5

TOTAL ........ ... ... ... ... ... $146.1 $B8.7) $3.0 $1404 $(9.8) $(8.1) 81225

*  Includes $8.5 million reduction in the SWP reserves in 2006 that was recorded in Discontinued Operations, net of income
_tax expense of $3.2 million in the Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income.
A brief description of each of these sites is as follows:

Augusta, Georgia — SWP operated a wood treating plant at this site from 1928 to 1988 and is the only known PRP. The
majority of visually contaminated surface soils have been removed, and remediation activities currently consist at this site
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15. RESERVES FOR DISPOSITIONS AND DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Continued)
of a groundwater recovery system. The site operates under a 10-year hazardous waste permit issued pursuant to the
Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, as amended (RCRA), which expires in 2014. Current cost estimates could
change if recovery or discharge volumes increase or decrease drastically, or if ‘changes to current remediation activities are
required in the future. Total spending to date at December 31, 2006 was $61.5 million. The Company $ current reserves
cover its obhgauons for remammg remedial and momtortng activities through 2 2026

Sparranburg South Carolina — SWP operated a wood treatment plant at this snte from 1925 to 1989 and is the only known
PRP at this site. Remediation activities include: (1) a recovery system and btologlcz_tl wastewater treatment plant, (2) an
ozone-spargmg system treating soil and groundwater and (3) an ion-exchange resin system treating groundwater. The cost
estimate for. this site includes potential remediation of an adjoining area also owned by SWP, which appears to have
received runoff from a portion of the former operating plant. Total spending to date at December 31, 2006 was $34.5
million. The Company’s cCurTent reserves Cover its obligations for remammgzremedlal and momtormg activities through
2026 .

Easr Point, Georgia — SWP operated a wood preservmg facﬂlty at this site from 1908 to 1984 This site operates under a
10-year RCRA hazardous waste permit. Active remedial measures are currently ongoing, although limited additional

- remedial measures may be necessary in the future. Total spending to date at December 31, 2006 was $15.1 million. The
Company § current reserves cover its obligations for remaining remedial and momtonng activities through 2026,

Port Angeles, Washington — Rayonier operated a sulfite dissolving pulp ‘mill on a 70-acre site in Port Angeles,

Washington from 1930 to 1997. The mill was dismantled in 1997 and 1998 and was evaluated for CERCLA Superfund

listing by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) during the same penod The EPA subsequently deferred listing
+ the site on the Superfund and delegated responsibility for oversight to the State of Washington in May 2000. Mill

demolition, extensive investigation and several interim clean up actions for petroleum and PCB contamination have been

compléted; however, reserves for this site of approx1mately $7 2 million are required at December 31, 2006 for further

remediation and momtormg costs. : i

| ’ S

Also included in the reserves for the SWP sites are soil remediation costs related to the recycling of 150,000 tons of

contaminated soil by a third-party processor in Louisiana. See Note 16 — Comingen!cies for additional informaticn.
I

The Company currently estimatés that expenditures for env1r0nmental remedlatlon monitoring and other costs for all
dispositions and discontinued operations in 2007 and 2008 will be approximately $1 l million and $7 million, respectively. Such
costs will be charged against reserves for d1sposmons and discontinued operations, which include environmental investigation,
remediation and monitoring costs. The Company believes established reserves are sufficient for costs expected to be mcuned
over the next 20 years with respect to its dispositions and discontinued operations. Remedlal actions for these sites vary, but ¢an
mclude among other remedies, removal of contaminated sonls groundwater recovery and treatmeni systerns, and source
remediation and/or control. ;
t

In addition, the Company is exposed to the risk of reasonably possible add.itional losses in excess of the established
reserves. As of December 31, 2006, this amount could range up to $30 nnlhon and arises from uncertainty over the
effectiveness of treatments, additional contamination that may be discovered, changes in apphcable law and the exercise of
discretion in interpretation of applicable law and regulauons by governmental agenc1es, and in -environmental remediation
technology

The reliability and precision of cost estimates for these sites and the amount of actual future environmental costs can be
impacted by various factors, including but not limited to significant changes in disch'arge or treatment volumes, requirements to
perform additional or different remediation, changes in environmental remediation technology, the extent of groundwater
contamination migration, additional findings of contaminated soil or sediment off-site, remedy selection, and the outcome of
negotiations with federal and state agencies. Additionally, a site’s potential for Brownfields (environmentally impacted site
considered for re-development), or other similar projects, could accelerate expendltures as well as impact the amount and/or
type of remediation required, as could new laws, regulations and the exercise of dtscretlon in interpretation of applicable law
and regulations by governmental agencies. Based on information currently available, the Company does not believe that any
future changes in estimates, if necessary, would materially affect its consolidated financial position or results of operations.

|

|
: |

|
1
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16. CONTINGENCIES

Rayonier is engaged in various legal actions, including certain environmental proceedings that are discussed more fully in
Note 15 — Reserves for Dispositions and Discontinued Operations.

The Company has been named as a defendant in various other lawsuits and claims arising in the normal course of business.
While we have procured reasonable and customary insurance covering risks normally occurring in connection with our
businesses, we have in certain cases retained some risk through the operation of self-insurance, primarily in the areas of workers
compensation, property insurance, and general liability. In our opinion, these other lawsuits and claims, either individually or in
the aggregate, are not expecied to have a material effect on our financial position, results of operations, or cash flow.

Legal Proceedings

Between 1985 and 1995, SWP sent contaminated soil excavated in connection with the cleanup of various closed wood
processing sites to a third-party processor in Louisiana for recycling. The processing facility, referred to as the Marine Shale
Processors (MSP) facility, closed in 1995 and has been the subject of a variety of environmental related charges and a lawsuit
brought by the U.S. Department of Justice (DOJ), the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) and the State of Louisiana,
through its Department of Environmental Quality (LDEQ), in United States District Court for the Western District of Louisiana
(the Court) against the owner of the processing facility. Also in dispute is disposal liability for approximately 150,000 tons of
recycled material from sites operated by SWP that were placed at another site, referred to-as the RPI site, which is owned by an
affiliate of the owner of the MSP facility. A trial had been scheduled for June of 2006, in which DOJ, EPA and LDEQ were
primarily asserting claims for cost recovery under CERCLA in respect of the investigation and remediation of the MSP facility
and the RPI site. In advance of the scheduled June 2006 trial date, the Company reached a settlement with DOJ, EPA and LDEQ
under which SWP will oversee and pay for certain remedial activities to be performed at the RPI site.and pay DOJ and LDEQ
$0.2 million. In exchange for these commitments, the Company will receive, among other things, a “covenant not to sue” from
DOIJ, EPA and LDEQ for any claims relating to the MSP facility and the RPI site, and contribution protection under the
applicable provisions of CERCIL.A against suits by third parties relating thereto. This settlement, which was reflected in a
consent decree, was approved by the Court on September 11, 2006. SWP has initiated performance of its remediation
obligations under the consent decree. The Company believes that its reserves at December 31, 2006 adequately reflect the
probable costs to be incurred through the ultimate completion of the Company’s obligations under the consent decree.

In 1998, EPA and the New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection (DEP) filed separate lawsuits against Rayonier
Inc., and approximately 30 other defendants, in the U.S. District Court, District of New Jersey, seeking recovery of current and
future response costs and natural resource damages under applicable federal and state law relating to a contaminated landfill in
Chester Township, New Jersey, referred to as Combe Filt South (Combe). It is alleged that the Company’s former ERD in
Whippany, New Jersey sent small quantities of dumpster waste, via a contract hauler, to Combe in the 1960s and early 1970s.
The Company is working with other defendants in a joint defense group, which subsequently filed third-party actions against
over 200 parties seeking contribution. A court-ordered, nonbinding alternative dispute resolution process is ongoing and in
March of 2006 a court-appointed neutral issued a report and recommendations. The Company believes that its reserves at
December 31, 2006 adequately reflect the probable costs to be incurred upon the ultimate resolution of these matters.

In the third quarter of 2005, the Company advised the Environmental Protection Division of the Georgia Department of
Natural Resources (EPD) of the results of certain testing undertaken by the Company at its Jesup, Georgia mill. This testing
related to potential non-capture of certain methanol emissions during a particular stage of the mill’s pulp manufacturing process.
The potential non-capture at issue appears to have taken place during portions of three years between 2001 and 2004. While the
Company’s position is that no applicable law or regulation has been violated, EPD was voluntarily notified by the Company.
No notices of violation or citations were issued by EPD. On September 13, 2006, the Company and EPD entered into a consent
decree under which, without admitting any liability, the Company agreed to pay a penalty of $100,000 and received credit for
performance of an environmental project. On September 29, 2006, EPD issued a letter indicating that all requirements of the
consent decree had been completed.’

In 2004, the Company and the Board of Assessors of Wayne County, Georgia (the County) executed an agreement which,
. among other things, provided that the parties would resolve a property tax dispute relating to the Jesup mill property for the tax
years 2002 to 2004 through binding arbitration, and the arbitration agreement was approved by the Georgia Superior Court (the
Court). On September 10, 2005, after completion of a six-day arbitration, the arbitrators ruled in favor of the Company, which
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16. CONTINGENCIES (Continued) l
t
resulted in the County owing the Company a refund of approximately $5.1 million for excess taxes paid. Additionally, the
decision would have allowed the Company to reverse its $2.8 million accrued property tax balance. In December- 2005, the
County filed motions with the Court claiming that it did not have the power and authority to enter into the arbitration agreement
with Rayonier, and that the arbitrators’ decision should be vacated. On March 24 2006, the Court upheld the validity of the
arbnrauon agreement (with the exception of one provision governing the calculation of certain future years® taxes, which does
not affect the amount of the refund for 2002 1o 2004 tax years), and confirmed the decision rendered by the pane! of arbitrators.
The County filed an appeal of the Court’s decision. In July, the Company and the County reached an agreement in principle to
resolve this dispute, subject to mutual agreement on final documentation. In Novernber 2006, an agreement settling the dispute
was e‘lxecuted by all parties and the settlement was approved by the Wayne County Commission and Board of Assessors. The
agreement, among other things, establishes a fair market value assessment for the mill and research and development facility for
each of the years 2002 through 2006, and a framework for computing the fair market value of these properties for years 2007
through 2011. In addition, the Company agreed to reduce the amount of the refund owed to the Company to $3.2 million and
forego collection so long as the County complied with the terms of the agreement. | ;Based on this agreement and in compliance
with SFAS No. 5, Accounting for Contingencies, the Company reversed previously accrued property taxes of approximaiely
$4.9 mlllron during 2006. 1

! 1
Environmental Matters ;

The Company is subject to stringent environmental laws and regulations concerning air emissions, water discharges and
waste handlmg and disposal. Such environmental laws and regulations include the Federal Clean Air Act, the Clean Water Act,
RCRA, CERCLA and similar state laws and regulations. Management closely momtors its environmental responsibilities, and
believes that the Company is in substantial compliance with current env1ronmental requirements. Notwithstanding Rayonier’s
current compliance status, many of its operations are subject to stringent and constantly evolving environmental requirements
which' are often the result of legislation, regulanon and negouatlon As such, contingencies in thls area include, without

limitation: f
i

‘e. The Company's manufacturing facilities operate in accordance with various permits, which often impose operating
1 conditions that require significant expenditure to ensure compliance. Upon renewal and renegotiation of these permits,
the issuing agencies often seek to impose new or additional conditions, which could adversely affect our operations.

*: As environmental laws, regulations and related judicial decisions and ladminislrative interpretations change, our
operations may be affected. For example, at our Performance Fibers mills, implementation of the EPA’s 1998 “Cluster
Rules” (parallel rulemaking for air and water-based technology discharge l'imits for pulp and paper mills) with respect
to certain portions of dissolving pulp mills has been delegated to the respectwe states, and since they have not yet been
proposed the timing and ultimate costs are uncertain. i

1

+ Inour forestry operations, federal, state and local laws and regulations intended to protect threatened and endangered
species, as well as wetlands and waterways, limit, and in some cases may prevent, timber harvesting, road construction
and other activities on private lands. For example, Washmgton has amongst the most stringent forestry laws and
regulations in the country.

. QOver time, the complexity and stringency of environmental laws and regulations have increased markedly, and in
general, management believes this trend will continue. | '

Given all of these contingencies, it is the opinion of management that substanual expenditures will be required over the
next ten years in the area of environmental compliance.

¥ i
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17. GUARANTEES X

The -Company provides financial guarantees as required by creditors, insurance programs, and state and foreign
governmental agencies. As of December 31, 2006, the following financial guarantees were outstanding; ’

g o 1 Maximum -  Carrying Amount
Financial Commitments . : Potential Payment of Liability
Standby letters of credit (1) ... ... .. e e $ 79,136 - $ 61,410
Guarantees (2) ......... e e : 111,850 103,096
Surety bonds (3) ... e e - - 8,498 1,657

Total financial commitments ........ . e e $l99,484 $166,163

(1) * Approximately $62 million of the standby letters of credit serve as credlt support for industrial revenue .bonds. The

" remaining letters of credit support’ obligations under various insurance related agreements, primarily workers’

compensation and pollution liability policy requirements. These letters of credit expire at various dates during 2007 and are
typically renewed as required.

(2) In conjunction with the sale of RNZ's timberlands to the JV in October 2005, the Company guaranteed five years of Crown
Forest license obligations. The JV is the primary obligor and has posted a bank performance bond with the New Zealand
government. If the IV fails to pay the obligation, the New Zealand government will demand payment from the bank that
posted the bond. If the bank defaulted on the bond, the Company would then have to perform. As of December 31, 2006,
four annual payments, of $1.2 million each, remain. This gearantee expires in 2010.

In conjunction with the sale of its New Zealand, East Coast timber operations in 2002, the Company guaranteed five years
of Crown Forest license obligations. In late 2003, the buyer defaulted on its loan payments to its creditors and went into
receivership with the 2004 obligation paid by the receiver. The property was then re-sold. The new owner is the primary
obligor and has posted a bank performance bond with the New Zealand govemment If the new owner fails to pay the
obligations, the New Zealand government will demand payment from the owner’s bank pursuant to the bond. If the
owner’s bank defaults on the bond, the Company would have to perform under the guarantee and seek legal redress from
the owner. The Company expects the owner’s bond to be sufficient to cover the license obligations. As of December 31,
2006, onc annual payment, estimated at $1.5 million, remains. This guarantee expires in 2007. :

In conjunction with a timberland sale and note monetization in the first quarter of 2004, the Company entered into a make-
whole agreement pursuant to which it guaranteed $2.5 million of obligations of a qualified special purpose entity that was
established to complete the monetization. At December 31, 2006 and 2005, the Company had a liability of $43 thousand to
reflect the fair market value of its obligation to perform under the make-whole agreement.

In August 2006, the Company entered into a new $250 million unsecured revolving credit facility to replace the previous
facility which was scheduled to expire in November 2006. In conjunction with the new credit facility, Rayonier continues
to guarantee the borrowings of RFR and TRS. Additionally, TRS continues to guarantee the borrowings of Rayonier Inc.
At December 31, 2006, there were $103 million outstanding borrowings covered by these guarantees.

(3). Rayonier has issued surety bonds primarily to secure timber harvesting obligations in the State of Washington and to
provide collateral for the Company’s workers’ compensation self-insurance program in that state. These surety bonds
expire at various dates during 2007 and are renewed as required.

18. COMMITMENTS

The Company leases certain buildings, machinery and equipment under various operating leases. Total rental expense for
operating leases amounted to $3.7 million, $4.1 million, and $4.1 million in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. The Company
also has long-term leases on certain timberlands in the Southern U.S. These leases typically have initial terms of approximately
30 to 65 years, with renewal provisions in some cases. Such leases are generally non-cancelable and require minimum annual
rental payments. Total expense for long-term leases and deeds on timberlands amounted to $5.4 million, $5.3 million, and $5.6
million in 2006, 2005, and 2004, respectively.
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18. COMMITMENTS (Continued) }
At December 31, 2006, the future minimum payments under non- cancelable operating and timberland leases,including
commitments for deeds and leases held for sale (see Note 6 — Timberland Acqmsmons) were as follows:

! , ‘
i I Timber Deeds
' Operaling Timberland & Leases
: Leases Leases* Held for Sale Total

2007 Lo e e et $2973 $5241  $ 158 § 9795

2008 . e . 2,656 5,238 1,586 9,480
2009 .. . PR 1,945 5119 1,292 8,356
20101...... PP 1,814 5,107 1,292 8,213
2 10) B I U - 662 5,047 1,292 7,001
Thereafter through 2036 .. ...l 2,757 68,999 8,570 80,326

i ' $ll2,807 $94,751 $15613  $123,171

*  The majority of timberland leases are subject to escalation clauses based on erther the Consumer Price Index or Producer

Price Index. L
f ' ' ' : :
19. INCENTIVE STOCK PLANS o .- 0
The Company adopted SFAS 123(R) on January 1, 2006 using the modlﬁed prospective method, which requlres stock—
based | compensation to be accounted for at fair value. Prior to January 1, 2006 the Company accounted for stock- based
compensation using the intrinsic value based method under APB No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees (APB 25),
and related Accounting Interpretations thereof, as permitted by SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation
(SFAS 123). No compensation expense was recogmzed in the Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income
during the years ending December 31, 2005 and 2004 for stock options under APB 25
r |
At December 31, 2006, the Company had two stock-based employee compensatlon plans. The 1994 Rayonier Incentwe
Stock Plan (the 1994 Plan) provided for the grant of incentive stock options, non-qualified stock options, stock appreciation
rights, performance shares and restricted stock, subject to certain limitations. Effective January 1, 2004, the Company adopted
the 2004 Rayonier Incentive Stock and Management Bonus Plan (the 2004 Plan). The 2004 Pian provides for 4.5 million shares
to .be granted for incentive stock options, non-qualified stock options, stock apprecnauon rights, performance shares and
restricted stock, subject to certain limitations. The Company has issued non-qualified stock options, performance shares and
restricted stock under both of the plans. The Company -issues new shares of stoEk upon the exercise of stock options, the
granting of restricted stock, and the vesting of performance shares. :
I l
Summary of Impact of SFAS No. 123(R) j

Total compensation cost recorded in “Selling and general expenses” for stof:k-based compensation was $12.1 million,
$11.7 'million and $9.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Included in the
compensauon cost for the year ended December 31, 2006 was $0.8 million related to stock option awards for retirement eligible
emp]oyees that were granted prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R), which is bemg recognized over a three-year vesting
period. All stock option awards to retirement eligible employees subsequent to the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R) are expensed
immediately. The $12.1 million stock-based compensation expense recorded in 2006 includes $4.2 million for stock options, of
which $1.5 million was for stock options granted to retirement-eligible employees. *

:

| | |
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19. INCENTIVE STOCK PLANS (Continued)

‘The Company’s pre-tax income for the year ended -December 31, 2006 is $1.2 million below what would have been
reported under APB 25. The following table illustrates the impact SFAS 123(R) has had on the Company’s net income and
earnings per share by excluding SFAS 123(R) stock-based compensation expense and including the expense that would have
been recorded under APB 25:

Twelve Months Ended
December 31, 2006
Net income, as TEPOIMEA . ... . ..\ttt ettt e et et e et e e e e e s $176,418
Adjustment to reflect APB 25 stock-based compensation expense, net of related tax effects ............ 936
Pro formanet income ... ... ... e e $177.354 .
Eamings per share:
Basic,asreported ................ S, § $ 230
Basic, Pro forma . .. ... . e $ 23
Diluted, asreported ... .. .. ... e PR $ 226
‘Diluted, proforma .................... e e AR $ 227

Tax benefits recognized related to stock-based compensation expense for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005
were $2.8 million and $2.6 million, respectively.

Prior to the adoption of SFAS 123(R), the Company presented all tax benefits of deductions resulting from stock-based
compensation as operating cash flows in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows. SFAS 123(R) requires the $4.1 million of
cash flows resulting from tax benefits in excess of the compensauon cost recognized (excess tax beneﬁts) in 2006 to be
classified as a financing activity. - o :

On November 10, 2005, the FASB issued FSP 123(R)-3, Transition Election Related to Accounting for Tax Effects of
Share-Based Payment Awards, which provides a practical transition election for calculating the pool of excess income tax
benefits. In 2006, the Company elected to adopt the simplified method presented in this FSP for determining the initial pool of
excess tax benefits available to absorb tax deficiencies related to stock-based compensation subsequent to the adoption of SFAS
123(R). ‘

Pro Forma Disclosures for the Years Ended December 31, 2005 and 2004

Pursuant to the requirements of SFAS No. 148, Accounting for Stock-Buased Compensation-Transition and Disclosure
(SFAS 148), the Company continues to provide the following disclosure for income statement periods presented prior to the
adoption of SFAS 123(R). The following table provides a reconciliation for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 that
adds back to reported net income the recorded expense under APB 25, net of related income tax effects, deducts the total fair
value expense under SFAS 123, net of related income tax effects, and shows the reported and: pro forma earnings per share
amounts:

Twelve Months Ended
. December 31, December 31,
v 2005 . 004 .
Netincome, asreported ................... e e e 5182839  $156,901
Total stock-based employee compensation cost mcluded in the determination of net income, net of . "
related taxeffects ......... .. ... . i i e e et : 8,823 7,229
Total stock-based employee compensation cost determined under-fair value method for all awards, :
netof related tax effects . . ... ... ... . . o, e e e (8,085) . (7,254)
Proformanmetincome .......... ... ... ... cieeveiiina. P ... S3183,577 $156,876
*Earnings per share: ' ' -
Basic, a8 rePOTted L . . ... e $ 242 $ 211
Basic, proforma . ... ... e e $ 243 3§ 211
Diluted, as reported . ... .. ... ... $ 236 $ 205
Diluted, pro forma . .. ... e $ 236 § 205

*  Earnings per share amounts for 2004 have been restated to reflect the three-for-two stock split on October 17, 2005.
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19. INCENTIVE STOCK PLANS (Continued) ‘
i
Fair Value Calculations by-Award . . v
Restncted Stock ’ ' o . i _ ' o i
Restricted stock granted under the 1994 and 2004 Plans generally vests upon completion of a three -year period. The fair
valte of each share granted is equal to the share price of the Company’s stock on the date of grant. During 2006, 2005 and 2004,
16,761, 30,000, and 45,000 restricted shares were granted at a weighted average price of $39.61,'$34.06, and $28.98,
respectively, per share. As of December 31, 2006, there was $0.8 million of unrecognized compensation cost related to the
. Company's outstanding restricted stock. This cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 0.6 years. The
total intrinsic value of restricted stock outstanding was $3.8 million, $4.7 million ahd $3.9 million at December 31, 2006, 2005
and 2004, respectively. The total fair value of restricted stock that vested during the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and
2004 was $0.8 million, $0.7 million and $0.8 million, respectively. During the year ended December 31, 2006, the Company
canceled 8,217 common shares to pay the minimum withholding tax requirements on the participants’ behalf
o ' |
A summary of the non- vested shares related to the Company’s restricted lstock plans as of and for the year ended
December 31, 2006 is presented below: *
| ' '
- ! 2006
Weighted

: Average Grant
N . ‘ ] Number of Date Fair
‘ *.
1

»

t
)
1
'

Shares Vailue

;I\Ion-vested:Restricted Shares at January 1, ..o 75,000 $31 01

Granted ..{...:...... e SO e 16,761 $39.61
Vested . . . = T D IP R P e (30,000) $27.72
Non-vested Restricted Shares at December 31, . ...t eeniiennnnns b 61,761 $34.94

Performance Shares o 1 :

The Company 8 performance shares generally vest upon completlon of a three—year period. The number of shares, if any,
that are ultimately awarded is contingent upon total shareholder return versus se]ected peer group companies. Under APB 25,
the Company s performance shares were expensed using the closing market pnce of the Company’s common stock at each
reporting date, adjusted for an estimate of the ultimate number of shares to be issued. Under SFAS 123(R), the performance
share payout is based on a market condition, as such awards granted after January|l 2006 are valued by an independent third
party usmg a Monte Carlo simulation model. The model generates the fair value of the award at the grant date and compensation
expense is not subsequently adjusted for the number of shares that are ulnmalely awarded The fair value of awards granied
prior to 2006, is equal to the share price of the Company s stock on the date of grant adjusted for an estimate of the ultimate
number of shares to be issued. The 1994 and 2004 Plans allow for the cash settlement of performance share awards to pay the
minimum required withholding tax. !
X During the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, $3.9 mrlhon and $2.2 mllhon in cash was used to pay the minimum
withholding tax réquirements in lieu of receiving common shares, respectively. In 2006, 2005 and 2004, 259,000, 231,788 and
209,925 common shares of Company stock were reserved for contmgcnt performance shares, with grant-date fair values of
$36.25, $32.27, and $27.72, respectively. As of December 31, 2006, there was $5.8 million of unrecognized compensation cost
related to the Company’s performance share awards. This cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of
1.6 years. The total intrinsic value of outstanding performance shares at December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004 was $23.2 million,
$24.5 mllhon and $19.0 million, respectively. The total fair value of shares that vested during the years ended December 31,
2006, 2005 and 2004 was $5.8 million, $5.1 million and $3.3 million, respectively. | :
t

I
|
|
|
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19. INCENTIVE STOCK PLANS (Continued)
Expected volatility, dividend yield and beta were estimated using daily returns on the Company’s common stock for the

three-year period ending on the grant date. The foliowing chart provides a tabular overview of the assumptions used by an
independent third party in calculating the fair value of the awards granted in 2006: '

. ) 2006
Expected volatility ........... S P e e e e e 21.2%
Expected market fisk-premuiUm . ... ... e e e e e e 8.5%
CDividend yield ..o e e 4.4%
Risk-free FalE ... e et e 4.4%
Beta............... e e e e e e e e 0.92

A summary of the status of the Company’s outstanding performance share plans as of and for the year ended December 31,
2006 is presented below:

2006

Weighted
Number  Average Grant
of Shares  Date Fair Value

Outstanaing Performance Shares at January 1, .. ... ... o e 614,795 $24.05
Granted . .. e e e e ce... 148,000 $36.25
Shares Distributed . ... ..o o e e e (272,420) $17.22
Performance AdJustment . . ... ... i i it e 74,172 $32.27
Outstanding Performance Shares at December 31, .. ..........ooioiiii i 564,547 3$31.62

Non-Qualified Employee Stock Options

The exercise price of each non-qualified stock option granted under both the 1994 and 2004 plans is equal to the closing
market price of the Company’s stock on the date of grant. Under the 1994 plan, the maximum term is 10 years and two days
from the date of grant while under the 2004 Plan; the maximum term is 10 years from the grant date. Awards vest rdtably over
three years. Under APB 25, no compensation expense was recorded for stock options. Under SFAS 123(R), the Tair value of
each option grant is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The expected volatility is
based on historical volatility for each grant and is calculated using the change in the daily market price of the Company’s
common stock over the expected life of the award. The expected life is based on prior exercise behavior. The Company has
elected to value each grant in total and recognize the expense for stock options on a straight-line basis. The following chart
provides a tabular overview of the weighted average assumptions and related fair value calculations of options granted for the
three years ended December 31: S '

2006 2005 2004
Expected volatility ...................... P RN 30.2% -31.0% 31.8%
Dividend yield .. ... i e e 4.6% 5.1% 54%
Risk-freerate ...................... e e e e e 4.3% 3.9% 3.8%
Expected life (inyears) .............. e e e 6.3 6.7 6.7
Fair value per share of options granted ......... ... .. . 0uiiiiiiiiireiriiiinnannn. .. $9.03 $662 $547

Fair value of options granted (in thousands of dollars) . ... .. ... ... ... .. ... ... . ... e $3,600 $3,484 $1,272
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19. INCENTIVE STOCK PLANS (Continued) *; < : :

. A summary of the status of the Company’s stock option plans as of and for.the year ended December 31,2006 is presented
below . " .

\ B ' | 2006
e : : e I Weighted Weighted
‘ Average Average Aggregate ..
. { Exercise Price Remaining Intrinsic
e ‘ ) . Number of, (per common Contractual Value
i : o Shares | share) - Term (in years) (in thousands)
Options outstanding at January 1, ...t 3,687,958: $20.50
T 1110« SR 398,650 $41.32 '
Exercised ... .. ... (611,429) $17.62 : '
Canceled ............................................. (5925) $33.91 : ‘
Opnons outstanding at December 31, ................... e 3 ,469,254 $23.38 §_8 $61,429
Options vested and expected to vest as of December 31, ............ 3,431 ,666 $23.24 5.8 To$61,222
5.0 $57,814

Options exercisable at December 31, .........ccooviiiiiiiii.n. 2,683,987; $19.51

N : :
The total intrinsic value of options exercised during the years ¢ ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 was $14.7 million,
$18.9 miilion and $17 5 mllllon respectively. The total fair value of options that 'vested during the years ended December 31,
2006, 2005 and 2004 was $2. 9 million, $3.4 million and $4.1 million, respectwely As of December 31, 2006, there was $2.4
million of unrecognized compensation cost related to the Company’s stock options. This cost is expected to be recognized over
a weighted average period of 1.6 years. :

| ) |
20. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS !

The Company has four qualified non-contributory defined benefit pension plans covenng substantially all of its employees
and an unfunded plan that provides benefits in excess of amounts allowable under current tax law in the qualified plans.
Employee benefit plan liabilities- are calculated using actuarial estimates and management assumptions. These estimates are
based on historical information, along with certain assumptions about future events Changes in assumptions, as well as changes
in actua] experience, could cause the estimates to change. ‘

The FASB issued SFAS 158 in September 2006. This Statement requires recognition of an entity’s over (under) funded
status of defined benefit plans in the statement of financial position. The Statement also requires recognition in other
comprehenswe income of certain gains and losses that arise during the period but are deferred under current pension accounting
rules. On December 31, 2006, the Company recognized the net underfunded status of its defined benefit pension plans in the
Consolidated Balance Sheet. |
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20. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS (Continued)

The following table illustrates the incremental effect of adopting SFAS 158 on individual line items in the Company’s
Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31, 2006:

Before Adoption After Adoption

Consolidated Balance Sheet Description of SFAS 158 Adjustment  of SFAS 158
Assets ,
BT A8SBS .+ v it ettt et e e e e $ 52392 (34946) $ 17,446
B T P $1,997,828 (34,946) $1,962,882
Liabilities . o
Accrued payroll and benefits liability ........... ... ... ... . . . i i 5 — 4,073 § 4073
Deferred income tax liability (asset} * ...... e e e e ey $ 10,247 (22,870) .8 (12,623)
Pensjon and other postretirement benefits liability . .......................... $ 35542 - 30,666 § 72,208
Shareholders’ Equity ) . . ,
Accumulated other comprehensive income (10ss) , ., . ... oottt $  (3,123) (52,815) & (55,938)
Total Shareholders’ Equity ..... PR e e $ 969,077 (52,815) § 916,262
Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity ........ ... ... ... ... ... ... . ... $1,997,828 (34,946)  $1,962,882

*  In compliance with SFAS No. 109, Accbu}gﬁng fbr Income Taxes, the Cb_mpany nets its deferred tax assets and deferred tax
liabilities. This table presents only the portion of net deferred taxes related to the pension and postretirement plans. _
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20. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS (Continued) co ' . i

|
The following tables set forth the change in projected benefit obligation and plan assets and reconcile the funded status and
the amounts recognlzed in the Consolidated Balance Sheets for the pension and postretlrement benefit plans for the years ended
December 31:

5 ‘Penston - Postretirement -

. E 2006 2008 2006 2005
Change in Projected Benefit Obligation : | '
Projected benefit obl:gatlon at beginning of year . .. ................. . 18244 057 $215.850 $ 40,073 §$ 37,642
Service COSt............ e | 7408 6973 640 613
IITETESE COSE « - v o v et et e et e e e et e e e e et e i e L 13,988 13,173 2470 2,157
Actuarial (gain) 1oss .. ........ ..o l (3,278 15,760 (587 3,988
~ Plan amendments ....... I : — 2,333 5,520 —
Benefits paid . . ..o C1L1200 0 (10,032)  (2,762)  (4.327)
Projected benefit obligation at endofyear .. ............ . ..., *$251,055 $244,057 $ 45,354 § 40,073
Change in Plan Assets ' i ' _ .
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year ..................... ... 1$205,775 $169,394 $ — 3 —
Actual retumn on plan assets .. .. ... ii i . 30,762 19,421 — —
Employer contributions . ........ i i e [ 12,588 27,497 2,762 4,327
Benefits paid ... ...... PP (11,120)  (10,032) (2,762) (4,327)
Other expense ....... T TR I (431) (505) _— —
Fair value of plan assets atendof year .. ......................... ;$237.574 $205,775 $ — 3 —
Recoriciliation of Funded Status at End of Year ! T
Funded status ....... ... oottt ierr it $(13,481) $(38,282) $(45.354) $(40,073)
Unrecognized prior service cost . .............. et | N/A 10,533 N/A 3,149
Ungecognized actuarial netloss ..................... T ': N/A 66,640 N/A 20,751
Unrecogmzcd net transition asset ...... e e e e ! N/A T — N/A - —
i Net prepald I(accrued) beneﬁt COSTL Lottt $(13,481) $ 38,891 $(45,354) $(16,173)
| , ; : . ‘ = =
Amounts Recogmzed in the Consolldated , o
Balance Sheets Consist of: , - . _ . i . .
NONCUITENE ASSELS . . - -« - vttt bttt rmaaenaaaanannes e '$ 17446 $ 49777 $ — 3% -
Current Habilities . . ...t r i i e e i e 1 (779) —_ (3,294) —
* Noncurrent liabilities . .......................... SRS P ©(30,148) (33,414) (42,060) (16,173)
Intangibleasset . .................. S N Wi, NA 1337 NA - —
Accumulated other comprehensiveloss ........ ... ... .. i ! N/A 21,191 N/A —
Netamountrecognized . ......ouuiiiiiiiiiirrrraaaaannns $(l3,48]) $ 38,891 $(45,354) 3$(16,173)

|

L} .

Actuarial gains or losses and prior service costs or credits that have not yet been included in pens:on expense as of
December 31, 2006 have been recognized as a component of ending AOCT as follows

Pension  Postretirement

‘ ' ;

. : _ ‘ 2006 . 2006
PHOR SEIVICE COST. . . 1.+ d s ee e e e et ae et ettt e e e e et e $ (9,036) '$ (7,892)
Netlosses ...........oovvuuiiniiinn.is SR e (43,933) (18,855)
Deferred income benefit ...... e L PP .... 15250 8,528
i ) ' ( ' e $(37,719)  $(18,219)
I

The accumulated benefit obhganon for all of the Company’s defined beneﬁt plans was $232 902 and. $224, 962 at
December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

t

i
|
1
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20. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS (Continued)

For pension and postretirement plans with accumulated benefit obligations in excess of plan assets, the following table sets
forth the projected and accumulated benefit obligations and the fair value of plan assets for the years ended December 31:

2006 2005
Benefit obligation .. ... ... e $66,599 $131,777
Accumulated benefit obligation ... ... ... e e e e $16,933 $112,682
Fair value of Plan assets . ... ... o i i i i i e e e e e e $  — § 87017

The following tables set forth the components of net pension and postretirement benefit cost that have been recognized
during the three years ended December 31:

Pension Postretirement

A 2006 2005 2004 2006 2005 2004
Components of Net Periodic Benefit Cost :
SEIVICE COBL . ittt e e $ 7409 5 6973 $ 6861 § 640 3 613 § 607
IMEreSt COSt .. v ittt e i i s 13,988 13,173 12,202 2,470 2,157 1,950
Expected returnon planassets ........................ (16,562) (14,298) (13,095 — — —
Amortization of prior servicecost.............. ... ... 1,497 1,421 1,504 777 283 283
Amortizationof logses . ............... L 5,659 4,791 3,141 1,310 1,040 745
Amortization of transitionasset .............. ... ..... —_ — ) — — —
Net periodic benefit COSt ... .. ... .uuerureeenennennnnns $11991 $12,060 $ 10,611 $5197 $4,093 $3,585
Additional Information
Pension
) 2006 2005 2004
(Decrease)/increase in minimum liability included in accumulated ]
other comprehensive income/(loss), netoftax .............. $(13,339) $(16,323) § 217

The estimated pre-tax et loss and prior service cost for the defined benefit pension plans that will be amortized from
AQCI into net periodic benefit cost in 2007 are $4.0 million and $1.5 million, respectively. The estimated pre-tax net loss and
prior service cost for the defined benefit postretirement plans that will be amortized from AOCI into net periedic bcneﬁt cost in
2007 are $1.3 million and $0.8 million, respectively.

The following table sets forth the principal assumptions inherent in the determination of benefit obligations and net
periodic benefit cost of the pension and postretirement benefit plans as of December 31:

Penston Postretirement
2006 2005 2006 2005

Assumptions used to determine benefit obligations at December 31:

DASCOUNME TAIE . . ettt e et e s et e e ae ettt ae e 6.00% 5.75% 6.00% 5.75%

Rate of compensation inCrease .......... ... ciiiiniiiiinenneinr i, 4.50% 4.50% — —
Assumptions used to determine net periodic benefit cost for years ended December 31:

BTt s 1T L o | (= PP 575% 6.00% 575% 6.00%

‘Expected long-term retumonplanassets ........... ... i i i 8.50% 8.50% — —

Rate of cOmMpensation iNCTease . .. .. ... i ittt e intaairanaeeaeenn 450% 4.50% —_ . =

At December 31, 2006, the plans’ discount rate increased from 5.75 percent to 6.0 percent, which closely approximates
interest rates on high quality, long-term obligations. Effective January 1, 2007, the expected return on plan assets remained at
8.5 percent which is based on historical long-term rates of return on broad equity and bond indices and consideration of the
actual annualized rate of return since the Company’s spin-off from I'TT in 1994. The Company’s external consultants utilize this
information in developing assumpnons for returns, risks and correlation of asset classes which is then used to establish the asset
allocation ranges.
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20. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS (Continued)

i
! |
The following table sets forth the assumed health care cost trend rates at December 31:

! r : ! ! Postretirement

| . ‘ 2006 2005

. | =
Health care cost trend rate assumed fOr neXt Year. ... ... .t iire i ciiiae e 9.00% 9.00%
Rate to which the cost trend rate is assumed to decline (ultimate trend rate) . ... ... fri 475% 4.75%

Year that the rate reaches the ultimate trendrate ... ... ... ... ... ... ciiia.. L e e 2012 2011

3

Assumed health care cost trend rates have a significant effect on the amounts reported for the postretirement benefit plans.

The followmg table shows the effect of a one percentage point change in assumed health care cost trends:

. 1 Percent
Effect on: . ' Increase Decrease
Total pf service and interest COSt COMPONEIIS . . . ... .\ tuun it trrarr s s e esenrasannrsennns $ 84 $(73)
Accumulated postretirement benefit obligation .............. ... ..o e e e e $977 $(857

i
|
|
1 : !
' I
]
1
i

Inves;tment of Plan Assets

i
categcl)ry are as follows:

i
i
{
{ , ! Percentage of Plan Assets A;Il‘:crg:i:m
Asset Category | 2606 2005 Range
Domestic Equity SECUrIties ............... oo oiiiiaiii e Lo 39.1%  399%  40-45%
International Equity Securities ..............ooitiiii : ........ 27.3%  27.3%  20-30%
Domestic Fixed Income Securities ........... e et e e a e e 25.1% 25.0% 25-30%
Interr{ational Fixed Income Securities . . ........c.oiii ittt iiirannrnanenes . 4.6% 4.3% 4-6%
Real Bstate . . oottt ettt e m e e i i [ 3.9% _35% 2-4%

Total ‘ 100% 100%

The Rayonier Pension Fund Trust and Investment Committee and the Finance Committee of the Board of Directors oversce

the pension plans’ investment program which is designed to maximize returns and provide sufficient liquidity to

meet plan

obligations while maintaining acceptable risk levels. The investment approach e_mphasnzes diversification by allocating the
plans’ assets among asset categories and selecting investment managers whose various styles will be minimally correlative with
each other. Investments within the equity categories may include large capitalization, small capitalization and emerging market
securities, while the international fixed income portfolio may include emerging markets debt. Pension assets did not include a

direct investment in Rayonier common stock at December 31, 2006 and 2005. '
f . |

Cash Flows

Expected benefit payments in future years are as follows: i

Pension  Postretirement

! Benefits Benefits
20075 . e e . ST U SRR $11,574  § 3,294
2008 ......... S U AU D $12,358  § 3,347
2009 ... P ERUUTU P  $13274  § 3300
y20] 1) JO Y SR $14,238  $ 3424
20114 ... ..... U B $15,118  $ 3,525

! $17,762

L) 1 ) 1 T G T $90,301

a | | i
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20. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS (Centinued) ‘

Defined Contribution Plans - . . .

The Company also provides defined contribution plans to all of its hourly and salaried employees. Company contributions
charged to expense for these plans were $2.6 million, $2.5 million, and $2.5 million in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.
Rayonier Hourly and Salaried Defined Contribution Plans include Rayonier common stock w1th a fair markct value of $73 2
million and $77.7 million at December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

The Company closed enrollment in its pension and postretirement medical plans .to salaried employees hired after
December 31, 2005, These salaried employees are immediately eligible to participate in the Company’s 401(k) plan and receive
an enhanced contribution. Company contributions charged to expense in 2006 related to this enhancement totaled $0.1 million.

21. QUARTERLY RESULTS FOR 2006 and 2005 (UNAUDITED)

(Thousands of dollars, except per share amounts) Quarter Ended Total
March 31 June 30 Sep. 30 Dec. 31 - Year
2006
131 1=t $277,153  $312,122 $312,029 $328,503 $1,229,807
Operating Income . .......... ... ... .. ... .. 37,299 58,745(1) 65,748 67,804(2) 229,596
NetIncome ......... .. i uiuiiei i ain s 23,304 42,778(1) 55,036 55,300(2) 176,418
BasicEPS ...... e PP R S 0.31 0.56 “0.71 0.72 2.30
Diluted EPS . ... .. e 0.30 0.55 0.70 0.71 2.26
2005* .
Sales ........... DA $274,972 $290,287 $299,537 $315912 351,180,708
Operating Income .. .......oiuieir e aen- 47,308 48,902 50,955 72,995(6) 220,160
NetIncome ...... ..., 34,459(3) 16,876(4) 75,018(5) 56,436(6) 182,839
Basic EPS ... .. e 0.46 0.22 0.99 075 2.42
Diluted EPS ......... e e 0.45 0.22 0.96 073 - 2.36

*  First quarter 2005 sales and operating income have been restated to exclude the MDF chscommued operation.

{1) Second quarter 2006 included a $7.8 million pre-tax ($6.5 million after-tax) gain from the sale of a portion of the
New Zealand JV.

(2) Fourth quarter 2006 included a $4.9 million pre-tax gain ($3.1 million after-tax gain) from a property tax settlement and a
tax benefit for prior years’ IRS audit settlement and adjustment to deferred taxes of $5.1 million. . .

(3) First quarter 2005 included a tax benefit for prior years’ IRS audit settlement of $9.5 million.

(4) Second quarter 2005 included tax benefit for prior years’ IRS audit settlement of $7.2 million and a loss on discontinued
operations of $24.7 million.

(5) Third quarter 2005 incleded a tax benefit of $25.8 million associated with the repatriation of foreign earnings; tax benefits
and adjustment of accrued interest expense/income of $8.2 million resulting from IRS audit settlements; and a favorable
non-operating income adjustment of $5.2 million resulting from an arbitration award.

(6} Fourth quarter 2005 included a $37.0 million pre-tax ($30.5 million after-tax) gain on the sale of New Zealand timberlands
to the JV.

22. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
Northwest U.S. Wood Products Trading Operations

In February 2007, the Company decided to close its wood products trading business, International Wood Products (TWP),
headquartered in Portland, Oregon. IWP is part of the Company’s Other segment operations. Management expects the closure to

be completed in the second quarter of 2007, which will not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s results of
operations, financial condition or cash flows.

Dividend Declaranon

On February 27, 2007, the Company announced a first quarter dividend of 47 cents per share payable March 30, 2007 to
shareholders of record on March 9, 2007.
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RAYONIER INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
SCHEDULE II — VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

. Years Ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004 -
1 (In Thousands) : t
[ ' o Balan:ce at  Charged to
i . Beginning of  Cost and Balance at
Description . ) » Year Expenses  Deductions (1} End of Year
Year ended December 31, 2006 . !
Allowance for doubtful accounts .................... P $1,i58 $ (604 $ 6 $ 560
Maintenance acCrUAL . . .. .o v v vttt j— 17,127 (17,127 —
Ol L $1,158  $16,523  $(17,121)  $ 560
Year'élndéd December 31,2005 - ) S | _ : . .
Allowance for doubtful accounts ........... e $1,2|?l' $ 298 ° § (411) $1,158
Maintenance accrual .. ... ... . e —_ 10,608 (10,608) —
CoTotal L. e e $1,271 $10,906 $(11,019) $1,158
Year ended December 31, 2004 I[
Allowance for doubtful accounts . ..........ooviiv e $2,225 $ 57 $ (1,011) $1,271
Maintenance ACCTUAL .ottt 1,526 17,275 (18,801) —_
V) PP $3.751  $17,332°  $(19,812)  $1,271
n Primarily-gollcctions. payments and adjusiments to.required reserves. i
' ‘ : ;
I |
: 1
]
i
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|
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Pursuant to the reqmrements of Sectlon 13 of the Secunnes Exchange Act of ]934 the registrant has duly caused this
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Senior Vice President and Chief Accoummg Oﬁ‘icer S

February 27,2007 ., B
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2 /s/ W. L. NUTTER . Chairman of the Board, President, Chief February 27, 2007
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Carl E. Kraus : : E
(Principal Financial Officer)
/s/ HANS E. VANDEN NOORT Senior Vice President and Chief Accounting: ™' ' February 27,2007
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* Director
C. David Brown, II

* Director
Ronald M. Gross

* Director

James H. Hance, Jr.

* Director
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* Director
Paul G. Kirk, Jr.

* Director

Thomas I. Morgan

* ‘Director
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* Director
Carl S. Sloane

* Director
Lee M. Thomas
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Ronald Townsend

*By: {s/ HANS E. VANDEN NOORT Febrary 27, 2007

Hans E. Vanden Noort
Attormey-In-Fact
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Master Shareholder Agreement in' Relation to Matariki
Forests, dated July 15, 2005, by and among SAS Trustee
Corporation, Deutshe Asset Management (Australia)
Limited, Rayonier Canterbury LLC, Rayonier New
Zealand Limited, Cameron and Company Limited,
Matariki Forests Australia Pty Limited, Matariki
Forestry Group and Matariki Forests

Agrce‘ment for the Sale and Purchase of Assets, dated
July 15, 2005, between Rayonier New Zealand Limited,
as seller, and Matariki Forests, as purchaser

Description of Rayonier 2006 Performance Share Award
Program*

Five Year Revolving Credit Agreement among Rayonier
Inc., Rayonier TRS Holdings Inc., and Rayonier Forest
Resources, L.P. as borrowers, and thé lenders and issuing
banks from time to time parties thereto

Statements re computation of ratios - -
Subsidiaries of the registrant

Consent of lndependem Registered Public Accounting
Firm ) .

Powers of attorney

Chief Executive Officer’s Centification Pursuant to Rule
13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) and pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Co-Principal Financial Officer’s Certification Pursuant
to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14-(a) and pursuant to Section
302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Co-Principal Financial Officer’s Certification Pursuant,
to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14-(a) and pursuant to Section
302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of Periodic Financial Reports Under
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

*  Management contract or compensatory plan,

.

Location

Inco;pdratéd by reference to Exhibit 10.38 to the
Registrant's WJune 30, 2005 Form 10-Q

)

|
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.39 to the
Registrant’s _June 30, 2005 Form-10-Q.

l
!

Incorporatedl by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Registrant’s December 14, 2005 Form 8-K

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the
Registrant’s August 10, 2006 Form 8-K

Filed herewith
Filed herewith
Filed herewith

tal

Filed herewith
Filed herewith
}

Filed herewith
l

t

Filed herewith
1
Furnished herewith

|
|

:
I
'

i

.‘




EXHIBIT 12

-.. RAYONIER INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES
(Unaudited, thousands of dollars) '

For the Years Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004 003 2002
Earnings: . ’
Income from continuing operations ........................... $171,083 $207,795 $160,063 §$ 53,104 $ 53,742
Add: ' . - T -
Income tax expense (benefit) ................ PP 19055 (16,948) (33,649 6,083 15,735
Amortization of capitalized interest ....................... 2,004 1,876 2,408 2,501 2,531

192,142 192,723 128,822 - 61,688 72,008

Adjustments to earnings for fixed charges:

Interest and other financial charges ...... e P 48,905 46,961 46,718 48,738 62,383

Interest factor attributable torentals ...................... . 636 722 476 288 823

Capitalized interest ............. e 1,020 . — — — —

50,561 47,683 47.194 49,026 63,206

Eamings asadjusted ................... . PP $242,703 $240,406 $176,016 $110,714 $135214
Fixed Charges: . - :

Fixed chargesabove ................. e e $ 50,561 $ 47,683 $ 47,194 § 49,026 § 63,206

Ratto of earnings as adjusted to total fixed charges .. ............. 4.80 504 373 2.26 2.14




EXHIBIT 21

!
SUBSIDIARIES OF RAYONIER INC.

L _As of 12/31/2006

v B State/Country of ' -
Name of Subsidiary ‘ ) ‘ " Incorporation/Organization
Forcs‘t’al Rayonier Chile Ltd ' Delaware
Matariki Forests New Zealand |
Matariki Forestry Group New Zealand ’
Rayor:iier Australia Pty Ltd. South Australia i
Rayonier Canterbury, LLC Delaware .
Rayonier China Limited Delaware !
Rayonier Distribution Corp. Delaware 1
Rayonier Far East Ltd. Delaware ‘
Rayonier Foreign Sales Corporation ' U.S. Virgin Islanl‘ds
Rayor}icr Forest Management, Inc. Delaware i
Rayonier Forest Operations, LLC Delaware f
Rayonier Forest Resources, L.P. Delaware .
The Rayonier Foundation . New York
Rayonier HB Limited New Zealand
Rayonier Industries Ltd. New York '
Rayonier International Financial Services Limited New Zealand |
Rayonier International Wood Products, LLC : Delaware I
Rayonier Minerals, LLC - Delaware '
Rayonier New Zealand Limited New Zealand
Rayonier New Zealand Services Company Delaware
Rayonier NZ Management Limited New Zealand
Rayo(xier Performance Fibers, LLC : Delaware .
Rayonier Properties, LLC Delaware ;
Rayonier Texas, L.P. Texas :
Rayonier Timberlands Management, LLC Delaware :
Rayonier TRS Holdings Inc. Delaware _'
Rayonier TRS North Timber, LLC Delaware X
Rayonier TRS South Timber, LLC Delaware ;
Rayonier Wood Procurement, LLC Delaware :
Rayonier Wood Products, LLC Delaware :
RLA Trading Corporation Delaware !
Southern Wood Piedmont Company Delaware :
TerraPointe LLC Delaware '

Terra:Poinlc Services Inc. © Delaware '




EXHIBIT 23

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statement No. 333-52857 on Form S-3, Amendment No. 1 to
Registration Statement No. 333-114858 on Form S-4, and in Registration Statement Nos. 333-129175 and 333-129176 on
Forms S-8 of our reports dated February 26, 2007, relating to the consolidated financial statements and financial statement
schedules of Rayonier Inc. and subsidiaries and management’s teport on the effectiveness of internal control over financial
reporting, appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Rayonier Inc. and subsidiaries for the year ended December 31,
2006. C

"Dbaitte t Toudde uf

Jacksonville, Florida
February 26, 2007




EXHIBIT 31.1

Y

|
1
.
1
|
|

CERTIFICATION

ILW. L Nutter, certify that:

L.
2.

e . | .
Date: iFebrua.ry 27,2007 . - ‘ ' ,
|
t

!
I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Rayomer Inc.; ‘

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact

1
. necessary to-make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were-made, not

misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

T
Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial nformatlon included in this report, falrly present in
all materia respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods

- presented in this report; :

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishihg and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and mternal control over financial reportmg {as
deﬁned in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)} for the regisirant and have . -

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused Such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material mformation relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within thoise entities, particularly during the period in

which this report is being prepared; S o
{

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting 1o
be designed under our supervision, to.provide reasonable assurance riegarding the reliability of financial reporting
.and the preparation of finanual statements for external purposes in . accordance with generally accepted

« accounting principles; S i

| ¢ Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered
: by.this report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reportlng that occurred

|
|

el during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual
|

report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control
over financial repomng and . . . . t . .

i
The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or
persons performing the equivalent functions): . . ' I ‘ :

I
a.  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial-
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the reglstrant s ability to record, process, summarize
and report financial information; and -~ - S -

I
!
|
} b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in
.. - the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting. :

!

|
|

‘/s/ W. L. NUTTER

T N W, L. Nutter
' Chairman, President and
Chief Executive O)ff icer, Rayonier Inc.




EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION

I, Hans E. Vanden Noort, certify that:

L.
2.

5.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Rayonier Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were niade, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in
all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods
presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are’ responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a.

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our-supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared; =~

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to
be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles;

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered
by this report based on such evaluation; and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred
during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual
report) that has matenially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or
persons performing the equivalent functions);

a.

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s -ability to record, process, summarize
and report financial information; and

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 27, 2007

/s HANS E. VANDEN NOORT

Hans E. Vanden Noort
Senior Vice President and .
Chief Accounting Officer, Rayonier Inc.




, ; EXHIBIT 31.3

CERTIFICATION

I, Carl E. Kraus, certify that: ~ " : ' ’ '

L.
2.

i
Date:I February 27, 2007

‘rmsleadmg with respect to the period covered by this report; =~ .

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Rayonier Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this repon does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary 10 make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not

'

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial informa;tion included in this report, fairly present in
all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods
presented in this report; ;
The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishi'ng and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as
deﬁned in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
: designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
| consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in

which this report is being prepared; \

!
b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused suéh internal |c:'ontrol over financial reporting to
be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regardmg the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles; |

J

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our

' conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered
by this report based on such evaluation; and ,

J

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal cohtrol over financial reporting that occurred
\ during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual
report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting; and '

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on ou.ir most recent evaluation of internal control
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit commmee of the registrant’s board of directors (or
persons performing the equivalent functions): i

a.  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize
| and report financial information; and ;

' b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or olher employees who have a significant role in
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

4
]
4
]

fs/ CarL E. KRAUS,

Carl E. Kraus ,

Senior Vice President, Finance, Rayonier Inc.
i

1
i
1]




EXHIBIT 32

CERTIFICATION

The undersigned hereby certify, pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, that

to our knowledge:

1. The Arnual Report on Form 10-K of Rayonier Inc. (the “Company”) for the period ended December 31, 2006 (the
“Report”) fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d} of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2. The information in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations

of the Company.

February 27, 2007

fs/f W, L. NUTTER S, /s HANS E. VANDEN NOORT -fs/ CARL E. KRAUS

W. L. Nutter Hans E. Vanden Noort =~~~ Carl E. Kraus

Chairman, President and Senior Vice President and Senior Vice President, Finance
Chief Executive Officer

Chief Accounting Officer -

| A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been
‘ ’ provided to Rayonier and will be retained by Rayonler and furnished to the
Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.
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